

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Estimating the relative importance of predator-prey interactions in the provision of marine ecosystem services

Grant, Gavin

Award date: 2022

Awarding institution: Queen's University Belfast

Link to publication

Terms of use

All those accessing thesis content in Queen's University Belfast Research Portal are subject to the following terms and conditions of use

- Copyright is subject to the Copyright, Designs and Patent Act 1988, or as modified by any successor legislation
 Copyright and moral rights for thesis content are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners
 A copy of a thesis may be downloaded for personal non-commercial research/study without the need for permission or charge
- Distribution or reproduction of thesis content in any format is not permitted without the permission of the copyright holder
 When citing this work, full bibliographic details should be supplied, including the author, title, awarding institution and date of thesis

Take down policy

A thesis can be removed from the Research Portal if there has been a breach of copyright, or a similarly robust reason. If you believe this document breaches copyright, or there is sufficient cause to take down, please contact us, citing details. Email: openaccess@qub.ac.uk

Supplementary materials

Where possible, we endeavour to provide supplementary materials to theses. This may include video, audio and other types of files. We endeavour to capture all content and upload as part of the Pure record for each thesis. Note, it may not be possible in all instances to convert analogue formats to usable digital formats for some supplementary materials. We exercise best efforts on our behalf and, in such instances, encourage the individual to consult the physical thesis for further information.

Estimating the relative importance of predator-prey interactions in the provision of marine ecosystem services

by

Gavin Grant (BSc, MSc)



This thesis is submitted to the School of Biological Sciences at Queen's University, Belfast, for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology on the date of 29th March 2022

Acknowledgements

There have been a great number of people and organisations who have assisted in the realisation of this work. I would first like to thank my QUB supervisors, past and present. Specifically, Dr Patrick Collins for his understanding and patience during what has been one of the most difficult feats I've ever attempted and for guiding me all the way to the end. Dr Domhnall Jennings for agreeing to join my supervisory team and providing useful insight and invaluable perspective on my research. Prof. Mark Emmerson for his support and advice during the early stages of my PhD when I was still finding my feet., Their expertise and guidance proved invaluable to my research.

I would like to thank my funding body DAERA for providing the technical and financial assistance required to make this thesis possible, and I would particularly like to thank Karen Patterson for her ongoing support of her genuine care for the outcome of this research.

I would also like to thank the Agri-Food and Biosciences Institute for support and the provision of data, in particular, my co-supervisors Dr Mathieu Lundy and Dr Carrie McMinn, and researchers Dr Annika Clements and Dr Pia Schuchert for their help and support throughout the planning and logistics stages of research which unfortunately could not go ahead due to COVID-19 restrictions.

I would like to thank Prof. Jamie Dick, Dr Louise Kregting and Dr Julia Sigwart for their advice and support throughout my time at the QUB Marine Laboratory in Portaferry, as well as Emma Healey and Simon Exley for their technical support and advice, and Bernie Curran for her clerical support, but also her warm welcome and cathartic conversations.

Exploris Aquarium, Portaferry, was vital to the success of my work, providing specimens and logistic support, for which I am very grateful. In particular, I recognise the assistance of Matt Bolland, Portia Sampson and Peter Williams.

The fisherman Frank Rogers was also instrumental to the success of my work, providing logistic support and specimens I would otherwise have been unable to obtain, and I recognise his work and thank him greatly.

I would like to thank all the students, lecturers, researchers, and friends who assisted in my work or provided help, guidance, and friendship when it was needed most. This includes all

the researchers and lecturers how provided advice or assistance, as well as the students I interacted with or supervised, at both the QUB Marine Lab and at the Biological Sciences buildings. In no particular order, this includes, but is not limited to: Dr James Dickey, Dr Mánus Cunningham, Rose Griffith, Jack Johnson, Dr Neil Coughlan, Hannah Williams, Gina Vong, Monica McCard, Nathan Gerard, Ray Wander Yates, Jonny McDowell, Tori Cairnduff, Dr Nick Horne, Connie Ellice Jayne Baker-Horne, Dr Elin Thomas, Dr Kate Crane, Dr Patrick Joyce, Bri Beaulieu, Dr Abby Gilson, Dr Ciara McGlade, Dr Macarena Diaz, Dr Paul Mayo, Dr Justin Judge, Dr Amy Garbett, Dr Liz Ashton, Dr Lawrence Eagling, Dr Natasha Philips, Dr Ross Cuthbert, Dr Pal Schmitt, Dr Lilian Lieber, Dr Gareth Arnott, Dr Karen Mooney, Dr Clíodhna Surgenor, Dr lain Maguire, Fergal Glynn, Rosslyn Watret, Dr Paul Caplatt, Dr Tancredi Caruso, and Dr Daryl Birkett. While this list is long, it is not exhaustive and I think it is important to highlight the fact that, at least for me, it really took a village to get to this point.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank all my family and friends at home who have been endlessly patient and supportive, I wouldn't have made it this far without them.

Contents

Chapter 1 - General Introduction	6
1.1. Background	7
1.2. Study site and local relevance	16
Chapter 2 - Trophic Redundancies, Predator Identity and Fear Induced Mesopredator Sup	pression
by Transient Keystone Predators	18
Impact statement	19
2.1. Abstract	20
2.2. Introduction	21
2.2.1. Transient Keystone Species	21
2.2.2. Fear of predation and non-consumptive effects	22
2.2.3. Mesopredator release and bivalve molluscs	23
2.2.4. Trophic redundancy, guilds and marine elasmobranchs	24
2.2.6. Aims and objectives	25
2.2.7. Hypotheses	25
2.3. Methods	27
2.3.1. Species chosen	27
2.3.2. Animal Collection and husbandry	27
2.3.3. Setup	29
2.3.4. Statistical Analyses	31
2.4. Results	
2.4.1. Spat consumption GLMs	
2.4.2. Reef dismantling Kruskal-Wallis	
2.5. Discussion	
2.5.1. Transient keystone predators, trophic redundancies, and ecosystem resilience	44
2.5.2. Non-consumptive interactions and cascading effects	46
2.5.3. Reef dismantling and consumption of mature mussels	
Chapter 3 - Are Brachyuran Mesopredators with Overlapping Ecological Niches Suppresse	d
Homogeneously by Predation Risk?	50
Impact Statement	51
3.1. Abstract	52
3.2. Introduction	53
3.2.1. Predation risk and variation in anti-predator response within trophic guilds	53
3.2.2. Aims and objectives	54
3.2.3. Hypotheses	55
3.3. Methods	

3.3.1. Species Chosen	56
3.3.2. Animal collection and husbandry	57
3.3.3. Setup	58
3.3.4. Statistical analyses	61
3.4. Results	65
3.4.1. L. depurator vs C. maenas	65
3.4.2. N.puber vs C. maenas	68
3.4.3. L. depurator vs N. puber	71
3.5. Discussion	74
3.5.1. Implications – Biodiversity, community structure and ecosystem functioning	74
3.5.2. Implications - Mesopredator suppression and cascading benefits	75
3.5.3. Implications – Modelling ecosystem interactions and between-guild predation	76
Chapter 4 - Fear Released Species and the Trophic and Non-trophic Factors Affecting Feeding	
Success Between Conspecifics	77
Statement of collaboration	78
4.1. Abstract	79
4.2. Introduction	80
4.2.1. Intraspecific competition and trophic vs non-trophic factors	80
4.2.2. Fear release, invasive species and species chosen	80
4.2.3. Functional responses and methods chosen	82
4.2.4. Aims and objectives	84
4.2.5. Hypotheses	85
4.3. Methods	86
4.3.1. Experimental Design	86
4.3.2. Animal Husbandry and Size Selection	87
4.3.3. Setup	88
4.3.4. Statistical analysis	89
4.4. Results	93
4.4.1. Functional responses and proportional spat consumption	93
4.4.2. Non-Trophic Interaction Scores (ISNTs)	93
4.5. Discussion	98
4.5.1. Proportional prey consumption and functional responses	98
4.5.2. Non-trophic interaction scores (ISNTs) and antagonistic interactions	99
4.5.3. Ecological consequences	101
Chapter 5 - Friend or foe: Variation in fear response in the crab Carcinus maenas via infrared cardiac sensing	103

Impact Statement	104
5.1. Abstract	105
5.2. Introduction	106
5.2.1. Cardiac Activity and the Cost of Predator-Induced Stress	106
5.2.2. Non-Consumptive Effects of Predator-Induced Stress in Aquatic Systems	107
5.2.3. Photoplethysmography, Stress Mitigation and Methodology Chosen	107
5.2.4. Brachyuran Cardiac Structure and Brachyuran Species Chosen	109
5.2.5. Chemical Cues and Elasmobranch and Control Species Chosen	110
5.2.6. Aims and Objectives	112
5.2.7. Hypotheses	112
5.3. Methods	115
5.3.1. Experimental design	115
5.3.2. Experimental setup	115
5.3.3. Cue collection	117
5.3.4. PowerLab Recording	118
5.3.5. Statistical Analyses	119
5.4. Results	127
5.4.1. Voltage changes between treatment groups and cardiac phases	127
5.4.2. Heartbeat rate changes between treatment groups and cardiac phases	127
5.4.3. Shock phase duration	128
5.4.4. Frequency of reaction to cues	128
5.5. Discussion	136
5.5.1. Animal physiology and observed cardiac activity	136
5.5.2. The cost/benefit trade-offs of observed cardiac activity	137
5.5.3. Elasmobranch electromagnetic sense and crab cardiac activity	138
5.5.4. Mesopredator suppression and ecological implications	139
Chapter 6 General Discussion	140
6.1. Marine Ecosystem Service Provision by Predator-Prey Interactions	141
6.2. Ecological Management, Conservation Policy and Strangford Lough	144

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1.1. Background

Global defaunation and the persecution of predators has led to the 'trophic downgrading' of the biosphere, whereby the reduction in higher-order predators has led to an ecological shift favouring species occupying lower trophic levels (Estes et al., 2011; Dirzo et al., 2014). Historically, removal of higher order predators and megafauna has been more widespread and severe in terrestrial and freshwater systems (McCauley et al., 2015). This has resulted in more homogenisation in terrestrial systems, simplifying food webs, and while marine systems are now experiencing similar pressures (Carr et al., 2003; Madin et al., 2016), they have remained relatively more heterogenous in their predation regimes (Worm et al., 2003; Costa, 2009; Heupel et al. 2014). For example, the UK and Ireland historically supported populations of multiple terrestrial quaternary consumers (apex predators), all of which are now extinct, including multiple species of bear (Ball and Owen, 1847; Leonard et al., 2013), grey wolves (Hickey, 2000, 2003), cave lions and cave hyenas (Yalden, 1999). As such, contemporary UK and Irish terrestrial apex predation is limited to tertiary consumers, which are also relatively few in number, comprised predominately of 11 mammal species (Harris et al., 1995) and ~30 bird-of-prey species (Brown, 1976; Ketley, 2021). These predators feed on secondary consumers such as smaller mammals, smaller birds, amphibians and reptiles, of which there are less than 1000 species in the UK and Ireland (Harris et al., 1995; Inns, 2011; McInerny et al., 2018).

In contrast, UK and Irish waters still host marine quaternary consumers, such as orca (*Orca orcinus*), (Evans, 1988) and thresher sharks (*Alopias vulpinus*), (Smith et al., 2008), as well as many tertiary consumer species. For example, there are over 50 chondrichthyan species in the UK (Ellis *et al.*, 2005), the majority of which are tertiary consumers, reaching trophic levels

greater than four (Cortés, 1999; Ebert and Bizzarro, 2007), as well as multiple tertiary predators within the Osteichthyes (CEFAS, 2007), Cephalopoda, Pinnipedia and Cetacea (Howson and Picton, 1997).

Degraded terrestrial systems in the developed world generally now host few quaternary and tertiary consumers (Estes et al., 2011; Rao, 2018; Smith et al., 2018), whilst marine systems can host relatively diverse guilds of tertiary consumers, as evidenced by resource partitioning and sympatry across marine predator taxa, including, but not limited to, cetaceans (Bearzi, 2005; Friedlaender et al., 2009), pinnipeds (Saporiti et al., 2016), osteichthyans (Ross, 1986; Crow et al., 2010; Bowen et al., 2013), cephalopods (Valls et al., 2017), brachyurans (Hines, 1982; Griffin et al., 2008; Takeda, 2010) and elasmobranchs (Platell et al., 1998; Navarro-González et al., 2012; Tilley et al., 2013). This resource partitioning facilitates maintenance of trophic overlap, (i.e. the shared use of food resources, among marine predator guilds) (e.g. Vaudo and Heithaus, 2011; Yick et al., 2011; Shaw, 2013; Varghese et al., 2014). By their nature, these guilds contain redundant species, as they contain species that overlap geographically and trophically. While species within these guilds may show some redundancy in their resource and space usage, they are still different species with variations in their behaviour and biology. Thus, the removal of one or more redundant species can still degrade a system and reduce its overall resilience and multiple redundant species can buffer ecosystems (Biggs et al., 2020). However, the effects of trophic overlap, resource partitioning and redundancy on predator-prey interactions are under-studied, with few empirical studies directly investigating functionally redundant predators (Chalcraft and Resetarits, 2003; Biggs et al., 2020;), especially in marine systems (Guillemot et al., 2011).

Animals exist in environments consisting of a patchwork of constantly fluctuating perceived predation risk, best summarised as 'Landscapes of Fear' (Laundré *et al.*, 2010). Within these landscapes of fear, animals encounter varying levels of habitat availability and complexity, resource availability and predation risk (Brown and Kotler, 2004; Hughes and Grabowski, 2006; McArthur *et al.*, 2014; Miller *et al.*, 2014; Schmidt and Kuijper, 2015; Gaynor *et al.*, 2019). These components are driving factors of the 'ecological context' in which animals behave, influencing important behaviours such as foraging and anti-predator responses (e.g. Fu *et al.*, 2015). Landscapes of fear act as the underlying ecological topography in which predator-prey interactions occur and form 'peaks and valleys' of predation risk as described by Laundré *et al.* (2010). As such, fear can be considered an environmental variable, similar to temperature or rainfall, effecting the composition of ecological communities (Laundré *et al.*, 2010; Matassa and Trussel, 2011; Fraker and Luttbeg, 2012; Nifong and Silliman, 2013; Zanette and Clinchy, 2017). See Figure 1.1 for a visualisation of a landscape of fear.



Figure 1.1. Theoretical 3D Surface graph visualising the spatial variation in predation risk encountered by animals in the wild (i.e. a landscape of fear). Image created by thesis author. The spatial fluctuations in predation risk can be caused by changes in factors such as predator presence and density, shelter availability/habitat complexity, conspecific presence and density, and conspecific vigilance.

Trophic downgrading in terrestrial systems has led to the degradation of these landscapes of fear. For example, the extirpation of large predators from Yellowstone National park caused the large herbivore species such as elk and bison to be released from the fear of predation, and the subsequent reintroduction of wolves re-established a functioning landscape of fear (Laundré *et al.*, 2001). The reintroduction of wolves caused a trophic cascade, whereby herbaceous plant species benefitted from a decrease in herbivory due to changes in herbivore behaviour and abundance and coyote mesopredators altered their behaviour to avoid wolves in open areas (Miller *et al.*, 2012). Similar cascades have been observed in marine systems. For example, sharks have been shown to have cascading effects which alter fish size and

community structure on reefs (Barley *et al.,* 2017) and they have been linked to fear-release (Frid *et al.,* 2008).

Cascades can be classified as 'transient' or 'intransient', as described in Barrios-O'Neill et al. (2017), which introduced the 'Transient Keystone Concept'. As Barrios-O'Neill et al. (2017) discussed, intransient keystone cascades are those which require the ongoing pressure of a keystone predator to sustain the cascade, while transient keystone cascades occur when the recovery of a basal species reaches a point at which it can facilitate its own ongoing recovery, reducing reliance on the keystone predator. For example, even in instances where mature forests are re-established, a lack of predators can cause herbivores such as elk and deer to continue to hinder tree recruitment (Waller et al., 1997), showing the intransient nature of wolf-elk cascades, and identifying wolves as intransient keystone predators. In contrast, Barrios-O'Neill et al. (2017) showed that a cascade caused by an elasmobranch predator, the skate species Raja microocellata, was transient, as the benefits of predator presence on mussel recruit survival diminished in the presence of a reef structure. This identified R. *microocellata* as a transient keystone predator in this context. Identifying whether marine predator species act as transient or intransient keystone predators can aid future ecosystem management efforts as intransient cascades are more vulnerable to predator extirpation, while transient cascades are, by their nature, more resilient once the basal species has recovered. Misunderstanding whether a cascade is either transient, or intransient, can thus be problematic for the development of effective management plans. For example, an intransient keystone predator would require stronger measures and a likely indefinite management period to ensure ecosystem health, compared to a transient keystone predator, which once it had been managed to a certain threshold of recovery, would cause a cascade that would maintain ecosystem health with considerably less management required. As such,

incorrectly determining or completely failing to determine the transience of a keystone predator could lead to a total failure in management efforts, wasting time and resources.

Keystone predators suppress mesopredators to the benefit of multiple other species (Letnic and Dworjanyn, 2011; Brassine and Parker, 2012; Gordon et al., 2015;) . For example, alligators supress crab mesopredators, preventing the degradation of basal species such as mussels (Nifong and Silliman, 2013) and dingoes suppress mesopredators in arid environments, to the benefit of small rodents (Letnic et al., 2009). This is an important regulatory function that keystone predators provide, influencing mesopredator abundance, distribution and population dynamics (Berger and Conner, 2008; Letnic et al., 2011; Newsome et al., 2017). In contrast, when keystone predators are extirpated from a system, the subsequent release of their prey from the fear of predation is known as 'mesopredator release', a phenomenon that has been observed globally (Prugh et al., 2009; Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Estes et al., 2011). As such, identifying predators that can suppress mesopredators has the potential to enhance management efforts, as mesopredator suppression by higher predators can prove more cost effective and efficient than human control, as Prugh et al. (2009) discussed in their review of mesopredator research. Recently, there have been significant breakthroughs in research investigating predator control of herbivorous species however, key scientific question still remain with regards to predator control of mesopredators as identified in an extensive review and synthesis by Ritchie and Johnson (2009).

While instances of mesopredator release have been identified in multiple terrestrial systems (e.g. Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Brook *et al.*, 2012; Hollings *et al.*, 2014; Gordon *et al.*, 2017; Krofel *et al.*, 2017; Jachowski *et al.*, 2020;), marine studies are uncommon and rarely use

direct lab-based experiments to investigate mesopredator suppression by higher predators. For example, mesopredators have been suggested as a major contributors to mussel declines in Scandanavia, but the evidence is broad-scale and equivocal (Christie *et al.*, 2020) and other previous marine research has relied on simulated predator-prey models limited to a small number of species interactions (e.g. Frid *et al.*, 2008).

When accounting for the effects of mesopredators on basal species, insights from invasion ecology can be of great use, as in some instances invasive species and those released from the fear of predation bear similarities. For example, while the phenomenon is not ubiquitous, there are instances where invasive species can benefit from predator naïveté and/or a lack of natural predators, leading to a reduction in predation pressure (Colautti *et al.*, 2004; Sih *et al.*, 2010). Thus, methods from invasive research are used to investigate the impacts of invasive species, such as functional response analyses.

Animals produce both behavioural (Cooper, 2000; Altendorf *et al.*, 2001; Kelley and Magurran, 2003; Lehtiniemi, 2005) and physiological responses (Gabrielsen and Smith, 1995; Slos and Stoks, 2008; Clinchy *et al.*, 2013) to fear. Some animals can display ambiguous behaviour during predator-prey interaction, highlighting the efficacy of physiological research. For example, multiple species display behavioural freezing known as 'tonic immobility' as an anti-predator response (O'Brien and Dunlap, 1975; Gallup, 1977; Erhard *et al.*, 1999; Edelaar *et al.*, 2012). To an observer, it would appear as though an animal engaged in tonic immobility is either doing nothing or has frozen in response to fear, preventing overstimulation and loss of energy. However, it can be difficult to empirically assess energy loss and stimulation unless behavioural data is combined with physiological data. For example, an investigation into the cardiac activity of rabbits during periods of tonic immobility

showed that rabbits display bradycardia (slowing of the heart rate) and arrythmia (inconsistent heart beats) during tonic immobility (Giannico *et al.*, 2014).

Cardiac responses such as these have associated costs, as cardiac activity is intrinsically linked to metabolism, stress and health in animals (Galosy *et al.*, 1979; Sgoifo *et al.*, 1999; von Borell *et al.*, 2007). Thus, cardiac response to predator-induced stress is of great value to ecological research. As Clinchy *et al.*, (2013) highlighted, there are few empirical studies documenting physiological stress in the context of predation risk. Additionally, cardiac studies using marine crustacean species are limited and tend to use invasive techniques (e.g. Bierbower and Cooper 2009; Burnovicz *et al.* 2009; Forgan *et al.* 2014; Hourdez 2018), which have the potential to skew results as the stress caused by the invasive procedures could cause pain or discomfort. There is a growing body of evidence that crustaceans can feel pain and experience anxiety states and prolonged discomfort (Elwood, 2019a, 2019b), meaning that this should be taken into consideration in ongoing crustacean physiological research.

Predator-prey interactions can provide multiple ecosystem services, from nutrient cycling (Schmitz *et al.*, 2010; Williams *et al.*, 2018), to the structuring of communities through topdown control (Shears and Babcock, 2002; Boaden and Kingsford, 2015). Mesopredator suppression and trophic redundancy are examples of these ecosystem services. For instance, mesopredator suppression by keystone predators has direct socioeconomic benefits that have been identified in terrestrial and marine systems, enhancing fisheries and reducing agricultural losses (Baker *et al.*, 2008; Gregr *et al.*, 2020). Understanding the effects of functional redundancy and/or functional diversity is important as functional redundancy can bolster ecosystem resilience and stability. Ecosystem stability is the capacity for an ecosystem to resist change in the first place, while ecosystem resilience is the ability of ecosystems to

recover from change. Redundancy can bolster resilience and stability by providing 'backup species' (Lawton and Brown, 1994; Rosenfeld, 2002; Chalcraft and Resetarits, 2003; Jaksic, 2003; Ulanowicz, 2018; Biggs *et al.*, 2020). This redundancy can buffer ecosystems, dampening negative cascading effects (Liu *et al.*, 2016) and reducing ecosystem vulnerability to extinction cascades (Sanders *et al.*, 2018).

1.2. Study site and local relevance

The experiments presented in this thesis were carried out in the locality of Strangford Lough, which became Northern Ireland's first Marine Conservation Zone in 2013 (Audit Office, 2015). Strangford Lough is a semi-closed marine basin that historically hosted extensive biogenic horse mussel (Modiolus modiolus) reefs, which were found to be severely degraded in the 1990s due to trawling and dredging activity (Audit Office, 2015). Simultaneously, Strangford Lough experienced the extirpation of a top predator, the flapper skate (Dipturus intermedia), a keystone species (Barrios-O'Neill et al., 2017). Biological surveys after these disturbances found an increase in the abundance and prevalence of mobile scavengers and mesopredators and a decrease in slow-moving and sessile basal species (Strain et al., 2012). This evidence suggests that Strangford Lough has undergone a regime shift, caused by the degradation of basal species and the removal of keystone predator species. This is a phenomenon observed across other systems (Heck and Valentine, 2007; Kramer and Heck, 2007; Smith, Hunter and Smith, 2010, Conversi et al. 2015). As such, this thesis investigated the ecosystem service provision of native elasmobranch predators to better understand how such species may be used to mitigate the effects of such a regime shift. To accomplish this, the research presented here focused on mesopredator suppression caused by predator-induce stress (fear).

Chapters 2 and 3 aimed to investigate the effects of predator and prey identity, as well as habitat complexity on mesopredator suppression. From a Marine Protected Area management perspective, this was important as understanding how different species respond to the same stimulus can help to identify whether a particular management measure will be effective across multiple species, and how habitat complexity can mediate these effects.

Subsequently, Chapter 4 was designed to utilise techniques from invasive species research to investigate the effects of spatial availability and conspecific presence on mesopredator feeding. The aim of this research was to enhance the understanding of the role which conspecifics play in the feeding success of decapod crustacean mesopredators. Combining the findings of Chapter 4 with those of Chapters 2 and 3 can enhance the understanding of how brachyuran mesopredators use space, react to conspecifics, and respond to predators while feeding.

Finally, Chapter 5 used cardiac recording techniques to explore the underlying physiological response of brachyuran mesopredators to predator cues. This study tested for differences in how individuals reacted physiologically to predators and non-predators. This research, combined with that of Chapters 2-4, aimed to provide a holistic understanding of the interactions between brachyuran mesopredators and elasmobranch predators. In relation to Strangford Lough, where an increase in such mesopredators has been observed, this research could be used to inform future management strategies, though it is limited in its prescriptive power.

Chapter 2

Trophic Redundancies, Predator Identity and Fear Induced Mesopredator Suppression by Transient Keystone Predators

Impact statement

This chapter was impacted by delays due to several issues outside of my control, including the COVID-19 pandemic, which led to the inability to secure species I initially wanted to investigate, such as the crab specialist predator, the starry smooth-hound *Mustelus asterias*. This would have allowed for further determination of trophic redundancy vs trophic diversity effects by comparing a highly specialist elasmobranch predator to more generalist species. However, this was not possible.

Additionally, another thesis chapter, complimentary to this one, was planned, which would have consisted of a catch-tag-release and recapture population survey of crustacean mesopredators in Strangford Lough, comparing areas inside and outside of a fisheries notake zone within a Marine Conservation Zone. COVID-19 restrictions prevented the data collection for this planned chapter from taking place, meaning the entire chapter was lost. Some supplementary data had already been analysed for this lost chapter, involving density calculations for mesopredators observed in video trawls collected by the Agri-Food and Biosciences Institute (AFBI), see Chapter 3 impact statement for how this data informed other work.

2.1. Abstract

Predators alter the behaviour of their prey species non-consumptively through fear of predation. Here, lab-based behavioural experiments incorporating two different benthic elasmobranchs (Scyliorhinus stellaris and Raja clavata) show that they can suppress the feeding of a brachyuran crustacean (Carcinus maenas) on post-juvenile mussel spat (Mytilus edulis). C. maneas is a well-known mesopredator and mussel consumer and understanding methods for suppressing its feeding can provide insight into how to reduce or reverse the negative cascading effects of mesopredator release within degraded systems. My results showed that, while crab feeding was reduced in the presence of both elasmobranch species, there was no significant difference between the two predator treatments. This is evidence of potential trophic redundancy, which can enhance ecosystem resilience. Furthermore, when mature mussel reef was present, crab mussel consumption was reduced and reef presence mitigated the effects of predator presence, which is evidence of transient keystone predator effects. When predators were present, they also decreased the instance of reef dismantling by the crabs. No crabs were consumed at any point during the experiments, making all effects non-consumptive. These results highlight the importance of both top-down and bottom-up effects in combination to maintain reef integrity and enhance spat survival, as well as the importance of non-consumptive predator-prey interactions. This is evidence that the preservation of a healthy and diverse predator population can aid in retaining the top-down pressure and trophic redundancy biodiversity and ecosystem stability and potentially facilitate the growth and renewal of biogenic reefs.

2.2. Introduction

2.2.1. Transient Keystone Species

Predators can play pivotal roles as keystone species, enhancing biodiversity, reducing disease, providing ecosystem stability and a number of other key ecosystem functions (Stier *et al.*, 2016). Recent research has shown that 'transient, ecosystem-mediated keystone effects' have been overlooked and play an important role in predation ecology (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). The keystone species concept asserts that there are species that define an ecosystem and, if extirpated, the ecosystem would be dramatically altered, or even collapse over time. This concept was initially developed by Robert Paine (Paine, 1969), then caveated in later years (Paine, 1995) to highlight the need to consider multi-species approaches to keystone species management. Consequently, the keystone species concept has shaped ecological research, influencing how species interactions and their relative importance are currently framed and understood (Mills and Doak, 1993; Lawton and Brown, 1994; Davic, 2003). It has proved to be a useful tool for describing and defining the role of predators within their ecosystems.

The effects of predators can be context-dependent (Haswell *et al.*, 2017), with keystone effects being mitigated by another factor/species, a phenomenon that has been described as the 'transient keystone concept' (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). As described in Barrios-O-Neill *et al.* (2017), a transient keystone predator displays a keystone effect, (e.g. mesopredator suppression to the benefit of a basal prey species), until another factor, such as habitat availability, takes primacy in the interaction. The increased habitat availability increases shelter for the mesopredator and the basal prey species, mitigating the effects of the

keystone predator, thus making the predator effects transient. Essentially, transient keystone predators and basal species form an important keystone-basal feedback loop that regulates predator-prey interactions and provides the context in which they occur (Chamberlain *et al.*, 2014; Haswell *et al.*, 2017). This feedback loop combines top-down (predator mediated) pressure from predation on the mesopredator and bottom-up (basal mediated) pressure from the basal species increasing shelter for the mesopredator. The combination of top-down and bottom-up pressures then structure ecological communities by altering species abundance, distribution and behaviour (Seitz and Lipcius, 2001; Burkholder *et al.*, 2013; Lynam *et al.*, 2017; Welti *et al.*, 2020). Consequently, many predators that would not traditionally be considered keystone species could be considered transient keystone species under the right ecological conditions.

2.2.2. Fear of predation and non-consumptive effects

Consumptive effects are those that occur when a predator feeds directly on a prey animal, and non-consumptive effects are effects that reduce prey fitness without prey fatality caused by consumption (Hoki *et al.*, 2014). As such, predators can influence prey abundance and behaviour, either through direct predation or through the fear of predation, via either consumptive or non-consumptive effects, or a combination of both (Matassa and Trussel, 2011; Haswell *et al.*, 2017). Non-consumptive effects can be so powerful that the fear of predators alone is enough to alter prey behaviour and cause cascading effects through trophic levels (Trussell *et al.*, 2006a; Suraci *et al.*, 2016;). Fear alters prey behaviour and risk assessment over time (McArthur *et al.*, 2014; Guariento *et al.*, 2018) and can directly reduce prey growth and overall fitness (Preisser *et al.*, 2005; Schmidt and Kuijper, 2015), making non-consumptive effects such as fear important ecological drivers.

Recent studies have highlighted the importance of taking into account non-consumptive effects when studying predator-prey interactions, as they can have the same, if not greater impacts than consumptive effects (Hoki *et al.*, 2014; Ingerslew and Finke, 2018). Accounting for non-consumptive effects when studying predator-prey interactions can provide greater ecological insight than addressing consumptive effects alone, enhancing the explanatory power of studies that record non-consumptive effects. For example, Atuo and O'Connell (2017) found that a combination of direct losses by predation mortality (consumptive) and resource avoidance due to perceived predation risk (non-consumptive) from Red-tailed Hawk (*Buteo jamaicensis*) and Northern Harrier (*Circus cyaneus*) drove reductions in Northern Bobwhite (*Colinus virginianus*) quail bird productivity.

2.2.3. Mesopredator release and bivalve molluscs

Mesopredator release occurs when predators are extirpated from an ecosystem, or their populations are severely reduced, and their prey are released from the fear of predation (Frid *et al.*, 2008; Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Krofel *et al.*, 2017). This fear release can lead to negative cascading effects, as the increased abundance of mesopredators caused by release can impact prey species. As such, understanding how predators can suppress mesopredators to the benefit of prey species can provide insight into enhancing biodiversity and ecosystem stability. For example, the presence of alligators has been shown to enhance mussel and snail survivability in salt marshes by suppressing blue crab mesopredators (Nifong and Silliman, 2013). Increased survivability of these two animals was shown to enhance the 'potential for both grazing and mutualism to occur in this food chain', improving ecosystem functioning.

Bivalve molluscs are ecosystem engineer species, forming biogenic reefs (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009). Thus, habitat complexity and availability can be reduced by mesopredator release, as

seen in crustacean-bivalve interactions, whereby crabs feed upon juvenile oysters (Hill and Weissburg, 2013; Kulp and Peterson, 2016) and mussels (Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003; Capelle *et al.*, 2016), degrading biogenic habitats. Thus, the ecosystem service provided by predators in the form of mesopredator suppression can be of utility in instances of bivalve degradation where mesopredator populations expand rapidly and without mitigation (i.e. in instances of mesopredator release).

2.2.4. Trophic redundancy, guilds and marine elasmobranchs

Trophic redundancy occurs when two or more species with distinct life histories have overlapping dietary niches (e.g. Matich *et al.*, 2017; Machado *et al.*, 2020). Trophic redundancy can lead to shared resource use and niche partitioning by animals (Varghese *et al.*, 2014; Naman *et al.*, 2019), leading to researchers grouping multiple species into 'trophic guilds'. A trophic guild is any number of species that use the same resource, or exploit a range of resources in a similar way (Simberloff and Dayan, 1991). Trophic redundancy, and by extension, trophic guilds, can reduce vulnerability to extinction cascades (Sanders *et al.*, 2018), enhance biodiversity and thus, ecosystem reliability (Naeem and Li, 1997) and stability (Ulanowicz, 2018). Thus, when investigating the effects of multiple predators, determining trophic redundancy vs trophic diversity can be crucial to predicting the effect of a predator on its community (Chalcraft and Resetarits, 2003).

Terrestrial systems have historically experienced greater levels of defaunation and anthropogenic pressure than aquatic systems (McCauley *et al.*, 2015), leading to the homogenisation and simplification of terrestrial predator regimes while aquatic systems have retained higher predator diversity (Cox and Lima, 2006). As such, marine systems display high levels of redundancy and guild formation, particularly among elasmobranch species (Navarro-

González *et al.*, 2012; Varghese *et al.*, 2014; Navia *et al.*, 2017). The redundancy and guild formation displayed by elasmobranchs can lead to them occupying multiple roles within an ecological community throughout their life history (Hussey *et al.*, 2015; Kiszka *et al.*, 2015; Roff *et al.*, 2016). They achieve this through mechanisms such as trophic plasticity, and switching prey and habitat use based on ecological context (Drymon *et al.*, 2012; Kiszka *et al.*, 2015). This makes elasmobranchs appropriate models when investigating the effects of predator-prey interactions and redundancies.

2.2.6. Aims and objectives

This study quantified the variation in crab feeding in response to the presence of two biologically distinct, but functionally similar, elasmobranch predators, and to evaluate the effects of biogenic reef presence on these predator-prey interactions. The objective was to record the number of post-juvenile *M. edulis* spat consumed by *C. maenas* crabs when elasmobranch predators and reef were present/absent. Elasmobranch and reef free controls were included. The number of spat consumed within three hours was the metric for these experiments.

2.2.7. Hypotheses

It was hypothesised that crab consumption would be altered by both predator presence and reef presence. It was predicted that crab consumption would be significantly lower in treatments containing predators and/or reef compared to the controls, based on previous findings from Barrios O'Neill *et al.* (2017). It was also predicted there would be no significant difference between the two elasmobranch species treatments, this prediction was based on the trophic overlap observed between the *Scyliorhinidae* and *Rajidae* (Compagno, 1984;

Snowden, 2008). It was further hypothesised that predator presence would impact reef dismantling by the crab, with the frequency of reef dismantling decreasing when a predator was present, this was based on dismantling behaviour observed in pilot studies and a search of the scientific literature did not produce any studies that recorded this behaviour.

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Species chosen

Here, the elasmobranch species *Raja clavata* and *Scyliorhinus stellaris* were chosen to investigate potential transient keystone effects and trophic redundancies. While related, *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* have distinct life histories, with one being a member of the *Rajidae* (skates) and the other being a member of the *Scyliorhinidae* (catsharks). However, they display overlaps in both diet and distribution (Compagno, 1984; Snowden, 2008). Furthermore, according to diet studies, *R. clavata* occupies a trophic level of 3.8 ± 0.2 (Palomare and Sa-a, 2008) and *S. stellaris* occupies a trophic level of 4.0 ± 0.3 (Sa-a *et al.*, 2008). This made it likely that these two elasmobranchs displayed some level of trophic redundancy, but as Chalcraft and Resetarits (2003) highlighted, redundancy should be investigated and not assumed. While there were variations in their dietary preferences, both of the elasmobranch species chosen are known to feed on brachyuran crustaceans (Šantić *et al.*, 2012; Caut *et al.*, 2013), common mesopredators, and thus, were likely to cause fear in a brahcyuran mesopredator.

The readily available native brachyuran crab *Carcinus maenas* was chosen as the mesopredator for my experiments. Despite its prolific use in scientific studies, as evidenced by an extensive review conducted by Leignel *et al.* (2014), a thorough search of the scientific literature did not yield a study that provided a definitive trophic level range for *C. maenas*. However, *C. maenas* is an opportunistic scavenger and generalist predator (Young and Elliott, 2020), mesopredator and secondary consumer, likely occupying trophic levels between 2 and 3. Thus, it was an apporopriate mesopredator model for my study.

C. maenas is also a voracious predator of mussels, preferring them over more robust bivalves such as oysters (Capelle *et al.*, 2016; Campbell *et al.*, 2019) and specifically targeting smaller, juvenile mussles (Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003). Thus, the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* was chosen as my basal prey species. *M. edulis* mussel beds are associated with many epifuanal species (Saier, 2002) and increased habitat availability/complexity (Norling and Kautsky, 2007). This made *M. edulis* an appropriate basal species for investigating the effects of mesopredator suppression on basal species.

2.3.2. Animal Collection and husbandry

Captive reared *Raja clavata* (N = 3) and *Scyliorhinus stellaris* (N = 3) were obtained from Exploris Aquarium, Portaferry, Northern Ireland. *R. clavata* individuals were within the size range 60-80cm long and *S. stellaris* individuals were within the size range 100-120cm long. The standardised elasmobranchs sizes reflected crabs' capacity to assess predator body size (Hill and Weissburg, 2014). Each elasmobranch individual was used for eight randomly allocated replicates.

Elasmobranchs were maintained individually in outdoor flow-through tanks (2.2m x 1.2m x 1m) with mesh lids, supplied with sand-filtered seawater. Following the guidelines from the Elasmobranch Husbandry Manual II (Smith *et al.*, 2017), tanks were enriched with sand, rocks and seaweed to reduce stress. *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* were fed *ad libitum* with Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*), using a mixture of feeding techniques, both allowing food to fall to the bottom of the tank for foraging enrichment and feeding via pole feeders to ensure consumption. Excess food was removed from the tanks if not eaten within 24 hours. Elasmobranchs were not fed 24 hours prior to experiments to mitigate the impact of olfactory cues from their food. Elasmobranchs were given respite days to ensure regular feeding and

to reduce stress. Individuals were kept for two weeks and then returned to Exploris and replaced with fresh individuals, this occurred a total of three times over the course of sixweeks. Tank water temperature was the same as Strangford Lough, N.I. (54.3909° N, - 5.57232° W), ~13°C, +/- 1°C, which was the source of the sand-filtered seawater.

Adult male *Carcinus maenas* (*N* = 216, carapace width range 65-75mm) were collected along the shoreline of Strangford Lough. Crabs were sampled within a narrow size range of carapace width due to the role that size plays on predator feeding rates (Schröder *et al.*, 2016). Measuring carapace width is a widely used and robust method of sizing decapod crustaceans (e.g. Mascaró and Seed, 2001; Naczk *et al.*, 2004; Todd *et al.*, 2006; Haig *et al.*, 2016; Öndes *et al.*, 2017). The crabs were maintained in three communal glass flow-through tanks (1.2m x 0.4m x 0.4m), at a density of 30 crabs per tank. These tanks were supplied with sand-filtered seawater. Crabs were fed *ad libitum* with Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*). Crabs were used once, and 90 fresh crabs were used every two weeks. Crabs were starved for 48 hours prior to experiments to increase hunger and reduce individual variation.

Mytilus edulis were collected near Horse Island, Kircubbin, N.I. (54.4677 N, -5.5403 W). *M edulis* were separated into adults (*N* = 600, shell length 60-70mm) and spat (7-17mm). Measuring shell length is a common and robust method for sizing bivalves (e.g. Belz *et al.*, 2010; Fitzer *et al.*, 2014; Jin *et al.*, 2012; Melzner *et al.*, 2011; Okaniwa *et al.*, 2010). *M. edulis* adults were maintained in an opaque plastic tank (80cm x 60cm x 40cm) and spat were maintained in simple plastic buckets. Tanks and buckets were supplied with sand-filtered (non-UV) seawater for the duration of the experiments.

2.3.3. Setup

The experimental design employed a tri-trophic chain with an elasmobranch (*R. clavata* or *S. stellaris*) as the top predator, crabs (*C. maenas*) as the mesopredator and mussel spat (*M. edulis*) as a basal prey species (Figure 2.1). A blank (no elasmboranch) was also used as a predator treatment control. The reef presence treatment was binary: reef present and reef absent. Each elasmobranch was used eight times for consistency and to limit the time spent at the lab i.e. to reduce unnecessary stress. One full replicate (all six treatments) was run per session (day), n = 12. Three *C. maenas* were used per experiment to account for variability in crab response. Though it is understood that a disadvantage of using multiple individuals is the potential for intraspecific interactions to occur, the likelihood of *Carcinus maenas* feeding on mussels in a solitary manner in the wild is low, and the benefits of using multiple crabs were considered to outweigh the disadvantages of individuals not feeding and skewing results. The experimental design is presented in detail in Figure 2.2.

Experimental arenas were opaque circular tanks (2.2m diameter and 0.7m depth) with a constant flow of sand-filtered seawater (see Figure 2.3). It is well understood that mussels increase byssal thread production in response to predation (Reimer and Tedengren, 1997; Brown *et al.*, 2011) in order to enhance structural refugia and reduce predation risk. However, there is evidence that byssal production alone cannot protect mussels from crab predation (Capelle *et al.*, 2016). To assess the protective effects of a mature reef structure as well as the tactile interactions between mussels and crab predators, a complex reef made of live *M. edulis* was used in my experiments. This allowed us to account for an indirect effect that cannot be assessed when using immovable false reefs; the active degradation of prey refugia by mesopredators. 'Reefs' were composed of live adult mussels (*n* = 100) which were allowed

to clump for 16 hours in a fixed area within the experimental arena prior to experiment start. This was achieved using a plastic pipe (internal diameter ~35cm) open at both ends. For consistency, it was ensured that no adult mussels were attached via byssal threads to any other individual before being placed into the pipe. Any individuals that were adhered to the pipe once it was removed at the start of the experiment were carefully detached.

Spat (*n* = 50) were then applied to the reef within the tube one hour prior to the start of the experiments. Any byssal threads attached to the tube at the start of the experiments were carefully detached , as with the adult mussels. The spat density was derived from the known maximum consumed by adult *C. maenas* in previous studies (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017; Joyce *et al.*, 2019). For reef-free treatments, spat were also placed in a tube one hour prior to the commencing of the experiments, but with no reef structure. Tubes were consistently placed in the same approximate location within the arenas for all treatments, Figure 2.4 illustrates the positioning of the different components of the experiments.

A single *R. clavata* or *S. stellaris* individual was introduced immediately after the addition of the spat. After the one-hour spat clumping period, the pipe was removed and the crabs were added, signalling the start of the experiments. For consistency, the same technique was used each time to ensure the detaching of byssal threads from the interior of the pipe. This involved the gentle rotation of the pipe clockwise and then anticlockwise, followed by visual inspection (and gentle removal of any further attached individuals by repetition of this motion) before the pipe was lifted straight up and clear of the reef, as to mitigate disruption of the reef structure itself. A one-hour clumping period was chosen as it was not a prohibitively long period, but still allowed for byssal thread attachment, an obstacle crabs would face in the wild. Crabs (n = 3) were placed directly adjacent to the reef/spat for every treatment. three

crabs were used to mitigate the impact of individual variation and they were placed adjacent to the reef to ensure consistency. Crabs and elasmobranchs were free moving with no restrictions. Each replicate lasted three hours, with the removal of the crabs signalling the end. The reef was then removed and both adult and surviving spat mussels were enumerated. In instances were adult mussels had been predated by crabs, (i.e. shells had been crushed and pulled apart), these samples were accounted for in the analysis of spat consumption. Significant dismantling of the reef by crabs was defined as ≥ 10 adult individuals (i.e. 10% of the reef) being removed from the main reef structure.

For the predator-free control treatments, the protocol was identical except for the exclusion of an elasmobranch. The reefs, spat and crabs were all set up and handled in the same way as in the *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* treatments.

2.3.4. Statistical Analyses

All analyses were performed in R 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020). Spat consumption was recorded as count data for each treatment. Spat consumption data were found to be left skewed and zero-inflated (see Figure 2.5 For residuals). A Vuong test showed that a zero-inflated Poisson model fit the data more accurately than a standard Poisson GLM, and thus, the data were analysed using a zero-inflated Poisson GLM. Predator presence and reef presence were computed as factors with interaction. Confounding factors (i.e. the day of recording, the consumption of mature mussels and reef dismantling), were also computed as standalone factors to determine their impact on crab spat consumption. Direct comparisons between the two predator treatments with and without reef present were made using zero-inflated (following Vuong test verification) Poisson GLMs. A direct comparison of spat consumption in the presence/absence of reef in predator-free controls was performed using a standard Poisson GLM, as a Vuong test showed no significant improvement of fit using a zero-inflated model. Analysis of mature mussel consumption by crabs was also performed using appropriate GLM models, as ascertained by Vuong tests. Kruksal-Wallis tests were used to compare reef dismantling between predator treatments.



Figure 2.1 Tri-trophic chain with interactions. Both the consumptive and non-consumptive effects of each part of the tri-trophic chain are highlighted via the arrows labelled in the key. *S stellaris* image credit – Joana Parente (Parente, 2018), all other images in public domain.
Experimental Design Chart

Foraging Suppression Experiment



Figure 2.2 Summary flowchart of experimental design. Experimental units, treatment allocation type, animal characteristics, measurements taken, analyses chosen and individual treatment combinations are displayed.



Figure 2.3 Experimental tanks – Image showing the opaque plastic tanks used to carry out all the behavioural experiments for this study. Yellow pipes at the back of the tanks were the seawater inflow pipes and the blue pipes at the front (facing the camera) were the outflow pipes. All tanks were on a raised concrete platform to ensure that the water level in each tank was even, as the ground in this area was sloped.





2.4. Results

2.4.1. Spat consumption GLMs

See Table 2.1 for the descriptive statistics for spat consumption across all treatment groups. Crabs consumed significantly fewer spat in the presence of both *R. clavata* ($z_{(5,77)} = -4.475$, p < 0.05) and *S. stellaris* ($z_{(5,77)} = -2.959$, p < 0.05) compared to predator-free controls. Crabs also consumed fewer spat in the presence of mature mussel reef ($z_{(5,77)} = -6.887$, p < 0.05) compared to reef-free treatments. See Figure 2.5 for data residuals and spat consumption across all treatments. In instances where crabs consumed mature mussels from the reef, spat consumption was also significantly higher ($z_{(3,35)} = 4.998$, p < 0.05), with predator treatment having no effect on mature mussel consumption (p > 0.05), see Figure 2.6. There was no significant difference in crab spat consumption between the two predator treatments (all p > 0.05), see figure 2.7. In predator-free controls, crabs consumed fewer spat in the presence of reef ($z_{(1,23)} = -7.33$, p < 0.05), see figure 2.8.

2.4.2. Reef dismantling Kruskal-Wallis

When either elasmobranch predator was present, there was no evidence of significant reef dismantling in any replicates. However, crabs dismantled the reef in 25% of the replicates in the predator-free control treatment, a difference that was statistically significant ($H_{(36)}$ = 1.459, p < 0.05).

Table 2.1 Descriptive Statistics of spat consumption data – Showing the mean, , standard

		x	SE	SD
R. clavata	Reef	1.5	0.4	1.4
	No reef	5.3	2.6	8.9
S. stellaris	Reef	2.3	0.9	3.1
	No reef	6.5	3.3	11.5
Control	Reef	5.3	1.4	4.9
	No reef	14.3	4.1	14.1

error, and standard deviation for spat consumption across all treatment groups.



Figure 2.5 Data residuals and spat consumption across all treatments – (a) Histogram displaying the distribution of data residuals across all treatments, showing left-skew and zero- inflation (b) Boxplot of the total spat consumed per experimental unit of three *C. maenas* within the three-hour long experimental runtime. Grouped by predator presence and *M. edulis* reef presence treatments. Whiskers represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles.



Figure 2.6 Boxplots of spat consumption and mature mussel consumption - (a) Boxplot illustrating spat consumption in relation to the number of mature mussels consumed per experimental unit of three crabs. (b) Boxplot illustrating the number of mature mussels consumed across predator treatments per experimental unit of three crabs. Whiskers in both plots represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. While there is a positive visual trend, no significant difference between treatments was found during analysis.



Figure 2.7 Box plots directly comparing spat consumption by C. maenas across predator treatments in the presence and absence of reefs. (a)

displays spat consumption per experimental unit of three crabs between *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* treatments when reef was absent. (b) displays spat consumption per experimental unit of three crabs between *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* treatments when reef was present.

Whiskers in both plots represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. There were no significant differences between predator treatments.



Figure 2.8 Spat consumption in the across reef treatments in predator-free controls -

Boxplot showing the number of spat consumed per experimental unit of three crabs in predator-free controls. Whiskers represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. Significantly fewer spat were consumed by crabs when reef was present in controls.

2.5. Discussion

Here, the aim was to quantify the effects of two functionally similar elasmobranch predators on crab feeding in the presence and absence of mussel reef. The results showed that in the absence of reef, crab feeding was suppressed by both elasmobranchs and that there was no significant difference in crab feeding between predator species. When reef was present, crab feeding was reduced primarily by reef presence. When reef was present, predator presence enhanced suppression compared to predator-free treatments but had no significant effect on overall mussel consumption. Furthermore, no significant reef dismantling was observed when predators were present, but reef dismantling occurred in 25% of predator-free controls. These results supported my initial hypotheses.

2.5.1. Transient keystone predators, trophic redundancies, and ecosystem resilience

Ecosystem resilience is the ability of an ecosystem to 'absorb' disturbances and maintain critical ecological functions while undergoing changes in ecological state (Sasaki *et al.*, 2015). Both *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* suppressed mesopredator feeding when reef was absent in my experiments, reducing the amplitude of the effect of the crab mesopredators on the mussel prey. Furthermore, these results suggested that reef presence dampened the effects of predator presence and took primacy in suppressing crab feeding. This was evidence that both *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* could suppress mesopredators in a context-specific manner, forming a feedback loop with reef presence, (i.e. both elasmobranchs acted as transient keystone predators), consistent with previous findings using the elasmobranch *Raja microocellata* (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). However, my findings built on the work of Barrios O'Neill *et al.* (2017) by using larger, live reef structures and comparing two different elasmobranch predator species, which allowed for the

investigation of predator species differences/similarities and potential reef dismantling behaviours performed by crabs. This is discussed in the section '**2.5.2**. *Non-consumptive interactions and cascading effects*'. Other recent examples of species not typically considered keystone predators acting as transient keystone predators include otters in North America, which can enhance the resistance of kelp forests to overgrazing by predating sea urchins (Smith *et al.*, 2021). Research has shown that this otter-kelp cascade might have been precipitated by the loss of a megaherbivore, Steller's Sea Cow (*Hydrodamalis gigas*), which had significant impacts on kelp forest structure and distribution (Estes *et al.*, 2016; Bullen *et al.*, 2021), (i.e. a significant change in ecological context).

These previous findings, alongside my own, provide a mounting body of evidence emphasising the importance of transient keystone predators. The biosphere has undergone extensive defaunation throughout human history (Dirzo *et al.*, 2014; Young *et al.*, 2016), leading to what has been described as the 'trophic downgrading of planet earth' (Estes *et al.*, 2011), as top predators and megafauna have been driven to extirpation, severe population decline and extinction across the globe. As Estes *et al.* (2011) stressed, the decline of these species has shifted the ecological context in which predator-prey interactions take places, with many apex predators and megafauna being replaced by species further down the trophic hierarchy. These shifts in trophic hierarchies can lead to a ecosystems entering 'alternative stable states' (Beisner *et al.*, 2003), whereby an ecosystem reaches stability after a perturbation, but with a different set of processes, factors and/or species (Holling, 1973) than before the perturbation.

A key factor influencing alternative stable states, as Beisner *et al.* (2003) highlighted, is resilience. Ecological resilience has been defined as the amount of change needed to shift

an ecosystem from one state to another (Angeler and Allen, 2016). Previous research has shown that trophic redundancy can bolster community stability and resilience to disruption (Biggs *et al.*, 2020), even reducing the likelihood of extinction cascades (Sanders *et al.*, 2018) within a system. As such, trophic redundancy can be an important factor for maintaining stable ecosystem states. My results are an example of trophic (functional) redundancy, as both species of elasmobranch reduced spat consumption and reef dismantling behaviours of *C. maenas* to a similar extent. Thus, the presence of a diversity of healthy populations of transient keystone predators such as *S. stellaris* and *R. clavata* could augment ecosystem resilience and stability, to the overall benefit of ecosystem health. However, my findings are not prescriptive, and more research is needed to clarify the role these species play in a wider ecosystem context.

2.5.2. Non-consumptive interactions and cascading effects

No crabs were consumed at any point during my experiments. Hence, all of the predator effects observed can be considered non-consumptive (Hoki *et al.*, 2014). My results highlight the importance of accounting for non-consumptive interactions by demonstrating that predators can cause significant cascading effects without any direct consumption occurring. Previous research supports these findings, for example, raccoons (*Procyon lotor*) alter their foraging behaviour in response to the sound of predators, without any direct interaction, enhancing survivability of the raccoon's prey via trophic cascade (Suraci *et al.*, 2016). A similar experiment to my own, the previously mentioned Barrios O'Neill *et al.* (2017) went one step further, having a predator in the presence of a mesopredator and accounting for the effect of simulated reef structures. Still, no direct predation of the

mesopredator occurred and a trophic cascade was observed, to the benefit of mussel spat survivability.

My experiment expanded upon this previous research by comparing two elasmobranch predators and including live mature reef structures to account for any reef dismantling activity. The differences between my findings and those of Barrios O'Neill et al. (2017) were nuanced. While both of the elasmobranch species used here showed transient keystone effects and the formation of a feedback loop with mussel reef presence, spat mortality was substantially different. Barrios O'Neill et al. (2017) found an increase in spat mortality in the presence of both the simulated reef and the predator, while the results presented here showed the opposite. They also found that reef had no significant effect on mussel mortality alone, while again, the experiments performed here found the opposite. A potential reason for this difference in spat mortality is the use of a larger, live, reef structure in the current study. Previous research has shown that the brachyuran crab *Callinectes sapidus* favours feeding on the edges of bivalve reef habitat, but is less likely to do so as habitat patchiness and predation pressure increase (Macreadie et al., 2012). Macredie et al. (2012) posited that the interior of a more continuous reef structure provided a refuge for the prey of the crab which patchy areas did not. This might explain why Barrios et al. (2017) found that the presence of their comparatively small patch of simulated reef (consisting of four silicone filled Modiolus mussel shells), had no significant protective effect by itself, but counterintuitively increased spat consumption when a predator was present, as no substantial interior refuge was present. The much larger and more complex reef used here, consisting of 100 adult *M. edulis* mussels, likely provided significantly more shelter for the mussel spat, accounting for these differences. These findings demonstrate the importance of considering the size and complexity of biogenic structures when attempting to quantify

the effects of predator-prey interactions, as the context of shelter availability and habitat continuity can influence the cascading effects of transient keystone predators on basal species.

2.5.3. Reef dismantling and consumption of mature mussels

The use of live mussel reefs in my experiments allowed for the quantification of important predator-mesopredator-basal interactions, in the form of reef dismantling and the consumption of mature mussels. My results showed that crabs did not dismantle any reef structures in the presence of either predator, but dismantled reefs in 25% on control treatment replicates. It is likely that the crabs were dismantling the reef structures to reach the spat that were hidden within the reef matrix, as it is known that crabs favour smaller mussel spat over adult mussels, most likely to reduce wear to their chelae (Kamermans *et al.*, 2009; Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003). A thorough examination of the scientific literature did not yield another study that experimentally recorded this dismantling behaviour, and while the threat fear-released mesopredators pose to bivalve reefs has been recognised, previous studies have focused on mussel recruit mortality and crab preferences for smaller prey (Bleile and Thieltges, 2021; Capelle *et al.*, 2016; Christie *et al.*, 2020; O'Connor *et al.*, 2013; Prado *et al.*, 2020).

As such, my experiments have quantified a crab foraging behaviour that has not yet been experimentally addressed, the impacts of which could have significant ecological consequences relating to the fragmentation of biogenic reef habitats. For example, increased reef patchiness can compound mesopredator predation on specific basal species, such as scallops (MacReadie *et al.*, 2011), altering reef community dynamics. The suppression of this dismantling behaviour by elasmobranch predators, as observed in the

current study, is an example of the vital ecosystem services provided by transient keystone predators.

Chapter 3

Are Brachyuran Mesopredators with Overlapping Ecological Niches Suppressed Homogeneously by Predation Risk?

Impact Statement

The experimental design, setup and data collection for this chapter was performed over a highly time-suppressed period due to the loss of other work due to COVID-19 restrictions. Furthermore, video trawl data provided by AFBI was analysed to determine benthic mesopredator densities for a chapter of my thesis that became untenable due to COVID-19 restrictions. That data analysis informed this chapter, as *Liocarcinus depurator* was found to be the most abundant mesopredator observed in the video trawls, thus I chose to include *L. depurator* species in my experimental design.

3.1. Abstract

Species respond heterogeneously to predation risk and this variation should be considered when investigating predator-prey interactions. Species-specific differences in anti-predator response are an understudied aspect of predator-prey interactions. Quantifying mesopredator anti-predator response effects can enhance the scientific understanding of the ecosystem services provided by predators. Brachyuran crabs are common mesopredators in marine ecosystems. Here, the presence of the elasmobranch *Raja clavata*, a known predator of brachyurans, was used to measure differences in feeding response in three crab species within a trophic guild (the common shore crab, *Carcinus maenas*, the sandy swimming crab Liocarcinus depurator and the velvet swimming crab Necora puber). All three species were observed to decrease feeding in the presence of the predator. However, *L. depurator* feeding was suppressed to a greater extent than C. maneas and N. puber. N. puber feeding was also supressed to a lesser extent than C. maenas. This evidence supports the hypothesis that brachyuran crabs within guilds can be suppressed in the same direction by the presence of a predator, but that they will exhibit distinct species-specific responses. Additionally, no crabs were consumed by R. clavata at any point, meaning these effects were entirely nonconsumptive, highlighting the importance and power of the non-consumptive effects of predator presence (i.e. fear of predation).

3.2. Introduction

3.2.1. Predation risk and variation in anti-predator response within trophic guilds

A trophic guild can be defined as a group of species that exploit the same resources in a similar manner (*sensu* Simberloff and Dayan, 1991). Guilds can be identified by behaviours such as resource partitioning (e.g. Varghese *et al.*, 2014; Rhoades *et al.*, 2018). Resource partitioning can, in turn, be influenced by predation risk (e.g. Naman *et al.*, 2019), with predators further up a trophic hierarchy heterogeneously altering the foraging behaviour and resource use of their prey (Sivy *et al.*, 2018).

A key factor in these predator-prey interactions is diversity of anti-predator response. Organisms can show diversity in anti-predator behaviour (Magurran *et al.*, 1993). For example, teleost fish do not react homogenously to the presence of a potential predator, with some species relying on refugia more often than others and some choosing to move less and switch habitat use, enhancing predator avoidance and shelter use (Hölker *et al.*, 2007; Lehtiniemi, 2005). Such changes in anti-predator response can lead to variation in resource use across multiple species (e.g. Sharma and Borgstrøm, 2008), altering community structure across (Klages et al., 2014) and within (Arribas *et al.*, 2018) guilds. As such, variation in antipredator response an important factor affecting ecosystem functioning. Thus, when investigating predator-prey interactions, variation in anti-predator should be accounted for, as it can affect prey spatial use, foraging behaviour and refugia use, all of which are key components in what is known as a 'Landscape of Fear' (Laundré *et al.*, 2010; Bleicher, 2017).

A landscape of fear can be defined as the variation in predation risk experienced by an animal while inhabiting it's environment (Laundré *et al.*, 2010), including fluctuations in features such

as habitat availability/complexity and predator presence/abundance. A previous review of landscape of fear research stressed that prey perception of predation risk should be considered the defining measure of a landscape of fear (Gaynor *et al.*, 2019). Prey perception and the cost of prey anti-predator response were integral components to the framework described in the Gaynor *et al.* (2019) review, and this informed the current study.

Another example of landscape of fear research by Bleicher (2017), emphasised the need for research to consider 'convergent species from similar environments', as it is less studied than other factors influencing the landscapes of fear experienced by animals. There are examples of terrestrial birds (Fernández-Juricic *et al.*, 2004), freshwater teleosts (Voellmy *et al.*, 2014) and amphibians (Arribas *et al.*, 2018) displaying substantial variation in anti-predator response within guilds, but marine examples in the scientific literature are currently lacking. Previous studies have also discussed this gap in scientific knowledge, such as Frid *et al.* (2012), which identified that the differences and/or similarities between sympatric species in their boldness or aversion to predation risk when acquiring resources is less well studied than other aspects of predator-prey interactions, especially in the marine environment. Thus, quantifying the variation in anti-predator response between members of a marine mesopredator guild was the purpose of the current study.

3.2.2. Aims and objectives

The study aimed to quantify the variation in feeding across three members of a brachyuran trophic guild in response to predation risk. The objective was to record the number of *M. edulis* spat (post-juvenile) consumed by *L. depurator*, *N. puber* and *C. maenas* when the elasmobranch predator *R. clavata* was present and absent. The number of spat consumed within three hours was used as the metric for these experiments. This allowed for the

quantification of variation in feeding suppression effects by *R. clavata* between the crab species.

3.2.3. Hypotheses

It was hypothesised that predator presence would decrease the feeding rate across the trophic guild, but that crab intensity of anti-predator response (reduction in feeding) would vary between species. This hypothesis was based on findings from previous research that showed that different brachyuran crab species display nuances in their feeding behaviour (ap Rheinallt, 1986; Sponaugle and Lawton, 1990; Lee and Seed, 1992) and in their aggressive/defensive behaviour (Silva *et al.*, 2010; AFBI, 2015).

3.3. Methods

3.3.1. Species Chosen

The representatives of a mesopredator trophic guild for the current study were the brachyuran crabs *Carcinus maenas, Liocarcinus depurator* and *Necora puber*. These species inhabit trophic levels ranging from 2.6 to 3.5 (Ansell *et al.*, 1999; Careddu *et al.*, 2017; Freire and Gonzalez Gurriaran, 1995; Schaal *et al.*, 2010). These species were identified as being members of a trophic guild as they have overlapping distributions (Amaral *et al.*, 2009; Hill, 2008; Wilson, 2008) and display resource portioning in shared habitats (Griffin *et al.*, 2008). *C. maenas* is predominately intertidal, while the other two species are predominately subtidal There are also morphological differences between the species, such as *N. puber* having more robust chelipeds than that of *L. depurator* (Freire *et al.*, 1996) to accommodate the more intermediate prey it prefers to feed on. *L. depurator* also grows to a smaller maximum carapace width of ~50mm (Hill, 2008), compared to the maximum carapace width of ~50mm (Hill, 2008). These nuances in biology suggest, that while these species are members of a trophic guild, it should not be assumed that they will respond homogenously to predators.

All of the crab species used in this chapter of the thesis were known to feed upon mussels (ap Rheinallt, 1986; Calderwood *et al.*, 2015; Capelle *et al.*, 2016; Freire and Gonzalez Gurriaran, 1995; Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003). *C. maenas* in particular heavily predate mussels and favour smaller individuals (Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003). Mussel spat were chosen for the current study, over other prey shared by the crab species chosen, because mussels can act as ecosystem engineers by forming biogenic reef structures,

increasing habitat complexity (Commito and Rusignuolo, 2000). This provides ecosystem services in the form of habitat enhancement and shelter for ecologically and commercially important species (Kent *et al.*, 2016; Kristensen *et al.*, 2015). As such, determining the heterogeneity of indirect benefits for bivalves caused by the suppression of brachyuran mesopredators has implications for ecosystem resilience and recovery research. The blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*, is a biogenic reef forming mussel that can be found in subtidal and intertidal habitats (Saier, 2002) that the 3 crab species also inhabit. Furthermore, *M. edulis* is known to enhance habitat complexity and biodiversity (Norling and Kautsky, 2007) to the benefit of many associated species. This made *M. edulis* an appropriate prey species for the current study.

The skate species *Raja clavata* was chosen as the predator species for the tri-trophic chain used here. *R. clavata* was chosen as its diet includes up to ~50% brachyura (Barría *et al.*, 2015), making it a crab predator, and it inhabits a trophic level of 3.8 ± 0.2 (Palomare and Sa-a, 2008), greater than that of the crabs chosen, thus making it an appropriate model predator for the current study.

3.3.2. Animal collection and husbandry

Experimental stock of *R. clavata* (n = 4, length = 70-80cm) were obtained from the local Exploris aquarium in Portaferry, Northern Ireland. Stocks of healthy male *Carcinus maenas* (n = 40, carapace width 50-60mm; n = 40, carapace width 70-80mm), *Liocarcinus depurator* (n = 40, carapace width 50-60mm) and *Necora puber* (n = 40, carapace width 70-80mm) were collected in the locality of Strangford Lough, Northern Ireland. Local pot fishermen were employed in the collection of *L. depurator* and *N. puber*, while *C. maenas* were collected by hand and via baited pots placed on the shore. *Mytilus edulis* spat (n = 1200) were collected in

the locality of Strangford Lough and sorted into size classes, 10-15mm shell length was used for the experiments.

R. clavata were maintained individually in 2.2m x 1.3m x 1m flow-through, sand-filtered seawater tanks at the QUB Marine Laboratory, Portaferry, Northern Ireland, prior to experiments. All skate were fed *ad libitum* on Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*). Any food not consumed by skate within 24 hours was removed to maintain water quality. Based on guidelines from the Elasmobranch Husbandry Manual II (Smith *et al.*, 2017), skate tanks were enriched with sand, rocks and seaweed to reduce stress. Furthermore, *R. clavata* were fed via a combination of techniques, both allowing food to fall to the bottom of the tank for foraging enrichment and via 'litter picker' style pole feeders to guarantee consumption.

The 3 crab species were maintained separately in flow-through tanks (80cm x 60cm x 40cm) at a density of 40 crabs per tank on mesocosm tables at the QUB Marine Laboratory. All crabs were fed *ad libitum* on Atlantic herring and any food not consumed within 24 hours was removed to maintain water quality. Crabs were placed into another tank and starved for 48 hours before experiments to enhance hunger. *M. edulis* spat were maintained in buckets with flow-through, sand-filtered, seawater on mesocosm tables with no additional feeding.

3.3.3. Setup

Experiments were designed as tri-trophic chains (see Figure 3.1 for illustration of the tritrophic chains), consisting of a predator (*R. clavata*), a mesopredator (the three crab species) and prey (*M. edulis* spat). Multiple comparisons were made from these tri-trophic chain experiments. The first compared the spat consumption of size-matched (50-60mm) *L. depurator* and *C. maenas* in the presence and absence of *R. clavata*. The second compared

the spat consumption of size matched (70-80mm) *N. puber* and *C. maenas* in the presence and absence of *R. clavata*. The third compared the spat consumption of the two *C. maenas* size classes (to determine effects of size class) and the last compared *L. depurator* and *N. puber*.

The experiments consisted of eight treatments: *L. depurator/N. puber* with and without skate present and 2 size classes of *C. maenas* with and without skate present. A total of 20 replicates per treatment were run, for 160 total observations. See Figure 3.2 for a summary of this experimental design. Previous research (Barrios-O'Neill et al., 2017) found that spat survivability in crab-free controls was 100% and that skate did not consume mussel spat during experiments. This evidence was supported by dietary analyses of *R. clavata* (Morato et al., 2003; Šantić et al., 2012). As such, predator-free controls were deemed redundant for this study.

Crabs were sampled within narrow size ranges by measuring carapace width to mitigate the effects of size variation, as consumer size affects feeding rates (Schröder et al., 2016) and can alter antipredator response. Measuring the carapace width of crabs was a robust method of sizing decapod crustaceans (e.g. Mascaró and Seed, 2001; Naczk et al., 2004; Todd et al., 2006; Haig et al., 2016; Öndes et al., 2017). *M. edulis* spat were sampled within narrow shell length size ranges, a common method for sizing bivalves (e.g. Belz et al., 2010; Okaniwa et al., 2010; Melzner et al., 2011; Jin et al., 2012; Fitzer et al., 2014). *R. clavata* individuals were also sampled within a tight size range, as there is evidence that crabs have the ability to assess predator body size (Hill and Weissburg, 2014).

Each *R. clavata* was deployed in experiments 20 times, each crab was used only once, and *M. edulis* spat were replaced as they were consumed. For all treatments, a single crab and 40 *M.*

edulis spat were used. The spat density was derived from the known maximum consumed by adult *C. maenas* in previous studies (Barrios-O'Neill et al., 2017; Joyce et al., 2019). In particular, Barrios-O'Neill *et al.* (2017) had a similar setup to the current study, using a *Rajidae* predator and *C. maenas*, making it useful for deriving an accurate maximum consumption rate for the crabs used in the current study. All experiments took place at the QUB Marine Laboratory in Portaferry, N.I., in three circular opaque plastic arenas (2.2m diameter and 0.7m depth), with a constant flow of sand-filtered seawater (as in Chapter 2 of this thesis).

Trials lasted 3 hours and were carried out during daylight (8am – 6pm). While *C. maenas* are known to display circatidal rhythms of behaviour (Hunter and Naylor, 1993; Lynch and Rochete, 2007), there is evidence that such behaviours are controlled by specific environmental cues, focused around salinity, temperature and pressure (Warman and Naylor, 1995). As such, my experimental setup attempted to use almost identical conditions for each experimental arena, to mitigate the potential effects of cricatidal rhythms.

Skate were placed in the experimental arenas first, followed immediately by 40 spat and then the crabs. The addition of the crabs marked the beginning of the 3-hour experimental period. Mussel spat were placed in the same approximate location in each arena and crabs were placed directly beside the spat (see Figure 3.3 for illustration of experimental setup). Both skate and crabs were free moving with no restrictions and there were no shelters provided. At the end of the 3-hour period, crabs were removed immediately to halt consumption and stop the experiment. The surviving spat were then counted. The experimental arenas were drained regularly and brushed to aid in visually identifying spat when collecting at the end of each experiment and to prevent the build-up of shell debris.

3.3.4. Statistical analyses

Spat consumption was recorded as count data for all treatments. All analyses were performed using the R 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020). Data were independent and as such, comparisons were made between multiple treatment combinations: *C. maenas* x *L. depurator; C. maenas* x *N. puber*. Count data were examined and found to follow a Poisson distribution, with left skew, due to zero-inflation, in all cases. Vuong tests confirmed that zero-inflated Poisson models fit the data more accurately than Poisson GLMs and thus, zero-inflated Poisson models were chosen to analyse the data in all cases. The confounding factor of day of recording was also computed.



Figure 3.1 Tri-trophic chain with interactions. Both the consumptive and non-consumptive effects of the tri-trophic chain are highlighted via the arrows labelled in the key. All images in public domain.

Experimental Design Chart



Figure 3.2 Summary flowchart of experimental design. Experimental units, treatment allocation type, animal characteristics, measurements

taken, analyses chosen, and individual treatment combinations are displayed.



Figure 3.3 Experimental tank setup (not to scale). Spat were placed near the centre righthand side of the tank for all trials. Filtered seawater entered from the back of the tank via hose and exited at the front via an overflow pipe. Crabs were placed close to the spat at the beginning of the 3 hour experimental period.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. L. depurator vs C. maenas

Zero-Inflated Poisson GLM

See Table 3.1 for a summary of descriptive statistics and see Figure 3.4 for data residuals, showing left-skew and zero-inflation of the data. The zero-inflated Poisson analysis showed that both crab species consumed less spat in the presence of *R. clavata* ($z_{(3,79)} = -8.048$, p < 0.05), and that *L. depurator* crabs consumed significantly fewer spat than *C. maenas* crabs ($z_{(3,79)} = -3.730$, p < 0.05). Predator presence decreased *L. depurator* spat consumption to a greater extent than *C. maenas* ($z_{(3,79)} = 3.369$, p < 0.05). See Figure 3.5 for illustration of spat consumption across all treatments. No crabs were consumed by *R. clavata* during any experiment. Day of recording had no significant effect on spat consumption (p > 0.05).

 Table 3.1 Descriptive statistics of spat consumption data. Showing the mean, standard error,

 and standard deviation for spat consumption across treatment groups.

		x	SE	SD
C. maenas	No predator	13.5	2.6	11.6
	Predator	2.6	0.8	3.4
L. depurator	No predator	8.3	2.6	11.8
	Predator	3.3	1.5	6.9



Figure 3.4 Histogram of residuals for spat consumption data for *L. depurator* vs *C. maenas*-showing left-skew and zero-inflation.



Figure 3.5 Spat consumption across all treatment combinations. Whiskers represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. Crab species are displayed on the x-axis, predator treatments are indicated by shading (see legend) and the number of spat consumed within the three-hour experimental runtime is displayed on the y-axis. Central horizontal lines represent medians.

3.4.2. N.puber vs C. maenas

Zero-Inflated Poisson GLM

See Table 3.2 for a summary of descriptive statistics and see Figure 3.6 for data residuals. The zero-inflated Poisson analysis showed that spat consumption by both species was significantly lower when *R. clavata* was present ($z_{(3,79)} = -7.218$, p < 0.05). *N. puber* crabs consumed significantly more spat than *C. maenas* ($z_{(3,79)} = 3.903$, p < 0.05). See Figure 3.7 for illustration of spat consumption across all treatments. Predator presence decreased *N. puber* spat consumption to a lesser extent than *C. maenas* ($z_{(3,79)} = 2.409$, p < 0.05). No crabs were consumed by *R. clavata* during any experiment. Day of recording had no significant effect on spat consumption (p > 0.05).

 Table 3.2 Descriptive statistics of spat consumption data. Showing the mean, , standard error, and standard deviation for spat consumption across treatment groups.

		x	SE	SD
C. maenas	No predator	11.8	2.2	9.7
	Predator	2.6	0.8	3.7
N. puber	No predator	14.7	2.9	13.2
	Predator	7.8	2.3	10.4

Histogram of Necora.Residuals





showing left-skew and zero-inflation.



Figure 3.7 Spat consumption across all treatment combinations. . Whiskers represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. Crab species are indicated on the x-axis, predator treatments are indicated by colour (see legend) and the number of spat consumed within the three-hour experimental runtime is displayed on the y-axis. Central horizontal lines represent medians
3.4.3. L. depurator vs N. puber

3.4.3.1. Zero-inflated Poisson GLM

See Table 3.3 for a summary of these statistics and see Figure 3.8 for data residuals. Zeroinflated Poisson analysis showed that *N. puber* consumed more spat than *L. depurator* when *R. clavata* was present ($z_{(1,39)} = -2.285$, p < 0.05). There was no difference in significant difference in consumption between the species when *R. clavata* was absent (p > 0.05), see Figure 3.9 for illustration of these data. Day of recording had no significant effect on spat consumption (p > 0.05).

Table 3.3 Descriptive statistics of spat consumption data. Showing the mean, standard error,and standard deviation for spat consumption across treatment groups.

		x	SE	SD
N. puber	No predator	14.7	2.9	13.2
	Predator	7.8	2.3	10.4
L. depurator	No predator	8.3	2.6	11.8
	Predator	3.3	1.5	6.9



Figure 3.8 Residual data for spat consumption of N. puber and L. depurator. (a) displays data residuals of for treatments with R. clavata present,

(b) displays data residuals for treatments with *R. clavata* absent. Both distributions were left-skewed and zero-inflated.



Figure 3.9. Spat consumption across treatment combinations. Whiskers represent variability outside the upper and lower quartiles. Crab species are indicated on the x-axis, predator treatments are indicated by colour (see legend) and the number of spat consumed within the three-hour experimental runtime is displayed on the y-axis. Central horizontal lines represent medians

3.5. Discussion

This study investigated whether the presence of a potential predator would consistently suppress feeding across three members of a mesopredator trophic guild. The results showed that all three guild members had lower spat consumption in the presence of *R. clavata*, but there were nuances in their response to predator presence. Additionally, no crabs were consumed by *R. clavata* at any point, highlighting these effects as non-consumptive. These results supported the hypothesis that predator presence supresses feeding across multiple mesopredator species within a guild, but to different intensities based on species-specific anti-predator response.

3.5.1. Implications – Biodiversity, community structure and ecosystem functioning

The findings of the current study provided further evidence that there is significant behavioural aspect to community structure and functioning, mediated by predator-prey interactions and that functionally similar species may not react homogenously to predator presence. Previous research has found, that perceived predation risk can alter the structure of communities (Hua *et al.*, 2013), and this process can be mediated by behavioural responses to predation (Hammill *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, predators have been shown to suppress the 'overall amounts of primary producers consumed' while having specific effects on individual feeding rates (Catano *et al.*, 2016).

As Catano *et al.* (2016) stressed, the suppression provided by predators is important for ecosystem functioning, as predators can maintain a 'reefscape of fear', whereby changes in prey feeding patterns in response to predation risk can enhance the heterogeneity in resource distribution and exploitation. The changes in resource distribution and exploitation caused by

prey response to predation risk are important, as increased spatial resource heterogeneity can enhance the positive effects that diversity can have on ecosystem functioning (Tylianakis *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, changes in resource heterogeneity, as mediated by predators, have been identified as 'an integral part of natural ecological systems' (McIntosh *et al.*, 2004). Thus, the results presented here, in the context of this previous research, suggest that marine predators such as *R. clavata* could enhance ecosystem functioning by causing guilds of mesopredators to have similar, but nuanced, anti-predator responses that can differentially alter basal species survivability and increase resource heterogeneity.

3.5.2. Implications - Mesopredator suppression and cascading benefits

These findings are of particular relevance in instances where predators may be utilized for the provision of ecosystem services such as mesopredator suppression or the triggering of beneficial trophic cascades. The results of the current study showed that the presence of a predator suppressed the feeding of multiple species across a mesopredator guild, precipitating a trophic cascade. In turn, this improved the survivability of a basal ecosystem engineer species (*M. edulis*). *M. edulis* has be identified as an ecosystem engineer species as it is known to enhance habitat complexity and facilitate ecosystem functioning, to the benefit of a myriad of other species (Norling and Kautsky, 2007). Recent research has shown that a significant threat to *M. edulis* is predation of recruits (spat) by mesopredators such as *C. maenas*, amongst others (Christie *et al.*, 2020). One of the likely contributing factors to an increase in mesopredator predation, as identified by Christie *et al.* (2020), was the overfishing of top predators in the area, indicating a potential case of mesopredator release.

Mesopredator release refers to the releasing of mesopredators from predation pressure (Prugh et al., 2009). Mesopredator release occurs when one or more predator species is

perturbed or extirpated from an ecosystem, for example the removal of sharks from a marine ecosystem can release their prey from fear and intimidation (Frid *et al.*, 2008). In turn, the extirpation of predators typically leads to an increase in the abundance of the released mesopredator and changes in mesopredator behaviour, causing cascading effects throughout the trophic hierarchy, known as 'trophic cascades' (Myers *et al.*, 2007). In relation to the findings of the current thesis chapter, although there were variations in the intensity of mesopredator suppression observed in this study, all the mesopredator species were suppressed to the benefit of *M. edulis* spat. As such, the results presented here highlight a ecosystem service provided by elasmobranch predators such as *R. clavata*, that of mesopredator suppression across guilds, which could buffer ecosystems against the negative impacts of mesopredator release and enhance recovery efforts related to degraded biogenic reef habitats.

3.5.3. Implications – Modelling ecosystem interactions and between-guild predation

The results presented here demonstrated that different mesopredator guild members can react to a predator in the same way, in that they all reduced their feeding as a form of antipredator response, but with varying intensities. These findings contribute to a growing number of studies that suggest that ecosystem models based on 'model' organisms, or oversimplified, single-species experiments should be viewed with great caution, as the effects of specific species may not be universal. For example, extensive research into multiple predator effects or 'MPEs' has shown that, for more accurate assessments of predator-prey interactions, multiple predator species should be considered (Sih *et al.*, 1998; Sokol-Hessner and Schmitz, 2002; Griffen, 2006; Van Son and Thiel, 2006; Atwood *et al.*, 2009).

Chapter 4

Fear Released Species and the Trophic and Non-trophic Factors Affecting Feeding Success Between Conspecifics

Statement of collaboration

This chapter was carried out in collaboration with another researcher, the now Dr James Dickey, who was a PhD student at the time of data collection and initial draft writing. The design, data collection and initial draft of this chapter were performed in collaboration with Dr Dickey. Other than retaining three figures, and two equations and their associated explanations from initial collaborative drafts, this text is entirely my own the work has undergone substantial changes. I recognise the valued input and assistance from Dr Dickey in the realisation of this chapter.

4.1. Abstract

Some invasive species can be considered 'fear-released' as the systems they invade are host to few, if any, natural enemies. As such, techniques commonly applied in invasive species research can provide valuable insight into the effects of fear-released species on ecosystems. Here, functional response and interaction scoring techniques were used to quantify the effects of conspecific presence, prey density and spatial availability on the feeding success of the crab Carcinus meanas on mussel spat (Mytilus edulis). Specific treatments used clay discs to mimic conspecific presence allowing the calculation of predicted functional responses and interaction scores in the absence of conspecific interactions. The treatments used were [1x crab], [2x crab], [3x crab], [1x crab + 1x disc], [1x crab + 2x discs]. These techniques allowed for quantification of the effects of conspecific interactions versus the effects of the reduction in spatial availability caused by conspecific presence. C. maenas displayed destabilising 'Type II' functional responses across all predicted and observed treatments. Proportional spat consumption was decreased by an increase in conspecific density (p < 0.05) and prey density (p < 0.05). At lower conspecific density (two crabs), feeding synergy significantly increased with increasing prey density, but there was no difference between crab treatment groups, suggesting prey density was the primary factor affecting conspecific interactions at low crab densities, making them less antagonistic. Conversely, at higher conspecific density (three crabs), there were no significant difference between prey densities, but an increase in conspecific density significantly decreased feeding synergy, making interactions more antagonistic. These results suggested that higher densities of conspecifics can affect feeding success not simply by reducing spatial availability (density mediation), but by increasing antagonistic interaction between individuals (trait mediation).

4.2. Introduction

4.2.1. Intraspecific competition and trophic vs non-trophic factors

Intraspecific competition for limited resources is a driving force for the alteration of animal behaviour and feeding strategies (Svanbäck and Bolnick, 2005; Evangelista *et al.*, 2014; Ratcliffe *et al.*, 2018). As well as affecting feeding strategies and resource availability (trophic interactions), intraspecific competition can also impact non-trophic interactions, such as spatial distribution and spatial availability. For example, intense intraspecific competition can decrease reef fish abundance in degraded coral reef habitats (Boström-einarsson *et al.*, 2013) and has been shown to alter spatial use in wolves (Rich *et al.*, 2012) and striped mice (*Rhabdomys pumilio*) (Schradin *et al.*, 2010).

Trophic factors, such as prey density, and non-trophic factors, such as habitat availability, can both shape ecological communities by altering factors including co-existence (van Veen *et al.*, 2005), habitat use and prey preference (Trussell *et al.*, 2006b). As such, quantifying the impacts of both trophic and non-trophic interactions is important for enhancing the scientific understanding of intraspecific competition and its impact on predator-prey dynamics. Disentangling the trophic and non-trophic impacts of intraspecific competition can allow for a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms driving changes predator-prey interactions.

4.2.2. Fear release, invasive species and species chosen

When an invasive species first enters a new ecosystem, they potentially have few immediate natural enemies to contend with, however, this is not always the case and even when natural enemies are present, a buffer against invasion is not guaranteed (Colautti *et al.*, 2004; Sih *et*

al., 2010). In instances where natural enemies, such as native predators, can enhance ecosystem resilience to invasion, the decline in these predator populations has been shown to exacerbate the negative impacts of invasion (Short *et al.*, 2002; Wallach *et al.*, 2010). In instances where invasive species are limited by the presence of native predators/natural enemies, they can be considered 'fear-released' in the absence or decline of these natural enemies, a phenomenon that can lead to cascading effects throughout trophic hierarchies (Frid *et al.*, 2008; Suraci *et al.*, 2016).

Changes in the feeding ecology of fear-released mesopredators can cause negative cascading effects such as habitat degradation, especially in systems with biogenic ecosystem engineer species such as mussels and oysters (Plass-Johnson *et al.*, 2010; Macreadie *et al.*, 2012; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Kulp and Peterson, 2016). The effects of fear-released species have been observed at a global scale, leading to the 'trophic downgrading of planet earth' (Estes *et al.*, 2011), to the detriment of biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and stability. Thus, improving the scientific understanding of the factors influencing mesopredator feeding is useful for informing biodiversity conservation.

Defaunation in the world's oceans (McCauley *et al.*, 2015) has led to the trophic downgrading of ecosystems (Estes *et al.*, 2011). Important marine predators such as elasmobranchs are being extirpated due to overfishing and habitat degradation (Robbins *et al.*, 2006; Ferretti *et al.*, 2010; Worm *et al.*, 2013; Pacoureau *et al.*, 2021). This removal and displacement of ocean predators has led to marine mesopredator species being released from the fear of predation, which can alter ecosystem functioning and have cascading negative effects (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Sieben *et al.*, 2011; del Mar Palacios *et al.*, 2016), though marine mesopredator release research is lacking in comparison to terrestrial research. There is

evidence that the brachyuran crab *Carcinus maenas* is undergoing fear-release within its native range, (Infantes *et al.*, 2016; Rudnicki, 2018; Christie *et al.*, 2020) and thus, *C. maenas* was chosen to represent a fear-released mesopredator species my study.

4.2.3. Functional responses and methods chosen

When investigating the effects of trophic and non-trophic interactions on the feeding ecology of fear-released species, insights from invasion science can be of great use. Of particular relevance is the recently recommended use of functional response (FR) to assess multiple predator effects (MPEs) (Wasserman *et al.*, 2016). Functional responses (FRs) are divided into three major 'types', Type I, Type II, and Type III. The type of functional response is determined by the relationship between the proportion of prey eaten and prey density and is calculated using logistic regression, examining different linear coefficients (*sensu* Wasserman *et al.*, 2016). The three major types of functional response are shown in Figure 4.1.

Type I responses are observed when consumption and prey density have a directly linear relationship. In the wild, these responses are generally limited to animals such as filter feeders (Jeschke *et al.*, 2004), for which combing suspended particulates from the water via filtering structures constitutes foraging.. This is because handling time (time spent processing the prey) must be negligible, the animal must forage at the maximum rate with maximum effort, and the animal must be able to perform foraging and non-foraging activities simultaneously. However, animals can vary in functional response ontogenically and Type I responses have been observed at specific stages of the lifecycles of animals including crabs (Long and Whitefleet-Smith, 2013).

Type II functional responses occur when an animal's capacity to consume their prey is limited by some factor (such as handling), reducing consumption rate as prey density increases,

eventually plateauing when the processing rate of prey reaches saturation. As such, when testing for functional responses, a negative linear coefficient indicates Type II (e.g. Mohaghegh *et al.*, 2001; Zimmermann *et al.*, 2015). Type II functional responses are considered ecologically 'destabilising' (e.g. Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2015) and thus, can be problematic for ecosystem functioning. Type II functional responses are considered destabilising as predators displaying Type II response will feed on prey past the point of prey population replenishment, throwing the prey population out of equilibrium and potentially causing population collapse (Oaten and Murdoch, 1975; Dick *et al.*, 2014).

Higher order predators can cause their mesopredator prey to switch from Type II to stabilizing Type III functional responses, enhancing trophic stability (Post *et al.*, 2000). Type III functional responses are similar to Type II responses, as both responses show a plateau at high prey densities, (i.e. when saturation occurs). However, Type III responses occur when an animal is initially hindered in its ability to consume prey by factors such as learning time (learning the most efficient way to handle the prey) or prey switching, then becomes more efficient at consumption over time. As such, when testing for functional responses, a positive linear coefficient indicates Type III (e.g. Fletcher *et al.*, 2010; Long and Whitefleet-Smith, 2013).



Density of prey population

Figure 4.1 The relationship between prey consumption and prey density that are indicative of the 3 major types of functional response. Source: Professor Moorcroft (2009) via Wikimedia Commons.

To determine whether the functional responses of multiple fish could be predicted by multiplying individual responses, Wasserman *et al.* (2016) used predicted, multiplied, consumption of a single fish and compared this to observed responses of multiple fish of both the same and different species. To enhance such assessment methods, measures incorporating predator abundance alongside *per capita* feeding rates have been shown to have strong predictive power (Dick *et al.*, 2017; Dickey *et al.*, 2018) and thus, this method was chosen here.

4.2.4. Aims and objectives

Here I aimed to determine whether the crab species *Carcinus maenas* displays a Type II functional response, as found in destructive invasive species, and to investigate the mediating effects of prey density, conspecific presence, and spatial availability, on prey consumption by

C. maenas. The objective was to record the number of blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) spat consumed by these crabs at different levels of prey density and conspecific presence. To determine the impact of spatial availability vs conspecific antagonism, clay discs were applied to specific treatments to mimic the space inhabited by conspecifics as a form of experimental manipulation.

4.2.5. Hypotheses

It was hypothesised that both prey density and conspecific presence would alter crab predation success. It was predicted that crabs would display Type II functional responses, with increasing predation success as prey density increased, plateauing as handling time became restrictive. Furthermore, it was also predicted that an increase in conspecific presence would decrease predation success to a greater extent than disc presence as antagonistic interactions became more likely.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Experimental Design

The experiment consisted of five treatments: [1x crab], [2x crab], [3x crab], [1x crab + 1x disc], [1x crab + 2x discs]. 'Discs' refers to baked clay discs of the same approximate size as the crabs that were used as replacements for live crabs in some treatments in order to quantify the effects of conspecific behavioural interactions vs spatial reduction caused by conspecific presence. For each crab/disc treatment, five mussel spat (small, post-juvenile mussels) prey densities were provided (2, 4, 8, 16, 32). Each crab/density combination was replicated three times, for a total of 75 trials. See Figure 4.2 for a summary of this experimental design.



Figure 4.2 Experimental design used to carry out the experiments. Animal characteristics, experimental unit, treatment allocation, treatment groups, measurement and analysis type are displayed.

4.3.2. Animal Husbandry and Size Selection

Female *C. maenas* without eggs, free of visible injury and external parasites (*n* = 54, mean carapace width 57.63mm ± 0.58mm) were used for this experiment. Crabs were collected in the locality of Strangford Lough, Northern Ireland and were maintained in a large flow-through, sand-filtered, seawater (~13°C) tank enriched with rocks and brown algae. Crabs were fed every two days with a mixture of herring (*Clupea harengus*) and crushed *Mytilus edulis* mussels. *M. edulis* spat were collected at nearby Horse Island, Strangford Lough. Spat

were sorted into size classes by shell length, using 5mm cohorts, in order to determine the most appropriate size class to be used in the experiments. Spat were maintained in flow-through seawater containers, with individuals 10-14.9mm long being selected for the experiments, due to their high abundance in samples and what was deemed to be their relatively energetically enticing size.

4.3.3. Setup

Experimental trials were carried out over one week between August and September 2018, in 30 flow-through, sand-filtered, seawater (~13°C from source) arenas (7L clear plastic boxes, dimensions: 260 x 165 x 140mm). Arenas had lids to reduce disturbance and prevent escape. In specific treatments, baked clay discs were used as a spatial replacement for a live crab in order to distinguish between the effects of the reduction in spatial availability caused by conspecific presence vs the antagonistic interactions caused by conspecific presence. Discs were the same approximate diameter as the mean crab carapace width (~58mm) and were ~20mm thick, placed in the centre of the arenas and added 30 minutes in advance of the introduction of predators. Twenty-four hours before trials commenced all food was removed from the holding tank, to allow for pre-experimental starvation.

Crabs were selected randomly from the holding tank and trials commenced upon the addition of the crabs to the arenas containing prey. Three experimental runs of each treatment combination were (i.e. five predator treatments x five spat densities were performed, terminating after 30 minutes). After the trials, crabs were removed from the arenas and placed into a specific holding tank and fed. Only the crabs used during the experiment were kept in this holding tank, at the exact number required for all trials (75), ensuring that all crabs were deployed the same number of times. All crabs were given 24 hours to recover before

the next pre-experimental starvation period. See Figure 4.3 for illustration of this experimental setup.



Figure 4.3 Experimental setup, showing placement of spat, crabs and conspecifics/discs within the experimental arenas.

4.3.4. Statistical analysis

4.3.4.1. Functional responses and proportional prey consumption

Data were analysed using R version 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020). Proportional prey consumption (i.e. consumption divided by initial prey density) in the functional response experiments was compared using generalised linear models (GLMs) with quasi-binomial distribution, due to residual overdispersal being detected and the data following a roughly binomial distribution Predator treatment and prey density were the computed factors for these GLMs. For each predator treatment, logistic regression of the proportion of prey killed as a function of prey density was used to discern functional response types (*sensu* Juliano, 2001). Where a significant negative first order linear coefficient was detected, a Type II response was determined; conversely, a Type III form was considered when a significant positive first order linear coefficient was followed by a significant negative second order coefficient (Juliano, 2001). As crabs were not directly observed or recorded via video during interactions, Rogers' random predator equation for non-replacement of prey was applied to estimate values of 'h' (handling time) i.e., the amount of time spent handling the prey, and 'a' (attack rate) i.e., the number of attempted attacks over time (Rogers, 1972):

$$N_e = N_0(1 - \exp(a(N_e h - T)))$$

where *N_e* is the number of prey eaten, *N₀* is the initial density of prey, *h* is the handling time, *a* is the attack constant and *T* is the total experimental period. Derived from Rogers (1972), the attack constant in this equation is from experiments in which sandpaper discs were randomly searched for by blindfolded subjects and 'removed', simulating predation, at multiple 'prey' densities. The total number of these discs removed (attacked) increased over time, but at a decreasing rate, due to reduction in prey availability and thus, increased searching/handling time. This allowed for the calculation of an attack coefficient, which forms the basis of the attack constant in the current equation. Model fitting used the Lambert W function (Bolker 2008) in R due to the implicit nature of the random predator equation (i.e. the random predator equation is not solvable on its own).

The FR parameters derived from observed single-predator experimental treatments were then used to predict and fit multiple predator FR curves using a population-dynamic model following McCoy et al. (2012) and Sentis and Boukal (2018):

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i(N) P_i$$

where *N* is the prey density, P_i (i = 1, 2, ..., n) are the population densities of predators *i* and $f_i(N)$ is the FR of predator *i*. The population-dynamic method has been deemed the most robust way of assessing MPEs in functional response studies, and one that accounts for prey depletion and non-linear feeding rates (Sentis and Boukal, 2018).

4.3.4.2. Non-trophic interaction scores (ISNTs)

Predicted multiple predator outcomes were calculated by multiplying the results from the single predator treatments to simulate an increase in predators (e.g. 2*[1x crab], 2*[1x crab + 1x disc], 3*[1x crab], 3*[1x crab + 2x disc]). These were then compared to observed multiple predator functional responses (i.e. appropriate [2x crabs] and [3x crabs] treatments) using Interaction Scores (IS). For both observed and predicted responses, Interaction Scores (IS) were calculated as:

$$IS = \frac{Prey\ Eaten}{Prey\ Density}$$

Predicted IS were then subtracted from observed IS to achieve Non-Trophic Interaction Scores (ISNTs) for multiple predator treatments. The more negative an ISNT, the more antagonistic the interaction was, as this represented a decrease in *per capita* crab feeding, while the more positive an ISNT, the more synergistic the interaction was, representing an increase in *per capita* crab feeding. ISNTs were then compared across prey densities and predator treatments using GLMs, assuming a quasi-binomial distribution due to overdispersal. Comparisons of

predicted and observed multiple predator experimental treatments allowed for the quantification of non-trophic interactions, such as Multiple Predator Effects (MPEs). This approach allowed comparisons to be made between predicted and observed multiple predator outcomes.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Functional responses and proportional spat consumption

Prey survival in controls was 100%, allowing us to attribute all experimental mortality to predation, further confirmed by crushed shell remains in the arenas. Type II functional response curves were found for all predicted/observed treatment combinations (Figures 4.4, 4.5). Proportional spat consumption was significantly decreased by both crab treatment ($F_{4,69}$ = 3.32, *p* < 0.05) and prey density ($F_{1,73}$ = 81.15, *p* < 0.05), see Figure 4.6.

4.4.2. Non-Trophic Interaction Scores (ISNTs)

Prey density significantly increased ISNT scores for treatment groups [2x crab] and [1x crab + 1 disc] ($T_{1,29}$ = 3.07, p < 0.05), increasing feeding synergy. There was no significant effect (p > 0.05) of crab treatment between [2x crab] and [1x crab + 1 disc] (Figure 4.7). Conversely, crab treatment had a significant effect on ISNT scores between treatment groups [3x crab] and [1x crab + 2 discs] ($T_{1,29}$ = -3.35, p < 0.05), with ISNT scores being consistently lower (more antagonistic) in treatment group [3x crab]. There was no significant effect of prey density between treatment groups [3x crab] and [1x crab + 2 discs] (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.4 'Type II' functional responses for treatment groups 2*(1x crab), 2*(1x crab +1x disc) and 2x crab. Initial prey density (No. of *M. edulis*) along x-axis, prey consumption by crabs within 30mins on y-axis.



Figure 4.5 'Type II' functional responses for treatment groups 3*(1x crab), 3*(1x crab +1x disc) and 3x crab. Initial prey density (No. of *M. edulis*) along x-axis, prey consumption by crabs within 30mins on y-axis.







Figure 4.7 ISNT scores across treatment groups 1C+1 (1x crab + 1x disc) and 2C (2x crab). ISNT score displayed on y-axis, initial prey density displayed on x-axis, predator treatment depicted in fill (legend).



Figure 4.8 ISNT scores across treatment groups 1C+2 (1x crab + 2x disc) and 3C (3x crab). ISNT score displayed on y-axis, initial prey density displayed on x-axis, predator treatment depicted in fill (legend).

4.5. Discussion

4.5.1. Proportional prey consumption and functional responses

Across all treatments, *C. maenas* crabs displayed destabilising Type II functional responses, but displayed varying degrees of antagonistic interactions based on conspecific presence, which impacted feeding synergy. These results demonstrated that fear-released mesopredators can display destabilising Type II functional responses (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2015), comparable to that of invasive species. While further studies directly comparing mesopredator functional responses in the presence and absence of higher predators are needed, Chapters 2 and 3 of my thesis support these findings given that mesopredator suppression occurred across multiple species from a marine mesopredator guild.

Furthermore, the results here showed that as prey density increased, overall proportional prey consumption decreased, and at higher prey densities, no crabs consumed all of the available prey. This result is consistent with previous findings that crabs cannot efficiently handle high densities of bivalve prey (Wong and Barbeau, 2006). *M. edulis* reproduces prodigiously, generally in late Spring through Summer (Seed, 1969; Wilson and Seed, 1974), with recruitment occurring year round (Kautsky, 1982), maintaining carrying capacity. The results of the current study suggested that such a reproductive strategy could be effective at buffering *M. edulis* recruitment against predation by mesopredators such as *C. maenas. M. edulis* reproductive strategy could bombard *C. maenas* crabs with high densities of spat. This strategy is similar to that observed in instances of eelgrass seed predation by *C. maenas*, whereby crabs are overwhelmed by high numbers of seeds over large spatial scales (Infantes *et al.*, 2016). This could enhance mussel recruitment and reduce susceptibility to overgrazing by mesopredators, benefitting ecosystem health, as biogenic mussel reefs are associated with

high biodiversity and enhanced habitat complexity (Commito and Rusignuolo, 2000; Kristensen et al., 2015; Norling and Kautsky, 2007; Saier, 2002; zu Ermgassen et al., 2020). Moreover, the functional response results here highlighted the complex role that spatial availability plays in predator-prey interactions, as found in previous studies (Fraker and Luttbeg, 2012; Sih, 2005) and how this is linked individual behaviour and conspecific tolerance. Specifically, while there was no noticeable difference in functional response between crab and disc treatments at the two-crab level, crabs had greater predation success (and thus higher peaking FRs) in the presence of discs at the three-crab level. This shows that with decreasing spatial availability, C. maenas predation success increased. Despite the potential for prey refugia and handling time to increase as clay disc presence increased, individual C. maenas benefitted from the decrease in spatial availability. This finding suggested that C. maenas foraging is optimised in instances of low conspecific density combined with low habitat complexity and spatial availability. While the results presented here are promising, further study is required to elucidate the strength of these effects in a more open experimental environment, as the experiments were limited to relatively small plastic arenas.

4.5.2. Non-trophic interaction scores (ISNTs) and antagonistic interactions

Our ISNT score results showed that at a lower conspecific abundance, feeding synergy between conspecifics was primarily driven by prey density, with an increase in prey density making interactions less antagonistic. At a higher conspecific abundance, prey density had no effect, with feeding synergy being primarily driven by conspecific abundance. This is evidence that *C. maenas* resource sharing and co-existence is mediated by prey density when conspecific abundance is low, switching to a combination of trait mediation (antagonism) and

density mediation (conspecific density) as conspecific abundance increases. This interplay between prey density and conspecific presence supports previous findings that both prey density and predator traits must be considered when assessing predator-prey interactions, as both can influence the rate and outcome of predator-prey interactions (Liu *et al.*, 2018). For example, aphids display wing polymorphism based on predator presence, predator density and attack rate (Kunert and Weisser, 2003) and the co-existence of multiple aphid species is mediated by predator density and attacks, as well as reduced foraging efficiency due to competition (van Veen *et al.*, 2005).

Furthermore, Liu *et al* (2018) emphasised that while raw predation rate can increase as density and conspecific abundance increase, the likelihood of antagonistic behaviour and thus, resulting injuries, increased. This would suggest a decrease in fitness with increasing antagonistic behaviour among conspecifics. However, there is evidence that antagonistic interactions towards conspecifics can facilitate the spread of a species, with aggressive individuals either inhabiting the range frontier, or displacing conspecifics for access to optimal established habitats (Groen *et al.*, 2012). Previous studies also showed that evidence that mesopredator release can facilitate range expansion in fish (Lapoint *et al.*, 2015), thus, bolder more antagonistic individuals within a fear-released population my benefit from the loss of fear of predation to a greater extent, compounding the negative effects of fear-release.

Conversely, a lack of aggression towards conspecifics has been shown to facilitate coexistence at high densities in invaded ranges (Suarez *et al.*, 1999). For *C. maenas* in particular, the negative impacts caused by antagonistic interactions with conspecifics can lead to lower ecological success, as seen in Griffen and Delaney (2007). These authors investigated the replacement of the invasive *C. maenas* by a more recent invader, the Asian shore crab, *Hemigrapsus sanguineus*. They found that *C. maenas* displayed substantially higher rates of

conspecific aggression compared to *H. sanguinieus*, and as a result, *C. maenas* was being replaced as the dominant species in the intertidal zone. So, while antagonistic interactions may initially enhance *C. maenas*' ability to extend its range and invade new areas, its intolerance of conspecifics can hinder its success. These findings highlight the importance of accounting for conspecific antagonism in predator-prey research.

4.5.3. Ecological consequences

The combined metrics from the current study showed that female *C. maenas* were at optimal bivalve foraging success in conditions of low prey density and low conspecific competition. These results support previous findings on *C. maenas'* aggressive behavioural tendencies, as they tend to be more aggressive in clumped, high density prey areas (Tanner *et al.*, 2011). The current study linked this behavioural response to destabilising effects using functional response techniques, which, a thorough examination of the scientific literature indicated, had not been done before. Our results also demonstrate that methods commonly used in invasive species research are effective at quantifying the impacts of fear-released species. As such, fear-release species should be considered in a similar way to invasive species, in that their feeding rates and feeding behaviours are analogous and can be successfully analysed using the same techniques.

However, crabs are not uniform in their tolerance of conspecifics, with some species maintaining high population densities with low aggression, such as *H. sanguinieus* (Griffen and Delaney, 2007), while others maintain both high populations densities and higher aggression (Pintor *et al.*, 2009). It is important to account for these behavioural discrepancies (Lohrer and Whitlatch, 2002) in order to address species shifts within ecological communities. Chapter 3 of my thesis addressed the effects of these inter-species discrepancies, by

investigating mesopredator suppression across multiple crabs from a marine mesopredator guild (including *C. maenas*). The findings of that chapter supported the findings of this chapter, as all the crabs investigated were found to have negative cascading effects on their prey in the absence of a higher predator, with slight differences in feeding rate. These findings suggested that while this crab mesopredator guild display small differences in foraging success, they all have the potential to destabilise and degrade ecosystems in instances of fear-release.

Chapter 5

Friend or foe: Variation in fear response in the crab *Carcinus maenas* via infrared cardiac sensing

Impact Statement

There was a follow-up study planned for this chapter which would have involved the direct recording of changes in electromagnetic activity associated with crab responses to predator cues and the potential for crabs to use electromagnetic camouflage. However, this research became untenable during the pilot stage due to COVID-19 restrictions and technical difficulties. As such, planned work to expand on this chapter's findings did not take place.

5.1. Abstract

Fear responses in prey species have been well studied using behavioural assays. However, the underlying physiological responses that drive these behaviours are less well studied and can provide greater insight into the biological stress being experienced by prey animals. In this study the cardiac responses of an ecologically important brachyuran crab, *Carcinus maenas* were recorded in response to two chemical cue treatments and a control: a known predator, elasmobranch Scyliorhinus canicula; the а known non-predator, the herbivorous/detritivorous fish Chelon labrosus; and a blank seawater control. A total of 26 replicates were performed. Crab cardiac activity changed more frequently, more intensely and for longer in response to the predator (S. canicula) cue and the blank seawater control vs the non-predator (*C. labrosus*) cue (all *p*<0.05). This is evidence of not only the differentiation between known predators and non-predators, but also between clear and cryptic threats. These findings demonstrated a nuanced physiological response to predator cues based on predator identity, which can enhance energy use during fear response in brachyuran crabs. Given the frequency of behavioural freezing or 'tonic immobility' in decapod crustaceans, this study highlighted the importance of recording physiological data when investigating predator-prey interactions.

5.2. Introduction

5.2.1. Cardiac Activity and the Cost of Predator-Induced Stress

Animal stress physiology and individual fitness are integrally linked (e.g. Möstl and Palme, 2002; Boonstra, 2013; Beausoleil *et al.*, 2018). In the marine environment, for example, crabs choose less profitable prey in order to preserve claw integrity (Smallegange and Van Der Meer, 2003), showing a clear link between physiological feedback and behavioural choices leading to enhanced health and fitness. A key contributor to animal stress in nature is predation risk which can affect prey demography, ecological community structure, and ecosystem processes (Sheriff and Thaler, 2014). Therefore, measuring the physiological effects of predation risk, such as predator induced stress, can provide important insights into the biological costs of the fear of predation.

Stress in animals can have significant effects on cardiac activity (Li *et al.*, 2000; von Borell *et al.*, 2007 Hourdez, 2018), making cardiac assays a robust method for determining the impact of predation stress on animals (e.g. Höjesjö *et al.*, 1999; Rovero *et al.*, 1999; Johnsson *et al.*, 2001). In the context of predator induced stress, changes in cardiac rhythm and beat rate have been linked to anti-predator responses via the fight or flight mechanism (Robinson, 2018). The fight or flight cardiac response has been observed across a diverse range of taxa from arthropods (Adamo *et al.*, 1995), to mammals (Ford and Reeves, 2008). These cardiac responses have associated energetic costs, as measures such as heart rate are intrinsically linked to metabolic rate (Green, 2011).
5.2.2. Non-Consumptive Effects of Predator-Induced Stress in Aquatic Systems

Predator-prey interactions are not exclusively consumptive and can lead to death of an organism without any physical contact (Preisser *et al.*, 2005). Pressier *et al.* (2005) discussed the fact that the studies in aquatic systems found more prominent indirect effects of fear and intimidation than studies in terrestrial systems. As described in Cox and Lima (2006), terrestrial systems have historically undergone more homogenising biotic effects than aquatic systems, which remain more heterogenous in their predation regimes. This distribution of aquatic predator regimes in is reflected in the increased strength of top-down effects and subsequent trophic cascades observed in marine and freshwater systems (Shurin *et al.*, 2002). As aquatic systems can display a greater diversity of predator effects than terrestrial systems, developing methods for recording the physiology of predator induced stress responses can enhance the scientific understanding of impacts on species fitness and ecology in aquatic ecosystems.

5.2.3. Photoplethysmography, Stress Mitigation and Methodology Chosen

The intensity of predator-induced stress responses can vary based on context; for example scallops that are near refuges have a lower cardiac response to the presence of predators than more exposed scallops (Kamenos *et al.*, 2006). This context-based variation is important when recording predator-induced stress, as animals can behaviourally respond to a predator in a manner that masks underlying physiological changes. For example, recording behavioural freezing such as tonic immobility (Erhard *et al.*, 1999) by behavioural assay alone, would suggest a halting of activity. However, cardiac recording can show significant ongoing physiological changes even when observable behaviour has ceased.

There are multiple methods for recording changes in cardiac activity in marine fauna. For example, measuring corticosteroid levels, a frequent method in mammalian and teleost studies (Clearwater and Pankhurst, 1997; Loseto *et al.*, 2017; Keogh *et al.*, 2020) or surgically implanting data loggers, a more recent development (Laske *et al.*, 2021) that has been applied to decapod crustaceans (McGaw *et al.*, 2018). A common method of recording cardiac activity in decapod crustaceans involves surgically placing wires and electrodes into the cardiac tissue (Bierbower and Cooper, 2009; Burnovicz *et al.*, 2009; Forgan *et al.*, 2014; Hourdez, 2018). This is a concern for experimental design, given the evidence of the ability to feel pain in decapod crustaceans (Elwood *et al.*, 2009; Elwood, 2012).

Elwood (2009) demonstrated that crabs do not simply react to harmful stimuli via nociception, but that they 'remember' painful stimuli and avoid known sources of harm. Furthermore, animals react heterogeneously to stress and trauma (Cohen *et al.*, 2003), meaning animals undergoing invasive surgery etc. have the potential to react independently. Thus, when attempting to detect acute changes in cardiac activity in association with a specific cue, it is important to minimise undue stress to the animal under investigation, as stress and trauma can substantially alter cardiac activity (Huang *et al.*, 2013; von Borell *et al.*, 2007; Wilson *et al.*, 2017).

However, recent developments in sensor technology have allowed for the successful use of non-invasive cardiac studies on marine invertebrates via infrared photo-sensing (e.g. Pautsina *et al.* 2014; Bakhmet *et al.* 2015). The technique of using infrared phototransistors to record cardiac data on decapod crustaceans was pioneered in the 80s (Depledge, 1984) and has undergone multiple refinements since (Depledge 1984; Aagaard *et al.* 1991; Pautsina *et al.* 2014; Bakhmet *et al.* 2015). This is known as photoplethysmography, and was initially

developed to record cardiac finger pulses for human health use in the 1930s (Hertzman and Spealman, 1937; Alian and Shelley, 2014).Photoplethysmography has proved an effective, non-invasive method for recording the cardiac activity of marine invertebrates. As such, it was deemed an appropriate method of recording predator-induced stress response for the current study.

5.2.4. Brachyuran Cardiac Structure and Brachyuran Species Chosen

Brachyuran crabs are suitable models to test marine invertebrate cardiac responses due to a relatively complex heart that is analogous to the vertebrate heart (Shuranova *et al.*, 2006). Brachyuran cardiac structure is somewhat similar to that found in vertebrates, being partially closed and comprised of a complex network of blood vessels (see Figure 5.1). This allows for the recording of distinct heart beats, making the detection of changes in rhythm and beat rate simple. Brachyurans also exhibit fight or flight responses to predatory cues that are comparable to vertebrates (Canero and Hermitte, 2014). This response can then be observed and measured via changes in cardiac activity (Shuranova *et al.*, 2006).

While there are analogous structures in vertebrate and brachyuran cardiac biology, brachyuran cardiac structure differs from vertebrates in important ways. For example, brachyuran crabs have a partially closed circulatory system (McGaw, 2002, 2005). This is a by-product of the evolutionary process of carcinisation (becoming more crab-like) whereby the nervous and cardiac tissues have become centralised (Davie *et al.*, 2015). In non-carcinised decapods, such as crayfish and lobsters, the cardiac tissue extends down the abdomen (Burnovicz *et al.*, 2009; Hourdez, 2018). This centralised positioning of the brachyuran heart within the body (see Figure 5.2) allows for the easy attachment of sensors.

Furthermore, brachyuran cardiac activity displays additional components to the fight or flight response. The initial cardiac response in brachyurans is arrhythmia (irregular heart beat) followed by bradycardia, a slowing of the heart rate (Canero and Hermitte 2014). This cardiac response has been described as the 'alternate response' and is associated with behavioural freezing (King and Adamo, 2006). In the wild, behavioural freezing in brachyuran crabs is used as an anti-predator response in the form of tonic immobility (O'Brien and Dunlap, 1975). This is a direct link between the physiological and behavioural response of a species to predator induced fear.

To investigate the effects of fear of predation on brachyuran cardiac activity, the common shore crab (*Carcinus maenas*) was chosen for the current study. *C. maenas* has been used successfully in previous cardiac studies investigating other stressors, such as temperature change (Camus et al., 2004; Tepolt and Somero, 2014), tidal change (Styrishave *et al.*, 2003) and chemical irritants/contaminants (Bamber and Depledge, 1997). Additionally, *C. maenas* is locally abundant, being a ubiquitous species on UK and Irish shorelines, and has a wide global distribution, including multiple invasive ranges (Neal and Pizzolla, 2008). This reduced the logistics required for specimen collection, and made the results of our research relevant to the management of invasive species via the suppression of problematic mesopredators in instances of 'mesopredator release', an issue of global concern (Prugh *et al.*, 2009). This made *C. maenas* a suitable organism for the current study.

5.2.5. Chemical Cues and Elasmobranch and Control Species Chosen

Here, olfactory chemical cues extracted from an elasmobranch predator were used to investigate the predator-induced cardiac stress response of *C. maenas*. In the marine environment animals use olfactory information to assess predation risk , for example, fish

(Wisenden, 2015) and bivalves (Castorani and Hovel, 2016). These chemical cues play an important role in ecosystem funtioning, affecting community structure and energy transfer (Hay, 2009) by altering animal behaviour. Decapod crustaceans are known to use predator chemical cues in order to assess predation risk and inform their anti-predator and predator avoidance behaviours (Lavalli and Spanier, 2016). This widespread use of chemical cues by the crustacea has made them effective models for investigating the effects of marine chemical cues (Hay, 2011). The prominence of chemical cues in the marine environment, combined with known efficacy of predator chemical cue on decapod crustaceans made the use of predator chemical cues an appropriate choice for attempting to elicit predator induced stress responses in *C. maenas*.

Initially, the elasmobranch *Mustelus asterias*, the diet of which can consist of over 95% crustacea (McCully Phillips et al., 2020), was considered for the provision of predator chemical cues for this study, but acquisition of specimens proved logisitically untenable at the time. As a result, the more locally available species *Scyliorhinus canicula* was chosen as a replacement. While *S. canicula* is a more generalist feeder (Kousteni et al., 2017), dietary analysis has found that stomach contents can cansist of almost 50% crustacea, including brachyuran species such as *Necora puber* (Henderson and Dunne, 1999). As such, it was likely that *C. maenas* would respond to *S. canicula* as a potential predator and pilot studies confirmed this, so *S. canicula* was an appropriate choice for the provision of chemical cues.

The thicklip grey mullet (*Chelon labrosus*) is a herbivore and detrivore (Freyhof and Kottelat, 2008) and as such, not a crab predator. The species was locally available from Exploris Aquarium, Portaferry N.I., as were *S. canicula* specimens, reducing logistic requirements. Due to these factors, *C. labrosus* was selected as an appropriate species to extract non-predatory

odour from to act as a comparison to the known predator *S. canicula*. A cue of filtered seawater was also used to act as a control. This allowed for the distinction to be made between an initial startle response to a cue and a more prolonged predator-induced stress response.

5.2.6. Aims and Objectives

This study aimed to measure predator-induced stress response in the crab *Carcinus maenas* via cardiac assay. The objective was to record fluxes in heart rate and beat volume, occurrences of cardiac arrest, arrhythmia, and other cardiac nuances in response to chemical cues. To do this, two distinct cues were employed along with a control cue: a blank control of filtered sea water; a chemical cue from *Scyliorhinus canicula*; and a non-predator cue from *Chelon labrosus*. This allowed for the determination of a fear response, separate from that of the response to a novel or unknown stimulus.

5.2.7. Hypotheses

It was hypothesised that fluxes in crab heart rate and beat volume would differ in response to a predator vs a non-predator chemical cue. It was predicted that the crabs increase cardiac activity in response to the predator cue, but that the strength of the response would depend on the treatment.



Figure 5.1 Corrosion cast displaying the cardiovascular system typical of decapods. The main arteries are labelled, and the overlying capillary network is visible. Corrosion casts are formed by filling the blood vessels with solidifying resin, then macerating the soft tissue away. Originally from Reiber and McGaw (2009), acquired via Creative Commons (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).



Figure 5.2 Sketch depicting the internal anatomy typical of brachyruans, focusing on cardiac and respiratory tissue. This hand-drawn sketch displays the location of important cardiac structures in relation to other significant structures, such as the cardiac stomach and gills within the brachyuran body plan. This sketch was drawn by the author of this thesis.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Experimental design

The experiment consisted of three treatments cues: a known crab predator, *S. canicula* (Henderson and Dunne, 1999); a known non-predator of crabs, *C. labrosus*, a herbivore and detritivore (Freyhof and Kottelat, 2008); and a blank cue of filtered seawater. *S. canicula* (N = 2, body length ~60cm) and *C. labrosus* (N = 2, body length ~30cm) were obtained from Exploris Aquarium, Portaferry, N.I. Intact male shore crabs, *C. maenas* (N = 78, carapace width 55-65mm), were collected in the vicinity of Ballyhenry Island, Strangford Lough, N.I., used once and then released. A total 26 replicates were carried out and treatment allocation was randomised. Both heart rate (beats per minute) and beat volume (voltage output from infrared sensors) were recorded.

5.3.2 Experimental setup

The cardiac activity was recorded using custom built infrared (IR) sensor cables attached to an ADInstruments PowerLab 26T data recorder, running the software LabChart, version 8.0.5. The ADInstruments PowerLab 26T is a data acquisition device that is compatible with multiple input devices, including electronic infrared sensors, as used here. See figure 5.3 for a diagram of the experimental setup. The sensor cables consisted of an IR photoelectric optical sensor (model type RPR220), metal film resistors, six core insulated alarm wire, and DIN pin connectors. The flexible insulated wire allowed for the relatively free movement of the crabs. The sensors were waterproofed using heat shrink plastic and sealed using epoxy around the seams. See figure 5.5 for images of the wire components. Initially, cyanoacrylate gel and dental wax were trialled to adhere the sensors to the crabs' carapaces. Cyanoacrylate gel was found to be too rigid and crumbled easily and dental wax provided poor adhesion to the carapace surface. Fast-curing epoxy was found to be an effective adhesive for attaching the bungs to the crab carapace. Attaching the sensor directly to the carapace caused excessive rigidity at the connection point, often causing the sensor to detach from the carapace. To solve this issue, rubber bungs with a hole drilled through the middle were attached to the dorsal surface of the crabs' carapace using 'Bond Together' epoxy resin (Figure 5.6). The bungs held the sensor cables in place, while providing sufficient flexibility to compensate for small movements from the crab. The sensors were further waterproofed using transparent laboratory film placed over the sensor head before insertion into the rubber bungs.

The rubber bung attachment process took ~20 minutes per crab and was carried out in batches of six crabs simultaneously. During this process the crabs were kept moist on paper towels and were then immediately placed in glass holding tanks after the bung attachment, to acclimatise overnight (~22hrs). Full curing of the epoxy occurred before the crabs were placed into their holding tanks, to mitigate the effects of epoxy leaching, which would be detrimental to the crabs and effect the results. The holding tanks were supplied with a flow-through of filtered seawater. The rubber bungs were carefully removed immediately after experiments to prevent carapace damage and the crabs were released the next day.

Prior to the bung attachment process, crabs were maintained in two identical 80cm x 60cm x 40cm opaque grey plastic flow-through tanks and fed *ad libitum* on Atlantic herring. Crabs were kept in stock no longer than one week before bungs were attached, ready for experimental use.Data was recorded for six minutes per crab, with a 10-minute rest period

beforehand to reduce the effects of handling. Immediately prior to the 10-minute rest period, crabs were taken from the holding tanks and the infrared sensors were placed into the bungs on their backs and they were then placed into the experimental containers, a process taking less than one minute. This process was carried out quickly and carefully to minimise handling time and reduce stress.

The 'baseline phase' of recording was always the first minute after the 10-minute rest period. The 'shock phase' of the recording was always one minute into the 6-minute recording period, when the cue was added. The 'final phase' of recording was always the last minute of the 6minute period. Six minutes of recording per crab was chosen to allow for a consistent amount of time after the reaction of the crabs to the cues, as these reactions never lasted longer than one minute. This timing meant that the crabs were always in the experimental containers for ~16 minutes total. See Figure 5.4 for a summary of the experimental design.

The containers used to hold the crabs for the duration of the data recording were made of opaque grey plastic and were 27cm x 16.5cm x 11.5cm, containing 2ltrs of filtered seawater. The containers were covered with black flexible plastic lids to reduce the effects of observer presence. These experimental containers were placed on metal racks in water baths that were 56cm x 32cm x 20cm and kept at 13°C to maintain a constant temperature.

5.3.3. Cue collection

S. canicula were maintained in a 220cm x 130cm x 100cm fibreglass flow-through tank and fed *ad libitum* on Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*). *C. labrosus* were maintained in an identical setup and were fed using aquarium standard feed pellets.

Prior to experiments, one individual of both *S. canicula* and *C. labrosus* were moved to two smaller flow-through seawater tanks (120cm x 60cm x 60cm), that lacked enrichment, 16 hours before experiments began to reduce the effect of environmental odours. Chemical cues were extracted from the individual specimens using sterilised cotton swabs rubbed along the side of the body, the underside of the body and near the gills. This method is similar to that used for mucus collection on larger shark species (*sensu* Lieber *et al.* 2013), but using a less abrasive medium and on a much smaller scale as the *S. canicula* specimens used were less than 1m long. The swabs were then immediately placed into 100mls of filtered seawater and mixed thoroughly. A 50ml sample of this infusion was extracted via syringe and was used as the chemical cue for the experiment. Cue collection was carried out immediately prior to use in an experiment, within minutes of being used, to improve retention of the cue (i.e. freshness). All three experimental species were fed *ad libitum*, but to ensure consistency and mitigate the effects of contamination of chemical cue samples by food odours, they were not fed for 24 hours prior to experimentation.

5.3.4. PowerLab Recording

The PowerLab was connected to a laptop via USB to record heartbeat rate and beat voltage in real-time in a digital format. This setup was adapted from previous experimental setups such as Burnett *et al.* (2013) and Pautsina *et al.* (2014). The PowerLab was set to record from the infrared sensors 1000 times per second, within the 20mV range and a mains filter was applied to reduce data noise via the 'Input Amplifier' settings. The output was in the form of a visual sine wave with voltage and time displayed on-screen. These results were also exported as raw voltage data into Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corportaion, 2022) to better calculate changes in beat voltage which indicates beat volume.

5.3.5. Statistical Analyses

To test for differences in cardiac activity between the three treatment groups, the outputs were sub-divided into their phases. The 'baseline phase' consisted of the mean beat rate and voltage for the first minute of recording. The 'shock phase' consisted of the duration of arrythmia and bradycardia after the addition of a cue and the 'final phase' consisted of the mean beat rate and voltage for the last minute of recording. All analyses were carried out in R (R Core Team, 2020). See Figures 5.7 - 5.9 for examples of each identified cardiac response phase.

Differences in the changes of voltage (mV) and beat rate (beats per min) between cardiac phases and treatment groups were analysed using Friedman's tests to account for repeated measures. A paired technique was employed, using an individual Friedman's test for each treatment group to compare phases and also for each phase to compare treatment groups i.e. a total of 12 Friedman's tests were performed, each with Conover's post hoc to determine the source of any significant differences. One-way ANOVAs with post-hoc Tukey tests were used to analyse the difference between the shock phase durations for each treatment type, as repeated measures were not a concern here. This shock phase was distinguished by significant arrhythmia once the cue was added to the water. A Levene's test, testing for equality of variance,showed that the data were homoscedastic (p > 0.05). A Fisher's exact test was used to analyse the frequency of occurrence of a cardiac reaction to the cues for the 3 treatment groups.



Laptop Displaying Real-Time Cardiac Output

Figure 5.3 – Setup of infrared photoplethysmography equipment. The coil attached to the water circulator was part of a closed system and the water cooling was set to 12.5°C to achieve an ambient water bath temperature of 13°C.

Experimental Design Chart

Cardiac Response Experiment



Figure 5.4 – Flow chart showing the experimental design. Animal characteristics, treatment allocation, experimental units, measurements, analyses used and individual treatment combinations are displayed.



Figure 5.5 – **Internal components of the infrared optical sensor cable** – (a) Infrared optical sensor/coupler RPR220 soldered to 4 cores of the alarm wire, with heat shrink protection; (b) infrared sensor attached to wire, with wire cores exposed to show individual connections to the connector pins; (c) din pin connected to the same wire, with protective plastic cover; (d) din pin with protective cover removed, showing wire core connections and metal film resistors.



Figure 5.6 – (a) Image showing the underlying cardiac groove structure, highlighted by the red square. (b)+(c) Images showing the positioning of modified bungs over the 'cardiac groove' region of *C. maenas*' carapace, directly over the internal location of the main cardiac tissue. Sensors were additionally waterproofed using laboratory film and then slotted into these bungs before experiments began.



Figure 5.7 – A snapshot example of a LabChart output for the baseline cardiac phase, with voltage in mV on the y-axis and time in minutes and seconds on the x-axis. The sample rate is displayed in the top-right corner (1k/s).



Figure 5.8 – A snapshot example of a LabChart output for the shock cardiac phase, with voltage in mV on the y-axis and time in minutes and seconds on the x-axis.



Figure 5.9 – A snapshot example of a LabChart output for the final minute cardiac phase, with voltage in mV on the y-axis and time in minutes and seconds on the x-axis.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Voltage changes between treatment groups and cardiac phases

Crabs displayed the highest change in voltage between the baseline and shock phases in the presence of the dogfish chemical cue. This change was significantly higher than the response to the to the mullet cue ($T_{(2,50)} = 2.1$, p<0.05), but not to the blank cue (p>0.05), see Figure 5.10. There were no further differences found in voltage change between treatment groups. Within each treatment group, the voltage change between the baseline and shock phase was significantly higher than between the other phases (all p < 0.05) and there were no significant differences in voltage change between the other phases (baseline - final min and shock – final min). See Table 5.1 for a matrix of these results. See Figure 5.11 for voltage changes between the phases within each treatment.

5.4.2. Heartbeat rate changes between treatment groups and cardiac phases

Between the baseline and shock phases, the dogfish and mullet cue treatment groups had significantly higher changes in heartbeat rate than the control treatment group ($T_{(2,50)}$ = 2.933, p<0.05 and $T_{(2,50)}$ = 3.488, p<0.05 respectively). There were no significant differences in voltage change between the dogfish and control treatment groups between these two cardiac phases. Within treatment groups, there were significant differences found in heartbeat rate change between the cardiac phases, see Table 5.2 for a matrix of these results. See Figure 5.12 for bpm changes between phases for each treatment.

5.4.3. Shock phase duration

C. maenas crabs had significantly different shock phase durations between chemical cue treatments ($F_{(2,75)} = 4.757$, p<0.05). Specifically, the Tukey test showed that crab shock phase duration was significantly longer when exposed to *S. canicula* compared to *C. labrosus* cues (p < 0.05). Crab shock phase duration was significantly shorter in the *C. labrosus* treatment group compared to the control (p < 0.05). Shock phase duration did not significantly differ between *S. canicula* and control treatments (p>0.05), see Figure 5.13.

5.4.4. Frequency of reaction to cues

Crabs displayed a cardiac reaction to the dogfish cue ~96% of the time (25 of 26 individuals). A similar reaction rate was found for the control cue, with a cardiac reaction being induce in ~92% of the treatment groups (24 of 26). The mullet cue only elicited a cardiac reaction in ~65% of the treatment group (17 of 26). The Fisher's Exact Test showed that crabs were significantly less likely to react to the mullet cue than the other two cues (*p* <0.05), see Figure 5.14.

Table 5.1 Significance of differences in voltage change between phases within each

Cue Treatment	Cardiac Phases	Baseline -Shock	Baseline – Final Min	Shock – Final Min
S. canicula	Baseline - Shock		<i>T_(2,50)</i> = 3.054 <i>p</i> <0.05	T _(2,50) = 2.902 p<0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 3.054 p<0.05		<i>p</i> >0.05
	Shock – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 2.902 p<0.05	<i>p</i> >0.05	
C. labrosus	Baseline - Shock		T _(2,50) = 4.299 p<0.05	T _(2,50) = 3.288 p<0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 4.299 p<0.05		<i>p</i> >0.05
	Shock – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 3.288 p<0.05	<i>p</i> >0.05	
Control	Baseline - Shock		T _(2,50) = 2.335 p<0.05	T _(2,50) = 2.043 p<0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 2.335 p<0.05		<i>p</i> >0.05
	Shock – Final Min	<i>T_(2,50)</i> = 2.043 <i>p</i> <0.05	<i>p</i> >0.05	

treatment group. Green highlighting represents significance, red represents non-significance.

Table 5.2 Significance of differences in heartbeat rate change between phases within each

treatment group. Green highlighting represents significance, red represents non-

Cue Treatment	Cardiac Phases	Baseline -Shock	Baseline – Final Min	Shock – Final Min
S. canicula	Baseline - Shock		T _(2,50) = 4.027 p<0.05	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 4.027 p<0.05		T _(2,50) = 4.530 p<0.05
	Shock – Final Min	<i>p</i> >0.05	T _(2,50) = 4.530 p<0.05	
C. labrosus	Baseline - Shock		<i>p</i> >0.05	T _(2,50) = 2.877 p<0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	<i>p</i> >0.05		T _(2,50) = 4.446 p<0.05
	Shock – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 2.877 p<0.05	<i>T_(2,50)</i> = 4.446 <i>p</i> <0.05	
Control	Baseline - Shock		T _(2,50) = 4.813 p<0.05	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Baseline – Final Min	T _(2,50) = 4.813 p<0.05		T _(2,50) = 3.547 p<0.05
	Shock – Final Min	p>0.05	<i>T</i> _(2,50) = 3.547 <i>p</i> <0.05	

significance.



Figure 5.10 Boxplot of voltage change between baseline and shock cardiac phases across treatment groups. Cue treatment is displayed on the x-axis and voltage change is displayed on the y-axis.



Figure 5.11 Changes observed in beat voltage of *C. maenas* between cardiac phases for each chemical cue. (a) voltage of crabs exposed to the cue of the predator, *S. canicula*. (b) voltage of crabs exposed to the cue of the non-predator, *C. labrosus*. (c) voltage of crabs exposed to a blank control cue of filtered seawater. Voltage change in mV on y-axes, cardiac phases displayed on x-axes and whiskers represent variation outside the upper and lower quartiles



Figure 5.12. Changes observed in *C. maenas* heart rate between cardiac phases for each chemical cue treatment. (a) changes in heart rate for crabs exposed to the cue of the predator, *S. canicula*. (b) changes in heart rate for crabs exposed to the cue of the non-predator, *C. labrosus*. (c) changes in heart rate for crabs exposed to a blank control cue of filtered seawater. Heart rate change in BPM on y-axes, cardiac phases displayed on x-axes and whiskers represent variation outside the upper and lower quartiles



Figure 5.13 – Showing Shock phase duration across all predator cue treatments. Duration in seconds that *C. maenas* crabs experienced cardiac shock (shock phase) when exposed to the three different predator treatment cues. Whiskers represent variation outside of the upper and lower quartiles.



Figure 5.14Showing the rate at which crabs reacted to the treatment cues. Error bars represent standard error, occurrence rate on y-axis and predator cue treatments on x-axis. Crabs reacted significantly less frequently to the *C. labrosus* cue than the other two treatments.

5.5. Discussion

Here, the aim was to determine whether the cardiac response of *C. maenas* would differ based on perceived predation threat via chemical cue. It was hypothesised that crab cardiac activity would differ when present with a known predator cue vs a known non-predator cue. The results support this hypothesis, as crabs exposed to the *S. canicula* cue reacted more frequently, responded with a greater increase in beat volume and were in shock for longer than when exposed to the *C. labrosus* cue.

5.5.1. Animal physiology and observed cardiac activity

The results indicated that the crabs could distinguish between the mullet cue, a fish that was not going to pose a threat, and the dogfish (a known predator) and control (slight movement of water, a cryptic cue) cues, which presented a greater threat. While there would have been a slight movement of water from each cue, due to the nature of water leaving the syringes used to apply the cues, the control represented a cryptic cue as there were (to the best of my abilities) no substantial predator chemical cues present. These findings are supported by the feeding ecology of the cue species used. For example, *S. canicula* is a generalist predator that takes a wide variety of prey, though decapod crustaceans make up a significant portion of their diet (Henderson and Dunne, 1999; Martinho *et al.*, 2012). This also aligns with previous findings that olfactory cues are used to inform anti-predator decision making in decapod crustaceans (Dalesman and Inchley, 2008). Brachyuran crabs in particular can evaluate changes in water movement simultaneously with olfactory information (Zimmer-Faust *et al.*, 1995). The results of the current study suggested that the chemical cues in the water mediated the cardiac fluxes induced by the stimulus of water movement when adding the cue treatments.

The crabs reacted more frequently and were in shock for longer in response to the blank control vs the mullet cue. This may reflect the unknown/cryptic nature of the control cue, or due to background levels of chemical cues in the water, eliciting an anti-predator 'readiness' response in reaction to an unknown threat, as the actual voltage (beat volume), remained similar in both the control and mullet treatments. Readiness responses have been observed in behavioural studies in the form of escape posturing (e.g. Turesson *et al.*, 2009). The findings here suggested that when presented with a cryptic cue (water movement), brachyuran crabs were able to modulate their anti-predator response based on further sensory information provided by chemical cues. This allowed for the reduction of their response in the presence of a known no-predator cue and the amplification of their response in the presence of a known and/or an unknown predator. My results also suggest that *C. maenas* does not recognise *S. canicula* as any more of a threat than a cryptic cue.

There is previous evidence of decapod crustaceans being able to distinguish between predatory and non-predatory chemical cues (Rosen *et al.*, 2009). Where the current study differs is the recording of nuanced cardiac changes that would not necessarily be reflected in behavioural responses. This could be a potential function of the 'alternate response' recorded in crab cardiac activity (Canero and Hermitte, 2014).

5.5.2. The cost/benefit trade-offs of observed cardiac activity

The increased metabolic costs caused by fear of predation can significantly reduce animal fitness and survivability (Brown and Kotler, 2004; Trussell *et al.*, 2006a). In decapod crustaceans cardiac activity in is controlled autonomically (Shuranova *et al.*, 2006), with a distinct fight, flight and alternate response functionality when reacting to fearful stimuli (Canero and Hermitte, 2014). The results of the current study suggested that crab cardiac

activity was altered less frequently in response to the mullet cue, a known non-predator, and that crabs were in cardiac shock for a significantly shorter time when presented with mullet cue. While the initial cardiac arrythmia in response to the chemical can increase metabolic costs, the subsequent bradycardia (alternative response) when the crabs were exposed to the *S. canicula* and control cues is potential evidence of an autonomic response capable of 'pausing' increased metabolic costs until the threat is fully assessed.

These findings suggested that brachyuran crabs can autonomically delay, and even prevent, costly physiological responses to potential threats, based on olfactory cues. Additionally, these results imply increased crab fitness and anti-predator response can be influenced by autonomically controlled cardiac activity. Similar mechanisms have been observed in aquatic vertebrates in response to chronically high predation pressure, whereby the animals respond to predator cues based on 'background' and 'immediate' threat analysis in order to reduce over-stressing and over-reacting (Brown *et al.*, 2006). The findings here provide evidence that decapod crustacean fear responses are analogous to those found in higher order marine vertebrates and that their anti-predator response are more sophisticated than previously thought.

5.5.3. Elasmobranch electromagnetic sense and crab cardiac activity

Elasmobranch predators use their ampullae of Lorenzini, electro-sensitive, gel-filled pores for hunting (Freitas *et al.*, 2006). All of the changes in cardiac activity observed during our experiments were within the detectable range of elasmobranch predators, some of which can detect changes as small as 5-15 nanovolts (Kalmijn 1982; Fields 2007). Thus, the observed crab cardiac changes have the potential to alter elasmobranch predator hunting success by autonomically making their electromagnetic signature larger, smaller, or more cryptic (in the case of arrythmia and bradycardia combined). This is not an active choice by the crabs, as it is the autonomic nervous system and musculature that controls the changes in their cardiac output (Canero and Hermitte, 2014), but it is evidence of a potential evolutionary arms race between brachyuran crabs and electro-sensitive predators.

5.5.4. Mesopredator suppression and ecological implications

Previous research has highlighted the importance of marine predator-prey interactions and the ecosystem services provided by marine predators, such as preventing mesopredator release and other cascading effects (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Brook *et al.*, 2012). In marine systems, the subclass elasmobranchii contains a significant number of important keystone predator taxa, such as sharks, whose removal precipitates 'fear-release' in their respective ecosystems (Frid *et al.*, 2008). Despite their ecological importance, these important predators have been persecuted globally and the their extirpation has caused ecosystems to shift into less favourable ecological states as mesopredators are released (Prugh *et al.*, 2009). The results of the current study suggested that these animals have the ability to not only alter mesopredator (crab) behaviour, but that they might also directly impact prey physiology, altering prey fitness and metabolic cost. These results contribute to the scientific body of knowledge concerning the regulatory marine ecosystem services provided by elasmobranch predators by highlighting some of the physiological changes caused by fear of predation that precipitate anti-predator behaviour in brachyuran crabs.

Chapter 6

General Discussion

6.1. Marine Ecosystem Service Provision by Predator-Prey

Interactions

The findings of the current thesis highlight the importance of predator-prey interactions in the provision of marine ecosystem services. My results provide further evidence that multiple elasmobranchs within a trophic guild act similarly as transient keystone species (*sensu* Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). They all function to suppress the trophic cascades precipitated by fear released mesopredators, whereby mesopredators suppress habitatforming-species' recruitment, such as mussels and oysters (Campbell et al., 2019; Christie et al., 2020; Kulp and Peterson, 2016; Plass-Johnson et al., 2010; Reimer and Tedengren, 1997). Such mesopredator suppression can be an important ecosystem service through indirectly enhancing basal species recruitment (Gordon et al., 2015; Letnic et al., 2009; Nifong and Silliman, 2013; Terborgh and Davenport, 2020). Furthermore, keystone predators play an active role in structuring marine ecological communities, providing trophic stability (Boaden and Kingsford, 2015; Hammill et al., 2015; Hein and Gillooly, 2011) through the maintenance of a landscape of fear (Bleicher, 2017; Gaynor et al., 2019; Laundré et al., 2010).

Raja clavata and *Scyliorhinus stellaris,* occupy the same trophic guild, but are evolutionary distinct, and displayed similar rates of mesopredator foraging. This finding suggests guild redundancy at an ecosystem scale (Lawton and Brown, 1994). The guild effects on mesopredator foraging can support increased biodiversity through niche maintenance, bolstering ecosystem resilience (Naeem and Li, 1997; Ulanowicz, 2018; Biggs *et al.*, 2020). This redundancy can also dampen anthropogenically induced ecosystem cascades due to ongoing extinction events (e.g. Liu *et al.*, 2016 Sanders *et al.*, 2018).

This thesis demonstrated that marine elasmobranch predators can alter the physiological responses of prey species non-consumptively (cardiac response). This highlights the potential effects of a functioning landscape of fear on the individual, physiological level (Wirsing *et al.*, 2021). The crab cardiac responses support the hypothesis that the 'alternative response' in decapod cardiac physiology, associated with tonic immobility, is an adaptation to increase survivability during predation (Giannico et al., 2014; Maus et al., 2019). This fear induced alternate response has an associated physiological cost (O'Connor et al., 2007). These fear induced costs can lead, over time, to reduced fitness and even cause death of prey species (Preisser et al., 2005; Schmidt and Kuijper, 2015). This highlights the contribution of predator induced stress (within a fear landscape) in regulating the behaviour and fitness of mesopredators and ultimately ecosystem service regulation. For example, the results of this thesis show that the suppression of mesopredator feeding caused by predator induced stress is an ecosystem service as it can reduce the overgrazing of basal species and can mitigate the effects of mesopredator release, as found in previous studies(Berger and Conner, 2008; Brook et al., 2012; Gordon et al., 2015). The changes in population dynamics caused by such mesopredator suppression are able to then filter upwards, altering community structure (Menge, 1995; Wirsing et al., 2008; Catalán et al., 2021).

Furthermore, the results of this thesis demonstrated that native fear-released mesopredators can have similar functional responses to those of invasive species, notably a Type II functional response, which is considered ecologically destabilising (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2016; Dickey *et al.*, 2018; Joyce *et al.*, 2019; Cuthbert *et al.*, 2021). These results suggest that fear-released landscapes should be considered with the same management concern as those with invasive species (where fear released species act as invasive). The reduction in
the fearscape is a form of ecosystem degradation, with possible mitigation being the conservation and enhancement of keystone predators. The loss of such keystone predators across Europe, such as the extirpation of elasmobranchs in the Aegean (Zogaris and De Maddalena, 2014; Damalas *et al.*, 2021) and the stock collapse of the flapper skate (Garbett *et al.*, 2021), indicate the timeliness of my work and a potential recovery pathway for environmental management. My results provide multiple lines of evidence that demonstrate how the maintenance of a trophically complex fearscape is critical for marine ecosystem service provisioning. While my findings are not prescriptive, and further research is needed, they support the case for transient keystone predators being a potential tool for conservation and ecosystem management (Ritchie and Johnson, 2009; Sergio *et al.*, 2008; Caro, 2010; Ritchie *et al.*, 2012).

The research presented in this thesis highlights the importance of predator-prey interactions in ecosystem regulation, a major component of more holistic research, and one which requires more quantitative research (Rodriguez, 2017), and suggests that fear itself should be considered as an environmental factor influencing ecological communities. While marine systems remain relatively more heterogenous in their predator regimes than terrestrial systems, similar pressures from defaunation and overexploitation are leading to regime shifts (Ferretti et al., 2010; Dirzo *et al.*, 2014; McCauley *et al.*, 2015; Young *et al.*, 2016; Pacoureau *et al.*, 2021). For a more comprehensive understanding of these regime shifts, a holistic view, incorporating food-web dynamics with other environmental factors is suggested (sensu Conversi *et al.*, 2015).

Furthermore, my research involved tri-trophic chain experiments which used adult elasmobranchs over 1m long, while similar previous predator-mesopredator-bivalve chain

143

experiments have used smaller species such as crabs and fish, focusing on intertidal communities (Grabowski, 2004; Plass-Johnson *et al.*, 2010; Macreadie *et al.*, 2012; Kulp and Peterson, 2016). This is likely due to the difficult nature of recording large marine predator behaviour and the increased logistics involved compared to terrestrial research (Steele *et al.*, 1989; Beger *et al.*, 2010; Heupel *et al.*, 2014; Ferreira, 2017). The success of my research highlights the importance of overcoming these logistical issues to achieve more holistic assessments of marine predator-prey interactions.

6.2. Ecological Management, Conservation Policy, and Strangford Lough

The findings presented here provide evidence for the importance of fear landscapes in local marine ecological management. As described in Chapter 1, there is evidence of a regime shift in the locality of Strangford Lough caused by the degradation of *Modiolus modiolus* mussel reefs and the extirpation of large keystone predator such as the elasmobranch *Dipturus intermedia* (Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). Potentially, the reintroduction of elasmobranchs to Strangford Lough could precipitate a trophic cascade, supporting horse mussel recruitment through suppression of mesopredator foraging (Beukema and Dekker, 2014; Nifong and Silliman, 2013; Van der Heide et al., 2014). Furthermore, the results of this thesis support the transient keystone concept, whereby bivalve reef recovery due to keystone predator effects could reach a threshold after which predator effects would be dampened by habitat complexity and the trophic cascade would be maintained by the mussel reef itself (Grabowski, 2004; Barrios-O'Neill *et al.*, 2017). In the context of the

degraded *M. modiolus* reefs in Strangford Lough, this suggests that not only top predators, but also transient keystone species such as *R. clavata* and *S. stellaris* could be utilised to achieve ecosystem management goals and facilitate the recovery of these important reef communities which host high biodiversity (Ulster Wildlife Trust, 2012).

Based on the evidence presented in this thesis, it is recommended that a holistic approach to ecological management is employed in Strangford Lough. It is recognised that the Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs has already begun to adopt more holistic management styles, assessing habitats and biotopes as well as priority species (NIEA, 2010; McKeown, 2020). The findings of this thesis suggest that there is trophic overlap amongst native elasmobranchs, and that multiple species can provide the same ecosystems services, such as mesopredator suppression. Rearding the ecological management of Strangford Lough, these findings support the recommendation that the populations of species such as *S. stellaris* and *R. clavata* should be bolstered, or encouraged to return to sites of extirpation, to enhance ecosystem stability and resilience. Previous research has shown that this should be assessed on a site-specific basis using adaptive management techniques (Fazey *et al.*, 2004; McKeown, 2020).

7.0 References

- Aagaard, A., Andersen, B.B., Depledge, M.H., 1991. Simultaneous monitoring of physiological and behavioural activity in marine organisms using non-invasive, computer-aided techniques. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 73, 277–282.
- Adamo, S.A., Linn, C.E., Hoy, R.R., 1995. The role of neurohormonal octopamine during 'fight or flight' behaviour in the field cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus*. J. Exp. Biol. 198, 1691–1700.

AFBI, 2015. Pot fishing in Northern Ireland. Belfast.

- Alian, A.A., Shelley, K.H., 2014. Photoplethysmography. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Anaesthesiol. 28, 395–406.
- Altendorf, K.B., Laundré, J.W., López González, C.A., Brown, J.S., 2001. Assessing effects of predation risk on foraging behavior of mule deer. J. Mammal. 82, 430–439.

Angeler, D.G., Allen, C.R., 2016. Quantifying resilience. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 617–624.

- Ansell, A.D., Comely, C.A., Robb, L., 1999. Distribution, movements and diet of macrocrustaceans on a Scottish sandy beach with particular reference to predation on juvenile fishes. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 176, 115–130.
- ap Rheinallt, T., 1986. Size selection by the crab *Liocarcinus puber* feeding on mussels *Mytilus edulis* and on shore crabs *Carcinus maenas*: the importance of mechanical factors. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 29, 45–53.
- Arribas, R., Touchon, J.C., Gomez-Mestre, I., 2018. Predation and competition differentially affect the interactions and trophic niches of a neotropical amphibian guild. Front. Ecol. Evol. 6, 1–14.

- Atar, H.H., Seçer, S., 2003. Width/length-weight relationships of the blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus* Rathbun 1896) population living in Beymelek Lagoon Lake. Turkish J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 27, 443–447.
- Atuo, F.A., O'Connell, T.J., 2017. The landscape of fear as an emergent property of heterogeneity: contrasting patterns of predation risk in grassland ecosystems. Ecol. Evol. 7, 4782–4793.
- Atwood, T.C., Gese, E.M., Kunkel, K.E., 2009. Spatial partitioning of predation risk in a multiple predator–multiple prey system. J. Wildl. Manage. 73, 876–884.

Audit Office, N.I., 2015. Protecting Strangford Lough.

- Baker, P.J., Boitani, L., Harris, S., Saunders, G., White, P.C.L., 2008. Terrestrial carnivores and human food production: impact and management. Mamm. Rev. 38, 123–166.
- Bakhmet, I., Abessa, D.M.S., Buruaem, L.M., Bonnail, E., 2015. A non-invasive technique for recording the Cardiac activity of the tropical-subtropical mangrove Oyster *Crassostrea brasiliana*. Panam. J. Aquat. Sci. 10, 249–253.
- Ball, R., Owen, R., 1847. On the skulls of bears found in Ireland. Proc. R. Irish Acad. 4, 416– 420.
- Bamber, S.D., Depledge, M.H., 1997. Responses of shore crabs to physiological challenges following exposure to selected environmental contaminants. Aquat. Toxicol. 40, 79–92.
- Barley, S.C., Meekan, M.G., Meeuwig, J.J., 2017. Species diversity, abundance, biomass, size and trophic structure of fish on coral reefs in relation to shark abundance. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 565, 163–179.

- Barría, C., Coll, M., Navarro, J., 2015. Unravelling the ecological role and trophic relationships of uncommon and threatened elasmobranchs in the western Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 539, 225–240.
- Barrios-O'Neill, D., Bertolini, C., Collins, P.C., 2017. Trophic cascades and the transient keystone concept. Biol. Conserv. 212, 191–195.
- Barrios-O'Neill, D., Kelly, R., Dick, J.T.A., Ricciardi, A., Macisaac, H.J., Emmerson, M.C., 2016. On the context-dependent scaling of consumer feeding rates. Ecol. Lett. 19, 668–678.
- Barrios-O'Neill, D., Dick, J.T.A., Emmerson, M.C., Ricciardi, A., MacIsaac, H.J., 2015. Predatorfree space, functional responses and biological invasions. Funct. Ecol. 29, 377–384.

Bearzi, M., 2005. Dolphin sympatric ecology. Mar. Biol. Res. 1, 165–175.

- Beausoleil, N.J., Mellor, D.J., Baker, L., Baker, S.E., Bellio, M., Clarke, A.S., Dale, A., Garlick, S., Jones, B., Harvey, A., Pitcher, B.J., Sherwen, S., Stockin, K.A., Zito, S., 2018. "Feelings and fitness" not "Feelings or fitness" - the raison d'être of conservation welfare, which aligns conservation and animal welfare objectives. Front. Vet. Sci. 5, 1–14.
- Beger, M., Grantham, H.S., Pressey, R.L., Wilson, K.A., Peterson, E.L., Dorfman, D., Mumby,
 P.J., Lourival, R., Brumbaugh, D.R., Possingham, H.P., 2010. Conservation planning for
 connectivity across marine, freshwater, and terrestrial realms. Biol. Conserv. 143, 565–
 575.
- Beisner, B.E., Haydon, D.T., Cuddington, K., 2003. Alternative stable states in ecology. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 376–382.
- Belz, C.E., Darrigran, G., Bonel, N., Mäder Netto, O.S., 2010. Density, recruitment, and shell growth of *Limnoperna fortunei* (mytilidae), an invasive mussel in tropical South

148

America. J. Freshw. Ecol. 25, 227–233.

- Berger, K.M., Conner, M.M., 2008. Recolonizing wolves and mesopredator suppression of coyotes: impacts on pronghorn population dynamics. Ecol. Appl. 18, 599–612.
- Beukema, J.J., Dekker, R., 2014. Variability in predator abundance links winter temperatures and bivalve recruitment: correlative evidence from long-term data in a tidal flat. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 513, 1–15.
- Bierbower, S.M., Cooper, R.L., 2009. Measures of heart and ventilatory rates in freely moving crayfish. J. Vis. Exp. 1974–1977.
- Biggs, C.R., Yeager, L.A., Bolser, D.G., Bonsell, C., Dichiera, A.M., Hou, Z., Keyser, S.R.,
 Khursigara, A.J., Lu, K., Muth, A.F., Negrete, B., Erisman, B.E., 2020. Does functional
 redundancy affect ecological stability and resilience? A review and meta-analysis.
 Ecosphere 11.
- Bleicher, S.S., 2017. The landscape of fear conceptual framework: definition and review of current applications and misuses. PeerJ 5, e3772.
- Bleile, N., Thieltges, D.W., 2021. Prey preferences of invasive (*Hemigrapsus sanguineus, H. takanoi*) and native (*Carcinus maenas*) intertidal crabs in the European Wadden Sea. J.
 Mar. Biol. Assoc. United Kingdom 101, 811–817.
- Boaden, A.E., Kingsford, M.J., 2015. Predators drive community structure in coral reef fish assemblages. Ecosphere 6, 1–33.
- Boonstra, R., 2013. Reality as the leading cause of stress: rethinking the impact of chronic stress in nature. Funct. Ecol. 27, 11–23.

- Boström-einarsson, L., Bonin, M.C., Munday, P.L., Jones, G.P., 2013. Strong intraspecific competition and habitat selectivity influence abundance of a coral-dwelling damsel fish. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 448, 85–92.
- Bowen, B.W., Rocha, L.A., Toonen, R.J., Karl, S.A., 2013. The origins of tropical marine biodiversity. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 359–366.
- Brassine, M.C., Parker, D.M., 2012. Does the presence of large predators affect the diet of a mesopredator? Afr. J. Ecol. 50, 243–246.
- Brook, L.A., Johnson, C.N., Ritchie, E.G., 2012. Effects of predator control on behaviour of an apex predator and indirect consequences for mesopredator suppression. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 1278–1286.
- Brown, G.E., Rive, A.C., Ferrari, M.C.O., Chivers, D.P., 2006. The dynamic nature of antipredator behavior: prey fish integrate threat-sensitive antipredator responses within background levels of predation risk. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 61, 9–16.
- Brown, J.S., Kotler, B.P., 2004. Hazardous duty pay and the foraging cost of predation. Ecol. Lett. 7, 999–1014.
- Brown, K.M., Aronhime, B., Wang, X., 2011. Predatory blue crabs induce byssal thread production in hooked mussels. Invertebr. Biol. 130, 43–48.
- Brown, L.H., 1976. British birds of prey. Harper Collins, London.
- Bullen, C.D., Campos, A.A., Gregr, E.J., McKechnie, I., Chan, K.M.A., 2021. The ghost of a giant – six hypotheses for how an extinct megaherbivore structured kelp forests across the North Pacific Rim. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 30, 2101–2118.

- Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., Fourqurean, J.W., Wirsing, A., Dill, L.M., 2013. Patterns of top-down control in a seagrass ecosystem: could a roving apex predator induce a behaviour-mediated trophic cascade? J. Anim. Ecol. 82, 1192–1202.
- Burnett, N.P., Seabra, R., de Pirro, M., Wethey, D.S., Woodin, S.A., Helmuth, B., Zippay, M.L., Sara, G., Monaco, C., Lima, F.P., 2013. An improved noninvasive method for measuring heartbeat of intertidal animals. Limnol. Oceanogr. 11, 91–100.
- Burnovicz, A., Oliva, D., Hermitte, G., 2009. The cardiac response of the crab *Chasmagnathus granulatus* as an index of sensory perception. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 313– 324.
- Calderwood, J., O'Connor, N.E., Roberts, D., 2015. Effects of baited crab pots on cultivated mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) survival rates. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 72, 1802–1810.
- Campbell, R.T., Baring, R.J., Dittmann, S., 2019. Cracking the cuisine : Invasive European shore crabs (*Carcinus maenas*) select a menu of soft-shelled mussels over cockles. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 517, 25–33.
- Camus, L., Davies, P.E., Spicer, J.I., Jones, M.B., 2004. Temperature-dependent physiological response of *Carcinus maenas* exposed to copper. Mar. Environ. Res. 58, 781–785.
- Canero, E.M., Hermitte, G., 2014. New evidence on an old question: is the "fight or flight" stage present in the cardiac and respiratory regulation of decapod crustaceans? J. Physiol. Paris 108, 174–186.
- Capelle, J.J., Scheiberlich, G., Wijsman, J.W.M., Smaal, A.C., 2016. The role of shore crabs and mussel density in mussel losses at a commercial intertidal mussel plot after seeding. Aquac. Int. 24, 1459–1472.

- Careddu, G., Calizza, E., Costantini, M.L., Rossi, L., 2017. Isotopic determination of the trophic ecology of a ubiquitous key species the crab *Liocarcinus depurator* (Brachyura: Portunidae). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 191, 106–114.
- Caro, T., 2010. Conservation by proxy: indicator, umbrella, keystone, flagship and other surrogate species. Island Press
- Carr, M.H., Neigel, J.E., Estes, J.A., Andelman, S., Warner, R.R., Largier, J.L., 2003. Comparing marine and terrestrial ecosystems: implications for the design of coastal marine reserves. Ecol. Appl. 13, 90–107.
- Carroll, J.M., Marion, J.P., Finelli, C.M., 2015. A field test of the effects of mesopredators and landscape setting on juvenile oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, consumption on intertidal reefs. Mar. Biol. 162, 993–1003.
- Castorani, M.C.N., Hovel, K.A., 2016. Native predator chemical cues induce anti-predation behaviors in an invasive marine bivalve. Biol. Invasions 18, 169–181.
- Catalán, A.M., Büchner-Miranda, J., Riedemann, B., Chaparro, O.R., Valdivia, N., Scrosati, R.A., 2021. Community-wide consequences of nonconsumptive predator effects on a foundation species. J. Anim. Ecol. 90, 1307–1316.
- Catano, L.B., Rojas, M.C., Malossi, R.J., Peters, J.R., Heithaus, M.R., Fourqurean, J.W., Burkepile, D.E., 2016. Reefscapes of fear: predation risk and reef hetero-geneity interact to shape herbivore foraging behaviour. J. Anim. Ecol. 85, 146–156.
- Caut, S., Jowers, M.J., Michel, L., Lepoint, G., Fisk, A.T., 2013. Diet-and tissue-specific incorporation of isotopes in the shark *Scyliorhinus stellaris*, a North Sea mesopredator. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 492, 185–198.

- CEFAS, 2007. Fish and fish assemblages of the British Isles, a report to Department of Trade and Industry Fish (report no. C2983)
- Chalcraft, D.R., Resetarits, W.J., 2003. Predator identity and ecological impacts: functional redundancy or functional diversity? Ecology 84, 2407–2418.
- Chamberlain, S.A., Bronstein, J.L., Rudgers, J.A., 2014. How context dependent are species interactions? Ecol. Lett. 17, 881–890.
- Christie, H., Kraufvelin, P., Kraufvelin, L., Niemi, N., Rinde, E., 2020. Disappearing blue mussels can mesopredators be blamed? Front. Mar. Sci. 7, 1–8.
- Clearwater, S.J., Pankhurst, N.W., 1997. The response to capture and confinement stress of plasma cortisol, plasma sex steroids and vitellogenic oocytes in the marine teleost, red gurnard. J. Fish Biol. 50, 429–441.
- Clinchy, M., Sheriff, M.J., Zanette, L.Y., 2013. Predator-induced stress and the ecology of fear. Funct. Ecol. 27, 56–65.
- Cohen, H., Zohar, J., Matar, M., 2003. The relevance of differential response to trauma in an animal model of posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 53, 463–473.
- Colautti, R.I., Ricciardi, A., Grigorovich, I.A., MacIsaac, H.J., 2004. Is invasion success explained by the enemy release hypothesis? Ecol. Lett. 7, 721–733.
- Commito, J.A., Rusignuolo, B.R., 2000. Structural complexity in mussel beds: the fractal geometry of surface topography. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 255, 133–152.
- Compagno, L.J. V., 1984. Scyliorhinus Stellaris. In: FAO SPECIES CATALOGUE: Sharks of the World. An Annotated and Illustrated Catalogue of Shark Species Known to Date. pp.

- Conversi, A., Dakos, V., Gårdmark, A., Ling, S., Folke, C., Mumby, P.J., Greene, C., Edwards, M., Blenckner, T., Casini, M., Pershing, A., Möllmann, C., 2015. A holistic view of marine regime shifts. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 370, 1–8.
- Cooper, W.E., 2000. Tradeoffs between predation risk and feeding in a lizard, the broadheaded skink (*Eumeces laticeps*). Behaviour 137, 1175–1189.

Corportaion, M., 2022. Microsoft Excel.

- Cortés, E., 1999. Standardized diet compositions and trophic levels of sharks. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 56, 707–717.
- Costa, G.C., 2009. Predator size, prey size, and dietary niche breadth relationships in marine predators. Ecology 90, 2014–2019.
- Cox, J.G., Lima, S.L., 2006. Naiveté and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 674–680.
- Crow, K.D., Munehara, H., Bernardi, G., 2010. Sympatric speciation in a genus of marine reef fishes. Mol. Ecol. 19, 2089–2105.
- Cuthbert, R.N., Wasserman, R.J., Dalu, T., Briski, E., 2021. Warming mediates intraspecific multiple predator effects from an invasive crustacean. Mar. Biol. 168, 1–7.
- Dalesman, S., Inchley, C.J., 2008. Interaction between olfactory and visual cues affects flight initiation and distance by the hermit crab, *Pagurus bernhardus*. Behaviour 145, 1479–1492.

Damalas, D., Sgardeli, V., Vasilakopoulos, P., Tserpes, G., Maravelias, C., 2021. Evidence of

climate-driven regime shifts in the Aegean Sea's demersal resources: a study spanning six decades. Ecol. Evol. 11, 16951–16971.

- Davic, R.D., 2003. Linking keystone species and functional groups: a new operational definition of the keystone species concept. Ecol. Soc. 7.
- Davie, P.J.F., Guinot, D., Ng, P.K.L., 2015. Anatomy and functional morphology of Brachyura. In: Treatise on Zoology - Anatomy, Taxonomy, Biology. The Crustacea, Volume 9 Part C (2 Vols). Brill, pp. 11–163.
- del Mar Palacios, M., Warren, D.T., McCormick, M.I., 2016. Sensory cues of a top-predator indirectly control a reef fish mesopredator. Oikos 125, 201–209.
- Depledge, M., 1984. Photoplethysmography—a non-invasive technique for monitoring heart beat and ventilation rate in decapod crustaceans. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Physiol. 77, 369–371.
- Dick, J.T.A., Alexander, M.E., Jeschke, J.M., Ricciardi, A., MacIsaac, H.J., Robinson, T.B.,
 Kumschick, S., Weyl, O.L.F., Dunn, A.M., Hatcher, M.J., Paterson, R.A., Farnsworth, K.D.,
 Richardson, D.M., 2014. Advancing impact prediction and hypothesis testing in invasion
 ecology using a comparative functional response approach. Biol. Invasions 16, 735–
 753.
- Dick, J.T.A., Laverty, C., Lennon, J.J., Barrios-O'Neill, D., Mensink, P.J., Robert Britton, J.,
 Médoc, V., Boets, P., Alexander, M.E., Taylor, N.G., Dunn, A.M., Hatcher, M.J.,
 Rosewarne, P.J., Crookes, S., MacIsaac, H.J., Xu, M., Ricciardi, A., Wasserman, R.J.,
 Ellender, B.R., Weyl, O.L.F., Lucy, F.E., Banks, P.B., Dodd, J.A., MacNeil, C., Penk, M.R.,
 Aldridge, D.C., Caffrey, J.M., 2017. Invader Relative Impact Potential: a new metric to

understand and predict the ecological impacts of existing, emerging and future invasive alien species. J. Appl. Ecol. 54, 1259–1267.

- Dickey, J.W.E., Cuthbert, R.N., Rea, M., Laverty, C., Crane, K., South, J., Briski, E., Chang, X., Coughlan, N.E., MacIsaac, H.J., Ricciardi, A., Riddell, G.E., Xu, M., Dick, J.T.A., 2018. Assessing the relative potential ecological impacts and invasion risks of emerging and future invasive alien species. NeoBiota 24, 1–24.
- Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Galetti, M., Ceballos, G., Isaac, N.J.B., Collen, B., 2014. Defaunation in the Anthropocene. Science (80-.). 345, 401–406.
- Drymon, J.M., Powers, S.P., Carmichael, R.H., 2012. Trophic plasticity in the Atlantic sharpnose shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) from the north central Gulf of Mexico. Environ. Biol. Fishes 95, 21–35.
- Ebert, D.A., Bizzarro, J.J., 2007. Standardized diet compositions and trophic levels of skates (Chondrichthyes: Rajiformes: Rajoidei). Environ. Biol. Fishes 80, 221–237.
- Edelaar, P., Serrano, D., Carrete, M., Blas, J., Potti, J., Tella, J.L., 2012. Tonic immobility is a measure of boldness toward predators: an application of Bayesian structural equation modeling. Behav. Ecol. 23, 619–626.
- Ellis, J.R., Cruz-Martínez, A., Rackham, B.D., Rogers, S.I., 2005. The distribution of chondrichthyan fishes around the British Isles and implications for conservation. J. Northwest Atl. Fish. Sci. 35, 195–213.

Elwood, R.W., 2012. Evidence for pain in decapod crustaceans. Anim. Welf. 21, 23–27.

Elwood, R.W., 2019a. Discrimination between nociceptive reflexes and more complex responses consistent with pain in crustaceans. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 374.

- Elwood, R.W., 2019b. Assessing the potential for pain in crustaceans and other invertebrates. In: Carere, C., Mather, J. (Eds.), The Welfare of Invertebrate Animals. Springer, pp. 147–177.
- Elwood, R.W., Barr, S., Patterson, L., 2009. Pain and stress in crustaceans? Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 118, 128–136.
- Erhard, H.W., Mendl, M., Christiansen, S.B., 1999. Individual differences in tonic immobility may reflect behavioural strategies. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 64, 31–46.
- Estes, J.A., Burdin, A., Doak, D.F., 2016. Sea otters, kelp forests, and the extinction of Steller's sea cow. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 880–885.
- Estes, J.A., Terborgh, J., Brashares, J.S., Power, M.E., Berger, J., Bond, W.J., Carpenter, S.R.,
 Essington, T.E., Holt, R.D., Jackson, J.B.C., Marquis, R.J., Oksanen, L., Oksanen, T., Paine,
 R.T., Pikitch, E.K., Ripple, W.J., Sandin, S.A., Scheffer, M., Schoener, T.W., Shurin, J.B.,
 Sinclair, A.R.E., Soulé, M.E., Virtanen, R., Wardle, D.A., 2011. Trophic downgrading of
 planet earth. Science (80-.). 333, 301–306.
- Evangelista, C., Boiche, A., Lecerf, A., Cucherousset, J., 2014. Ecological opportunities and intraspecific competition alter trophic niche specialization in an opportunistic stream predator. J. Anim. Ecol. 83, 1025–1034.
- Evans, P.G.H., 1988. Killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in British and Irish waters. Rit Fiskid. 11, 42– 54.
- Fazey, I., Salisbury, J.G., Lindenmayer, D.B., Maindonald, J., Douglas, R., 2004. Can methods applied in medicine be used to summarize and disseminate conservation research? Environ. Conserv. 31, 190–198.

- Fernández-Juricic, E., Jokimäki, J., McDonald, J.C., Melado, F., Toledano, A., Mayo, C., Martín, B., Fresneda, I., Martín, V., 2004. Effects of opportunistic predation on antipredator behavioural responses in a guild of ground foragers. Oecologia 140, 183–190.
- Ferreira, L.C., 2017. Spatial ecology of a top order marine predator, the tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*). University of Western Australia.
- Ferretti, F., Worm, B., Britten, G.L., Heithaus, M.R., Lotze, H.K., 2010. Patterns and ecosystem consequences of shark declines in the ocean. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1055–1071.

Fields, R.D., 2007. The shark's electric sense. Sci. Am. 297, 74–81.

- Fitzer, S.C., Cusack, M., Phoenix, V.R., Kamenos, N.A., 2014. Ocean acidification reduces the crystallographic control in juvenile mussel shells. J. Struct. Biol. 188, 39–45.
- Fletcher, Q.E., Boutin, S., Lane, J.E., Lamontagne, J.M., Mcadam, A.G., Krebs, C.J., Humphries, M.M., 2010. The functional response of a hoarding seed predator to mast seeding. Ecology 91, 2673–2683.
- Ford, J.K.B., Reeves, R.R., 2008. Fight or flight: antipredator strategies of baleen whales. Mamm. Rev. 38, 50–86.
- Forgan, L.G., Tuckey, N.P.L., Cook, D.G., Jerrett, A.R., 2014. Temperature effects on metabolic rate and cardiorespiratory physiology of the spiny rock lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*) during rest, emersion and recovery. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 184, 437–447.
- Fraker, M.E., Luttbeg, B., 2012. Predator-prey space use and the spatial distribution of predation events. Behaviour 149, 555–574.

Freire, J., Gonzalez Gurriaran, E., 1995. Feeding ecology of the velvet swimming crab Necora

puber in mussel raft areas of the Ria de Arousa (Galicia, NW Spain). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 119, 139–154.

- Freire, J., Sampedro, M.P., González-Gurriarán, E., 1996. Influence of morphometry and
 biomechanics on diet selection in three portunid crabs. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 137, 111–
 121.
- Freitas, R., Zhang, G.J., Albert, J.S., Evans, D.H., Cohn, M.J., 2006. Developmental origin of shark electrosensory organs. Evol. Dev. 8, 74–80.

Freyhof, J., Kottelat, M., 2008. Chelon labrosus, Thicklip Grey Mullet, IUCN Red List.

- Frid, A., Baker, G.G., Dill, L.M., 2008. Do shark declines create fear-released systems? Oikos 117, 191–201.
- Frid, A., Marliave, J., Heithaus, M.R., 2012. Interspecific variation in life history relates to antipredator decisions by marine mesopredators on temperate reefs. PLoS One 7, 1–8.
- Friedlaender, A.S., Lawson, G.L., Halpin, P.N., 2009. Evidence of resource partitioning between humpback and minke whales around the western Antarctic Peninsula. Mar. Mammal Sci. 25, 402–415.
- Fu, C., Fu, S.J., Cao, Z.D., Yuan, X.Z., 2015. Habitat-specific anti-predator behavior variation among pale chub (*Zacco platypus*) along a river. Mar. Freshw. Behav. Physiol. 48, 267– 278.
- Gabrielsen, G.W., Smith, E.N., 1995. Physiological responses of wildlife to disturbance. In: The Journal of Wildlife Management. pp. 95–107.

Gallup, G.G., 1977. Tonic immobility: the role of fear and predation. Psychol. Rec. 27, 41–61.

- Galosy, R.A., Clarke, L.K., Mitchell, J.H., 1979. Cardiac changes during behavioral stress in dogs. Am. J. Physiol. Hear. Circ. Physiol. 5.
- Garbett, A., Phillips, N.D., Houghton, J.D.R., Prodöhl, P., Thorburn, J., Loca, S.L., Eagling, L.E.,
 Hannon, G., Wise, D., Pothanikat, L., Gordon, C., Clarke, M., Williams, P., Hunter, R.,
 McShane, R., Brader, A., Dodd, J., McGonigle, C., McIlvenny, H., Daly, O., Surgenor, R.,
 Varian, S., Verhoog, P., Van Zonneveld, G., Burke, L.R., Davies, I., Souster, T.A., Mayo,
 P.A., Schwanck, T.N., Jones, C.S., Collins, P.C., 2021. The critically endangered flapper
 skate (*Dipturus intermedius*): Recommendations from the first flapper skate working
 group meeting. Mar. Policy 124, 1–5.
- Gaynor, K.M., Brown, J.S., Middleton, A.D., Power, M.E., Brashares, J.S., 2019. Landscapes of fear: spatial patterns of risk perception and response. Trends Ecol. Evol. 34, 355–368.
- Giannico, A.T., Lima, L., Lange, R.R., Froes, T.R., Montiani-Ferreira, F., 2014. Proven cardiac changes during death-feigning (tonic immobility) in rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). J.
 Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sensory, Neural, Behav. Physiol. 200, 305–310.
- Gordon, C.E., Feit, A., Grüber, J., Letnic, M., 2015. Mesopredator suppression by an apex predator alleviates the risk of predation perceived by small prey. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 282.
- Gordon, C.E., Moore, B.D., Letnic, M., 2017. Temporal and spatial trends in the abundances of an apex predator, introduced mesopredator and ground-nesting bird are consistent with the mesopredator release hypothesis. Biodivers. Conserv. 26, 1445–1462.
- Grabowski, J.H., 2004. Habitat complexity disrupts predator-prey interactions but not the trophic cascade on oyster reefs. Ecology 85, 995–1004.

160

- Green, J.A., 2011. The heart rate method for estimating metabolic rate: review and recommendations. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A 158, 287–304.
- Gregr, E.J., Christensen, V., Nichol, L., Martone, R.G., Markel, R.W., Watson, J.C., Harley, C.D.G., Pakhomov, E.A., Shurin, J.B., Chan, K.M.A., 2020. Cascading social-ecological costs and benefits triggered by a recovering keystone predator. Science (80-.). 368, 1243–1247.
- Griffen, B.D., 2006. Detecting emergent effects of multiple predator species. Oecologia 148, 702–709.
- Griffen, B.D., Delaney, D.G., 2007. Species invasion shifts the importance of predator dependence. Ecology 88, 3012–3021.
- Griffin, J.N., de la Haye, K.L., Hawkins, S.J., Thompson, R.C., Jenkins, S.R., 2008. Predaotr diversity and ecosystem fucntioning: density modifies the effect of resource partitioning. Ecology 89, 298–305.
- Groen, M., Sopinka, N.M., Marentette, J.R., Reddon, A.R., Brownscombe, J.W., Fox, M.G., Marsh-Rollo, S.E., Balshine, S., 2012. Is there a role for aggression in round goby invasion fronts? Behaviour 149, 685–703.
- Guariento, R.D., Luttbeg, B., Carneiro, L.S., Caliman, A., 2018. Prey adaptive behaviour under predation risk modify stoichiometry predictions of predator-induced stress paradigms. Funct. Ecol. 32, 1631–1643.
- Guillemot, N., Kulbicki, M., Chabanet, P., Vigliola, L., 2011. Functional redundancy patterns reveal non-random assembly rules in a species-rich marine assemblage. PLoS One 6.

Haig, J.A., Bakke, S., Bell, M.C., Bloor, I.S.M., Cohen, M., Coleman, M., Dignan, S., Kaiser,

M.J., Pantin, J.R., Roach, M., Salomonsen, H., Tully, O., 2016. Reproductive traits and factors affecting the size at maturity of *Cancer pagurus* across Northern Europe . ICES J. Mar. Sci. J. du Cons. 73, 2572–2585.

- Hammill, E., Atwood, T.B., Corvalan, P., Srivastava, D.S., 2015. Behavioural responses to predation may explain shifts in community structure. Freshw. Biol. 60, 125–135.
- Harris, S., Morris, P., Wray, S., Yalden, D., 1995. A review of British mammals: population estimates and conservation status of British mammals other than cetaceans.
- Haswell, P.M., Kusak, J., Hayward, M.W., 2017. Large carnivore impacts are contextdependent. Food Webs 12, 3–13.
- Hay, M., 2011. Crustaceans as powerful models in aquatic chemical ecology. In: Breithaupt, T., Thiel, M. (Eds.), Chemical Communication in Crustaceans. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 41–62.
- Hay, M.E., 2009. Marine chemical ecology: chemical signals and cues structure marine populations, communities, and ecosystems. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 1, 193–212.
- Hearn, A.R., 2004. Reproductive biology of the velvet swimming crab, *Necora puber* (Brachyura: Portunidae), in the Orkney Islands, UK. Sarsia 89, 318–325.
- Heck, K.L., Valentine, J.F., 2007. The primacy of top-down effects in shallow benthic ecosystems. Estuaries and Coasts 30, 371–381.
- Hein, A.M., Gillooly, J.F., 2011. Predators, prey, and transient states in the assembly of spatially structured communities. Ecology 92, 549–555.

Henderson, A.C., Dunne, J.J., 1999. Food of the lesser-spotted dogfish Scyliorhinus canicula

(L.) in Galway Bay. Irish Nat. J. 26, 191–194.

- Hertzman, A.B., Spealman, C.R., 1937. Observations on the finger volume pulse recorded photoelectrically. Am. J. Physiol. 119, 334–335.
- Heupel, M., Knip, D., Simpfendorfer, C., Dulvy, N., 2014. Sizing up the ecological role of sharks as predators. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 495, 291–298.

Hickey, K., 2003. Wolf: forgotten Irish hunter. Wild Irel. 10–13.

- Hickey, K.R., 2000. A geographical perspective on the decline and extermination of the Irish wolf *Canis lupus* an initial assessment. Irish Geogr. 33, 185–198.
- Hill, J.M., 2008. Harbour crab (*Liocarcinus depurator*), Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. (eds) Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews [online]. Plymouth.
- Hill, J.M., Weissburg, M.J., 2013. Habitat complexity and predator size mediate interactions between intraguild blue crab predators and mud crab prey in oyster reefs. Mar. Ecol.
 Prog. Ser. 488, 209–219.
- Hill, J.M., Weissburg, M.J., 2014. Crabs interpret the threat of predator body size and biomass via cue concentration and diet. Anim. Behav. 92, 117–123.
- Hines, A.H., 1982. Coexistence in a kelp forest: size, population dynamics, and resource partitioning in a guild of spider crabs (Brachyura, Majidae). Ecol. Monogr. 52, 179–198.
- Höjesjö, J., Johnsson, J.I., Axelsson, M., 1999. Behavioural and heart rate responses to food limitation and predation risk: an experimental study on rainbow trout. J. Fish Biol. 55, 1009–1019.

- Hoki, E., Losey, J., Ugine, T.A., 2014. Comparing the consumptive and non-consumptive effects of a native and introduced lady beetle on pea aphids (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*). Biol. Control 70, 78–84.
- Hölker, F., Dörner, H., Schulze, T., Haertel-Borer, S.S., Peacor, S.D., Mehner, T., 2007.
 Species-specific responses of planktivorous fish to the introduction of a new piscivore:
 implications for prey fitness. Freshw. Biol. 52, 1793–1806.
- Holling, C.S., 1973. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. In: The Future of Nature: Documents of Global Change. pp. 1–23.
- Hollings, T., Jones, M., Mooney, N., Mccallum, H., 2014. Trophic cascades following the disease-induced decline of an apex predator, the Tasmanian Devil. Conserv. Biol. 28, 63–75.
- Hourdez, S., 2018. Cardiac response of the hydrothermal vent crab *Segonzacia mesatlantica* to variable temperature and oxygen levels. Deep. Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 137, 57–65.
- Howson, C.M., Picton, B.E., 1997. The species directory of the marine fauna and flora of the British isles and surrounding seas. East 1–481.
- Hua, F., Fletcher, R.J., Sieving, K.E., Dorazio, R.M., 2013. Too risky to settle: avian community structure changes in response to perceived predation risk on adults and offspring. Proc.
 R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 280.
- Huang, C.J., Webb, H.E., Zourdos, M.C., Acevedo, E.O., 2013. Cardiovascular reactivity, stress, and physical activity. Front. Physiol. 4 NOV, 1–13.

Hughes, A.R., Grabowski, J.H., 2006. Habitat context influences predator interference

interactions and the strength of resource partitioning. Oecologia 149, 256–264.

- Hunter, E., Naylor, E., 1993. Intertidal migration by the shore crab *Carcinus maenas*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 101, 131–138.
- Hussey, N.E., MacNeil, M.A., Siple, M.C., Popp, B.N., Dudley, S.F.J., Fisk, A.T., 2015. Expanded trophic complexity among large sharks. Food Webs 4, 1–7.
- Infantes, E., Crouzy, C., Moksnes, P.O., 2016. Seed predation by the shore crab *Carcinus maenas*: a positive feedback preventing eelgrass recovery? PLoS One 11, 1–19.
- Ingerslew, K.S., Finke, D.L., 2018. Multi-species suppression of herbivores through consumptive and non-consumptive effects. PLoS One 13, 1–17.

Inns, H., 2011. Britain's reptiles and amphibians. Princeton University Press.

- Jachowski, D.S., Butler, A., Eng, R.Y.Y., Gigliotti, L., Harris, S., Williams, A., 2020. Identifying mesopredator release in multi-predator systems: a review of evidence from North America. Mamm. Rev. 50, 367–381.
- Jaksic, F.M., 2003. How much functional redundancy is out there, or, are we willing to do away with potential backup species? Ecol. Stud. 162, 255–262.
- Jeschke, J.M., Kopp, M., Tollrian, R., 2004. Consumer-food systems: why type I functional responses are exclusive to filter feeders. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 79, 337–349.
- Jin, W., Bai, Z., Fu, L., Zhang, G., Li, J., 2012. Genetic analysis of early growth traits of the triangle shell mussel, *Hyriopsis Cumingii*, as an insight for potential genetic improvement to pearl quality and yield. Aquac. Int. 20, 927–933.

Johnsson, J.I., Höjesjö, J., Fleming, I.A., 2001. Behavioural and heart rate responses to

predation risk in wild and domesticated Atlantic salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58, 788–794.

- Joyce, P.W.S., Dickey, J.W.E., Cuthbert, R.N., Dick, J.T.A., Kregting, L., 2019. Using functional responses and prey switching to quantify invasion success of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. Mar. Environ. Res. 145, 66–72.
- Juliano, S.A., 2001. Nonlinear curve fitting: predation and functional response curves. In: Cheiner, S.M., Gurven, J. (Eds.), Design and Analysis of Ecological Experiments. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Kalmijn, A.J., 1982. Electric and magnetic field detection in elasmobranch fishes. Science (80-.). 218, 916–918.
- Kamenos, N.A., Calosi, P., Moore, P.G., 2006. Substratum-mediated heart rate responses of an invertebrate to predation threat. Anim. Behav. 71, 809–813.
- Kamermans, P., Blankendaal, M., Perdon, J., 2009. Predation of shore crabs (*Carcinus maenas* (L.)) and starfish (*Asterias rubens* L.) on blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis* L.) seed from wild sources and spat collectors. Aquaculture 290, 256–262.
- Kautsky, N., 1982. Quantitative studies on gonad cycle, fecundity, reproductive output and recruitment in a baltic *Mytilus edulis* population. Mar. Biol. 68, 143–160.
- Kelley, J.L., Magurran, A.E., 2003. Learned predator recognition and antipredator responses in fishes. Fish Fish. 4, 216–226.
- Kent, F.E.A., Gray, M.J., Last, K.S., Sanderson, W.G., 2016. Horse mussel reef ecosystem services: evidence for a whelk nursery habitat supporting a shellfishery. Int. J.
 Biodivers. Sci. Ecosyst. Serv. Manag. 12, 172–180.

- Keogh, M.J., Gastaldi, A., Charapata, P., Melin, S., Fadely, B.S., 2020. Stress-related and
 reproductive hormones in hair from three north Pacific otariid species: Steller sea lions,
 California sea lions and northern fur seals. Conserv. Physiol. 8, 1–13.
- Ketley, H., 2021. The NHBS guide to UK owl identification [WWW Document]. Natl. Hist. B. Serv. URL https://www.nhbs.com/blog/the-nhbs-guide-to-uk-owl-identification (accessed 3.19.22).
- King, A.J., Adamo, S.A., 2006. The ventilatory, cardiac and behavioural responses of resting cuttlefish (*Sepia officinalis* L.) to sudden visual stimuli. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 1101–1111.
- Kiszka, J.J., Aubail, A., Hussey, N.E., Heithaus, M.R., Caurant, F., Bustamante, P., 2015.
 Plasticity of trophic interactions among sharks from the oceanic south-western Indian
 Ocean revealed by stable isotope and mercury analyses. Deep. Res. Part I Oceanogr.
 Res. Pap. 96, 49–58.
- Klages, J., Broad, A., Kelaher, B.P., Davis, A.R., 2014. The influence of gummy sharks, *Mustelus antarcticus*, on observed fish assemblage structure. Environ. Biol. Fishes 97, 215–222.
- Kousteni, V., Karachle, P.K., Megalofonou, P., 2017. Diet of the small-spotted catshark Scyliorhinus canicula in the Aegean Sea (eastern Mediterranean). Mar. Biol. Res. 13, 161–173.
- Kramer, K.L., Heck, K.L., 2007. Top-down trophic shifts in Florida Keys patch reef marine protected areas. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 349, 111–123.
- Kristensen, L.D., Stenberg, C., Støttrup, J.G., Poulsen, L.K., Christensen, H.T., Dolmer, P., Landes, A., Røjbek, M., THorsen, S.W., Holmer, M., Deurs, M. v., Grønkjaer, P., 2015.

Establishment of blue mussel beds to enhance fish habitats. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 13, 753–767.

- Krofel, M., Giannatos, G., Cirovic, D., Stoyanov, S., Newsome, T.M., 2017. Golden jackal expansion in Europe: a case of mesopredator release triggered by continent-wide wolf persecution? Hystrix 28.
- Kulp, R.E., Peterson, B.J., 2016. Evaluating the impact of mesopredators on oyster restoration in the New York metropolitan region. J. Shellfish Res. 35, 801–807.
- Kunert, G., Weisser, W.W., 2003. The interplay between density- and trait-mediated effects in predator-prey interactions: a case study in aphid wing polymorphism. Oecologia 135, 304–312.
- Lapoint, S.D., Belant, J.L., Kays, R.W., 2015. Mesopredator release facilitates range expansion in fisher. Anim. Conserv. 18, 50–61.
- Laske, T.G., Garshelis, D.L., Iles, T.L., Iaizzo, P.A., 2021. An engineering perspective on the development and evolution of implantable cardiac monitors in free-living animals. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 376.
- Laundré, J.W., Hernández, L., Altendorf, K.B., 2001. Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, U.S.A. Can. J. Zool. 79, 1401– 1409.
- Laundré, J.W., Hernandez, L., Ripple, W.J., 2010. The landscape of fear: ecological implications of being afraid. Open Ecol. J. 3, 1–7.
- Lavalli, K., Spanier, E., 2016. Predator adaptations of decapods. Lifestyles Feed. Biol. Ed. By Martin Thiel Les Watling. © 2015 Oxford Univ. Press. Publ. 2015 by Oxford Univ. Press

- Lawton, J.H., Brown, V.K., 1994. Redundancy in ecosystems. In: Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function. pp. 255–270.
- Lee, S.Y., Seed, R., 1992. Ecological implications of cheliped size in crabs: some data from *Carcinus maenas* and *Liocarcinus holsatus*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 84, 151–160.
- Lehtiniemi, M., 2005. Swim or hide: predator cues cause species specific reactions in young fish larvae. J. Fish Biol. 66, 1285–1299.
- Leignel, V., Stillman, J.H., Baringou, S., Thabet, R., Metais, I., 2014. Overview on the European green crab *Carcinus* spp. (Portunidae, Decapoda), one of the most famous marine invaders and ecotoxicological models. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 9129–9144.
- Leonard, S.A., Risley, C.L., Turvey, S.T., 2013. Could brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) have survived in Ireland during the last glacial maximum? Biol. Lett. 9.
- Letnic, M., Crowther, M.S., Koch, F., 2009. Does a top-predator provide an endangered rodent with refuge from an invasive mesopredator? Anim. Conserv. 12, 302–312.
- Letnic, M., Dworjanyn, S.A., 2011. Does a top predator reduce the predatory impact of an invasive mesopredator on an endangered rodent? Ecography (Cop.). 34, 827–835.
- Letnic, M., Greenville, A., Denny, E., Dickman, C.R., Tischler, M., Gordon, C., Koch, F., 2011. Does a top predator suppress the abundance of an invasive mesopredator at a continental scale? Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 343–353.
- Li, H., Listeman, L.R., Doshi, D., Cooper, R.L., 2000. Heart rate measures in blind cave crayfish during environmental disturbances and social interactions. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A

Mol. Integr. Physiol. 127, 55–70.

- Lieber, L., Berrow, S., Johnston, E., Hall, G., Hall, J., Gubili, C., Sims, D.W., Jones, C.S., Noble, L.R., 2013. Mucus: Aiding elasmobranch conservation through non-invasive genetic sampling. Endanger. Species Res. 21, 215–222.
- Liu, D., Guo, X., Zhong, D., Wang, F., Li, L., Hu, N., 2018. Prey density and a conspecific competitor influence multiple predator effects in a crab clam foraging system. Aquaculture 493, 264–271.
- Liu, S., Behm, J.E., Chen, J., Fu, S., He, X., Hu, J., Schaefer, D., Gan, J., Yang, X., 2016. Functional redundancy dampens the trophic cascade effect of a web-building spider in a tropical forest floor. Soil Biol. Biochem. 98, 22–29.
- Lohrer, A.M., Whitlatch, R.B., 2002. Relative impacts of two exotic brachyuran species on blue mussel populations in Long Island Sound. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 227, 135–144.
- Long, W.C., Whitefleet-Smith, L., 2013. Cannibalism in red king crab: habitat, ontogeny, and the predator functional response. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 449, 142–148.
- Loseto, L.L., Pleskach, K., Hoover, C., Tomy, G.T., Desforges, J.-P., Halldorson, T., Ross, P.S., 2017. Cortisol levels in beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas): Setting a benchmark for Marine Protected Area monitoring. Arct. Sci. 372, 358–372.
- Lynam, C.P., Llope, M., Möllmann, C., Helaouët, P., Bayliss-Brown, G.A., Stenseth, N.C., 2017. Interaction between top-down and bottom-up control in marine food webs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114, 1952–1957.
- Lynch, B.R., Rochete, R., 2007. Circatidal rhythm of free-roaming sub-tidal green crabs, revealed by radio-acoustic positional telemetry. Crustaceana 80, 345–355.

- Machado, R., De Oliveira, L.R., Ott, P.H., Haimovici, M., Cardoso, L.G., Milmann, L., Romero, M.A., Dos Santos, R.A., Borges-Martins, M., 2020. Trophic overlap between marine mammals and fisheries in subtropical waters in the western South Atlantic. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 639, 215–232.
- Macreadie, P.I., Geraldi, N.R., Peterson, C.H., 2012. Preference for feeding at habitat edges declines among juvenile blue crabs as oyster reef patchiness increases and predation risk grows. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 466, 145–153.
- MacReadie, P.I., Geraldi, N.R., Peterson, C.H., 2011. How small-scale variation in oyster reef patchiness influences predation on bivalves. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 429, 87–91.
- Madin, E.M.P., Dill, L.M., Ridlon, A.D., Heithaus, M.R., Warner, R.R., 2016. Human activities change marine ecosystems by altering predation risk. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 44–60.
- Magurran, A.E., Seghers, B.H., Carvalho, G.R., Shaw, P.W., 1993. Evolution of adaptive variation in antipredator behaviour. Mar. Behav. Physiol. 23, 29–44.
- Martinho, F., Sá, C., Falcão, J., Cabral, H.N., Pardal, M.Â., 2012. Comparative feeding ecology of two elasmobranch species, *Squalus blainville* and *Scyliorhinus canicula*, off the coast of Portugal. Fish. Bull. 110, 71–84.
- Mascaró, M., Seed, R., 2001. Foraging behavior of juvenile *Carcinus maenas* (L.) and *Cancer pagurus* (L.) Mar. Biol. 139, 1135–1145.
- Matassa, C.M., Trussel, G.C., 2011. Landscape of fear influences the relative importance of consumptive and nonconsumptive predator effects. Ecology 92, 2258–2266.
- Matich, P., Kiszka, J.J., Gastrich, K.R., Heithaus, M.R., 2017. Trophic redundancy among fishes in an East African nearshore seagrass community inferred from stable-isotope

analysis. J. Fish Biol. 91, 490–509.

- Maus, B., Gutsfeld, S., Pörtner, H.O., Bock, C., 2019. Non-invasive quantification of cardiac stroke volume in the edible crab *Cancer pagurus*. Front. Zool. 16, 1–15.
- McArthur, C., Banks, P.B., Boonstra, R., Forbey, J.S., 2014. The dilemma of foraging herbivores: dealing with food and fear. Oecologia 176, 677–689.
- McCauley, D.J., Pinsky, M.L., Palumbi, S.R., Estes, J.A., Joyce, F.H., Warner, R.R., 2015. Marine defaunation: animal loss in the global ocean. Science (80-.). 347.
- McCully Phillips, S.R., Grant, A., Ellis, J.R., 2020. Diet composition of starry smooth-hound *Mustelus asterias* and methodological considerations for assessing the trophic level of predatory fish. J. Fish Biol. 96, 590–600.
- McGaw, I.J., 2002. The circulatory system of decapod crustaceans and its functional role in cardiovascular dynamics. Microsc. Microanal. 8, 230–231.
- McGaw, I.J., 2005. The decapod crustacean circulatory system: a case that is neither open nor closed. Microsc. Microanal. 11, 18–36.
- McGaw, I.J., Steell, S.C., Van Leeuwen, T.E., Eliason, E.J., Cooke, S.J., 2018. Application of miniature heart rate data loggers for use in large free-moving decapod crustaceans: method development and validation. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 91, 731–739.
- McInerny, C.J., Musgrove, A.J., Stoddart, A., Harrop, A.H.J., Dudley, S.P., Balmer, D., Brown,
 A., Collinson, M., French, P., Gilroy, J., Lees, A., Millington, R., Rowlands, A., Steele, J.,
 2018. The British List: a checklist of birds of Britain (9th edition). Ibis (Lond. 1859). 160,
 190–240.

McIntosh, A.R., Peckarsky, B.L., Taylor, B.W., 2004. Predator-induced resource heterogeneity in a stream food web. Ecology 85, 2279–2290.

McKeown, R., 2020. Strangford Lough SAC Conservation Objectives. Belfast.

- Melzner, F., Stange, P., Trübenbach, K., Thomsen, J., Casties, I., Panknin, U., Gorb, S.N., Gutowska, M.A., 2011. Food supply and seawater pCO 2 impact calcification and internal shell dissolution in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. PLoS One 6.
- Menge, B.A., 1995. Indirect effects in marine rocky intertidal interaction webs: patterns and importance. Ecol. Monogr. 65, 21–74.
- Miller, B.J., Harlow, H.J., Harlow, T.S., Biggins, D., Ripple, W.J., 2012. Trophic cascades linking wolves (*Canis lupus*), coyotes (*Canis latrans*), and small mammals. Can. J. Zool. 90, 70–78.
- Miller, J.R.B., Ament, J.M., Schmitz, O.J., 2014. Fear on the move: predator hunting mode predicts variation in prey mortality and plasticity in prey spatial response. J. Anim. Ecol. 83, 214–222.
- Mills, L.S., Doak, D.F., 1993. The keystone-species concept in ecology and conservation. Bioscience 43, 219–224.
- Mohaghegh, De Clercq, Tirry, 2001. Functional response of the predators *Podisus maculiventris* (Say) and *Podisus nigrispinus* (Dallas) (Het., Pentatomidae) to the beet armyworm, *Spodoptera exigua* (Hübner) (Lep., Noctuidae): effect of temperature. J. Appl. Entomol. 125, 131–134.
- Morato, T., Solà, E., Grós, M.P., Menezes, G., 2003. Diets of thornback ray (*Raja clavata*) and tope shark (*Galeorhinus galeus*) in the bottom longline fishery of the Azores,

173

northeastern Atlantic. Fish. Bull. 101, 590–602.

- Möstl, E., Palme, R., 2002. Hormones as indicators of stress. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 23, 67–74.
- Myers, R.A., Baum, J.K., Sheperd, T.D., Powers, S.P., Peterson, C.H., 2007. Cascading effects of the loss of apex predatory sharks from a coastal ocean. Science (80-.). 1846–1850.
- Naczk, M., Williams, J., Brennan, K., Liyanapathirana, C., Shahidi, F., 2004. Compositional characteristics of green crab (*Carcinus maenas*). Food Chem. 88, 429–434.
- Naeem, S., Li, S., 1997. Biodiversity enhances ecosystem reliability. Nature 390, 507–509.
- Naman, S.M., Ueda, R., Sato, T., 2019. Predation risk and resource abundance mediate foraging behaviour and intraspecific resource partitioning among consumers in dominance hierarchies. Oikos 128, 1005–1014.
- Navarro-González, J., Bohórquez-Herrera, J., Navia, A., Cruz-Escalona, V., 2012. Diet composition of batoids on the continental shelf off Nayarit and Sinaloa, Mexico. Ciencias Mar. 38, 347–362.
- Navia, A.F., Mejía-Falla, P.A., López-García, J., Giraldo, A., Cruz-Escalona, V.H., 2017. How many trophic roles can elasmobranchs play in a marine tropical network? Mar. Freshw. Res. 68, 1342–1353.
- Neal, K., Pizzolla, P., 2008. Common shore crab (*Carcinus maenas*), Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. (eds) Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews, [on-line]. Plymouth.

Newsome, T.M., Greenville, A.C., Ćirović, D., Dickman, C.R., Johnson, C.N., Krofel, M., Letnic,

M., Ripple, W.J., Ritchie, E.G., Stoyanov, S., Wirsing, A.J., 2017. Top predators constrain mesopredator distributions. Nat. Commun. 8, 1–7.

NIEA, 2010. Northern Ireland Prioirty Species List. Belfast.

- Nifong, J.C., Silliman, B.R., 2013. Impacts of a large-bodied, apex predator (*Alligator mississippiensis* Daudin 1801) on salt marsh food webs. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 440, 185–191.
- Norling, P., Kautsky, N., 2007. Structural and functional effects of *Mytilus edulis* on diversity of associated species and ecosystem functioning. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 351, 163–175.
- O'Brien, T.J., Dunlap, W.P., 1975. Tonic immobility in the blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus*, Rathbun) its relation to threat of predation. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 89, 86–94.
- O'Connor, M.P., Kemp, S.J., Agosta, S.J., Hansen, F., Sieg, A.E., Wallace, B.P., McNair, J.N., Dunham, A.E., 2007. Reconsidering the mechanistic basis of the metabolic theory of ecology. Oikos 116, 1058–1072.
- O'Connor, N.E., Emmerson, M.C., Crowe, T.P., Donohue, I., 2013. Distinguishing between direct and indirect effects of predators in complex ecosystems. J. Anim. Ecol. 82, 438–448.
- Oaten, A., Murdoch, W.W., 1975. Functional response and stability in predator-prey systems. Am. Nat. 109, 289–298.
- Okaniwa, N., Miyaji, T., Sasaki, T., Tanabe, K., 2010. Shell growth and reproductive cycle of the mediterranean mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* in Tokyo Bay, Japan: relationship with environmental conditions. Plankt. Benthos Res. 5, 214–220.

- Öndes, F., Kaiser, M.J., Murray, L.G., 2017. Relative growth and size at onset of sexual maturity of the brown crab, *Cancer pagurus* in the Isle of Man, Irish Sea. Mar. Biol. Res. 13, 237–245.
- Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C.L., Kyne, P.M., Sherley, R.B., Winker, H., Carlson, J.K., Fordham, S. V.,
 Barreto, R., Fernando, D., Francis, M.P., Jabado, R.W., Herman, K.B., Liu, K.M., Marshall,
 A.D., Pollom, R.A., Romanov, E. V., Simpfendorfer, C.A., Yin, J.S., Kindsvater, H.K., Dulvy,
 N.K., 2021. Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays. Nature 589, 567–
 571.
- Paine, R., 1969. A note on trophic complexity and community stability. Am. Nat. 103, 91–93.
- Paine, R.T., 1995. A conversation on refining the concept of keystone species, Conservation Biology.
- Palomare, M.L.D., Sa-a, P., 2008. *Raja clavata* (Linnaeus 1758) Thornback Ray [WWW Document]. FishBase. URL https://www.fishbase.in/summary/Raja-clavata.html (accessed 1.20.22).
- Parente, J., 2018. *Scyliorhinus Stellaris* ARTStation [WWW Document]. ARTStation. URL https://www.artstation.com/artwork/eWb2D
- Pautsina, A., Kuklina, I., Štys, D., Císař, P., Kozák, P., 2014. Noninvasive crayfish cardiac activity monitoring system. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 12, 670–679.
- Pintor, L.M., Sih, A., Kerby, J.L., 2009. Behavioral correlations provide a mechanism for explaining high invader densities and increased impacts on native prey. Ecology 90, 581–587.

Plass-Johnson, J.G., McQuaid, C.D., Porri, F., 2010. Top-down effects on intertidal mussel

populations: assessing two predator guilds in a South African marine protected area. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 411, 149–159.

- Platell, M.E., Potter, I.C., Clarke, K.R., 1998. Resource partitioning by four species of elasmobranchs (Batoidea: Urolophidae) in coastal waters of temperate Australia. Mar.
 Biol. 131, 719–734.
- Post, D.M., Conners, M.E., Goldberg, D.S., 2000. Prey preference by a top predator and the stability of linked food chains. Ecology 81, 8–14.
- Prado, P., Peñas, A., Ibáñez, C., Cabanes, P., Jornet, L., Álvarez, N., Caiola, N., 2020. Prey size and species preferences in the invasive blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*: potential effects in marine and freshwater ecosystems. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 245.
- Preisser, E.L., Bolnick, D.I., Benard, M.E., 2005. Scared to death? the effects of intimidation and consumption in predator-prey interactions. Ecology 86, 501–509.
- Prugh, L.R., Stoner, C.J., Epps, C.W., Bean, W.T., Ripple, W.J., Laliberte, A.S., Brashares, J.S., 2009. The rise of the mesopredator. Bioscience 59, 779–791.

R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.

Rao, T.R., 2018. Trophic Cascades. Resonance 1205–1213.

- Ratcliffe, N., Adlard, S., Stowasser, G., McGill, R., 2018. Dietary divergence is associated with increased intra-specific competition in a marine predator. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–10.
- Reiber, C.L., McGaw, I.J., 2009. A review of the open and closed circulatory systems: new terminology for complex invertebrate circulatory systems in light of current findings. Int. J. Zool.

- Reimer, O., Tedengren, M., 1997. Predator-induced changes in byssal attachment,
 aggregation and migration in the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Freshw. Behav.
 Physiol. 30, 251–266.
- Rhoades, O.K., Best, R.J., Stachowicz, J.J., 2018. Assessing feeding preferences of a consumer guild: partitioning variation among versus within species. Am. Nat. 192, 287–300.
- Rich, L.N., Mitchell, M.S., Gude, J.A., Sime, C.A., 2012. Anthropogenic mortality, intraspecific competition, and prey availability influence territory sizes of wolves in Montana. J.
 Mammal. 93, 722–731.
- Ritchie, E.G., Elmhagen, B., Glen, A.S., Letnic, M., Ludwig, G., McDonald, R.A., 2012. Ecosystem restoration with teeth: what role for predators? Trends Ecol. Evol. 27, 265– 271.
- Ritchie, E.G., Johnson, C.N., 2009. Predator interactions, mesopredator release and biodiversity conservation. Ecol. Lett. 12, 982–998.
- Robbins, W.D., Hisano, M., Connolly, S.R., Choat, J.H., 2006. Ongoing collapse of coral-reef shark populations. Curr. Biol. 16, 2314–2319.
- Robinson, A.M., 2018. Let's talk about stress: history of stress research. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 22, 334–342.
- Rodriguez, N.J.I., 2017. A comparative analysis of holistic marine management regimes and ecosystem approach in marine spatial planning in developed countries. Ocean Coast. Manag. 137, 185–197.
- Roff, G., Doropoulos, C., Rogers, A., Bozec, Y.M., Krueck, N.C., Aurellado, E., Priest, M., Birrell, C., Mumby, P.J., 2016. The ecological role of sharks on coral reefs. Trends Ecol.
Evol. 31, 395-407.

Rosen, E., Schwarz, B., Palmer, A.R., 2009. Smelling the difference: hermit crab responses to predatory and nonpredatory crabs. Anim. Behav. 78, 691–695.

Rosenfeld, J.S., 2002. Functional redundancy in ecology and conservation. Oikos 98.

- Ross, S.T., 1986. Resource partitioning in fish assemblages : a review of field studies. Copeia 2, 352–388.
- Rovero, F., Hughes, R.N., Chelazzi, G., 1999. Cardiac and behavioural responses of mussels to risk of predation by dogwhelks. Anim. Behav. 58, 707–714.
- Rudnicki, K., 2018. Causes of trends in abundance of mesopredators in the Kattegat Sea. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Sa-a, P., Palomare, M.L.D., Pauly, D., 2008. *Scyliorhinus stellaris* (Linnaeus, 1758) Nursehound [WWW Document]. FishBase. URL https://www.fishbase.se/summary/Scyliorhinus-stellaris#:~:text=Trophic level (Ref.,Resilience (Ref.)
- Saier, B., 2002. Subtidal and intertidal mussel beds (*Mytilus edulis* L.) in the Wadden Sea: diversity differences of associated epifauna. Helgol. Mar. Res. 56, 44–50.
- Sanders, D., Thébault, E., Kehoe, R., Frank van Veen, F.J., 2018. Trophic redundancy reduces vulnerability to extinction cascades. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, 2419–2424.
- Šantić, M., Rađa, B., Pallaoro, A., 2012. Diet and feeding strategy of thornback ray *Raja clavata*. J. Fish Biol. 81, 1070–1084.

Saporiti, F., Bearhop, S., Vales, D.G., Silva, L., Zenteno, L., Tavares, M., Crespo, E.A., Cardona,

L., 2016. Resource partitioning among air-breathing marine predators: are body size and mouth diameter the major determinants? Mar. Ecol. 37, 957–969.

- Sasaki, T., Furukawa, T., Iwasaki, Y., Seto, M., Mori, A.S., 2015. Perspectives for ecosystem management based on ecosystem resilience and ecological thresholds against multiple and stochastic disturbances. Ecol. Indic. 57, 395–408.
- Schaal, G., Riera, P., Leroux, C., 2010. Trophic ecology in a Northern Brittany (Batz Island, France) kelp (*Laminaria digitata*) forest, as investigated through stable isotopes and chemical assays. J. Sea Res. 63, 24–35.
- Schmidt, K., Kuijper, D.P.J., 2015. A "death trap" in the landscape of fear. Mammal Res. 60, 275–284.
- Schmitz, O.J., Hawlena, D., Trussell, G.C., 2010. Predator control of ecosystem nutrient dynamics. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1199–1209.
- Schradin, C., Schmohl, G., Rödel, H.G., Schoepf, I., Treffler, S.M., Brenner, J., Bleeker, M., Schubert, M., König, B., Pillay, N., 2010. Female home range size is regulated by resource distribution and intraspecific competition: a long-term field study. Anim. Behav. 79, 195–203.
- Schröder, A., Kalinkat, G., Arlinghaus, R., 2016. Individual variation in functional response parameters is explained by body size but not by behavioural types in a poeciliid fish. Oecologia 182, 1129–1140.
- Seed, R., 1969. The ecology of *Mytilus edulis* L. (Lamellibranchiata) on exposed rocky shores - I. Breeding and settlement. Oecologia 3, 277–316.

Seitz, R.D., Lipcius, R.N., 2001. Variation in top-down and bottom-up control of marine

bivalves at differing spatial scales. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 58, 689–699.

- Sergio, F., Caro, T., Brown, D., Clucas, B., Hunter, J., Ketchum, J., McHugh, K., Hiraldo, F., 2008. Top predators as conservation tools: ecological rationale, assumptions, and efficacy. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 39, 1–19.
- Sgoifo, A., Koolhaas, J., De Boer, S., Musso, E., Stilli, D., Buwalda, B., Meerlo, P., 1999. Social stress, autonomic neural activation, and cardiac activity in rats. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 23, 915–923.
- Sharma, C.M., Borgstrøm, R., 2008. Shift in density, habitat use, and diet of perch and roach: an effect of changed predation pressure after manipulation of pike. Fish. Res. 91, 98– 106.
- Shaw, A., 2013. Dietary niche overlap of an estuarine predatory fish community in South Carolina assessed by stable isotope analysis. ProQuest. The College of Charleston.
- Shears, N.T., Babcock, R.C., 2002. Marine reserves demonstrate top-down control of community structure on temperate reefs. Oecologia 132, 131–142.
- Sheriff, M.J., Thaler, J.S., 2014. Ecophysiological effects of predation risk; an integration across disciplines. Oecologia 176, 607–611.
- Short, J., Kinnear, J.E., Robley, A., 2002. Surplus killing by introduced predators in Australia evidence for ineffective anti-predator adaptations in native prey species? Biol. Conserv.
 103, 283–301.
- Shuranova, Z.P., Burmistrov, Y.M., Strawn, J.R., Cooper, R.L., 2006. Evidence for an autonomic nervous system in decapod crustaceans. Int. J. Zool. Res. 2, 242–283.

- Shurin, J.B., Borer, E.T., Seabloom, E.W., Anderson, K., Blanchette, C.A., Broitman, B., Cooper, S.D., Halpern, B.S., 2002. A cross-ecosystem comparison of the strength of trophic cascades. Ecol. Lett. 5, 785–791.
- Sieben, K., Ljunggren, L., Bergström, U., Eriksson, B.K., 2011. A meso-predator release of stickleback promotes recruitment of macroalgae in the Baltic Sea. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 397, 79–84.
- Sih, A., 2005. Predator-prey space use as an emergent outcome of a behavioral response race. Ecol. Predator-Prey Interact. 240–255.
- Sih, A., Bolnick, D.I., Luttbeg, B., Orrock, J.L., Peacor, S.D., Pintor, L.M., Preisser, E., Rehage, J.S., Vonesh, J.R., 2010. Predator-prey naïveté, antipredator behavior, and the ecology of predator invasions. Oikos 119, 610–621.
- Sih, A., Englund, G., Wooster, D., 1998. Emergent impacts of multiple predators on prey. Trends Ecol. Evol. 13, 350–355.
- Silva, A.C.F., Hawkins, S.J., Boaventura, D.M., Brewster, E., Thompson, R.C., 2010. Use of the intertidal zone by mobile predators: influence of wave exposure, tidal phase and elevation on abundance and diet. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 406, 197–210.
- Simberloff, D., Dayan, T., 1991. The guild concept and the structure of ecological communities. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 22, 115–143.
- Sivy, K.J., Pozzanghera, C.B., Colson, K.E., Mumma, M.A., Prugh, L.R., 2018. Apex predators and the facilitation of resource partitioning among mesopredators. Oikos 127, 607– 621.
- Slos, S., Stoks, R., 2008. Predation risk induces stress proteins and reduces antioxidant

defense. Funct. Ecol. 22, 637–642.

- Smallegange, I.M., Van Der Meer, J., 2003. Why do shore crabs not prefer the most profitable mussels? J. Anim. Ecol. 72, 599–607.
- Smith, F.A., Smith, R.E.E., Lyons, S.K., Payne, J.L., 2018. Body size downgrading of mammals over the late Quaternary. Science (80-.). 360, 310–313.
- Smith, J.E., Hunter, C.L., Smith, C.M., 2010. The effects of top-down versus bottom-up control on benthic coral reef community structure. Oecologia 163, 497–507.
- Smith, J.G., Tomoleoni, J., Staedler, M., Lyon, S., Fujii, J., Tinker, M.T., 2021. Behavioral responses across a mosaic of ecosystem states restructure a sea otter-urchin trophic cascade. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 118, 1–7.
- Smith, M., Warmolts, D., Thoney, D., Hueter, R., Murray, M., Ezcurra, J., 2017. The Elasmobranch husbandry manual II - Recent advances in the care of sharks, rays and their relatives, Ohio Biological Survey.
- Smith, S.E., Rasmussen, R.C., Ramon, D.A., Cailliet, G.M., 2008. The biology and ecology of thresher sharks (Alopiidae). In: Camhi, M.D., Pikitch, E.K., Babcock, E.A. (Eds.), Sharks of the Open Ocean: Biology, Fisheries and Conservation. pp. 60–68.
- Snowden, E., 2008. Thornback Ray (*Raja clavata*), Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. (eds) Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews [online]. Plymouth.
- Sokol-Hessner, L., Schmitz, O.J., 2002. Aggregate effects of multiple predator species on a shared prey. Ecology 83, 2367–2372.

- Sponaugle, S., Lawton, P., 1990. Portunid crab predation on juvenile hard clams: effects of substrate type and prey density. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 67, 43–53.
- Steele, J., Carpenter, S., Cohen, J., Dayton, P., Ricklefs, R., 1989. Comparison of terrestrial and marine ecological systems report of a workshop held in Santa Fe, New Mexico Prepared by the Steering Committee : Nature.
- Stier, A.C., Samhouri, J.F., Novak, M., Marshall, K.N., Ward, E.J., Holt, R.D., Levin, P.S., 2016. Ecosystem context and historical contingency in apex predator recoveries. Sci. Adv. 2, 1–14.
- Strain, E.M.A., Allcock, A.L., Goodwin, C.E., Maggs, C.A., Picton, B.E., Roberts, D., 2012. The long-term impacts of fisheries on epifaunal assemblage function and structure, in a Special Area of Conservation. J. Sea Res. 67, 58–68.
- Styrishave, B., Andersen, O., Depledge, M.H., 2003. In situ monitoring of heart rates in shore crabs *Carcinus maenas* in two tidal estuaries: effects of physico-chemical parameters on tidal and diel rhythms. Mar. Freshw. Behav. Physiol. 36, 161–175.
- Suarez, A. V., Tsutsui, N.D., Holway, D.A., Case, T.J., 1999. Behavioral and genetic differentiation between native and introduced populations of the Argentine ant. Biol. Invasions 1, 43–53.
- Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Dill, L.M., Roberts, D., Zanette, L.Y., 2016. Fear of large carnivores causes a trophic cascade. Nat. Commun. 7, 10698.
- Svanbäck, R., Bolnick, D.I., 2005. Intraspecific competition affects the strength of individual specialization: an optimal diet theory method. Evol. Ecol. Res. 7, 993–1012.

Takeda, S., 2010. Habitat partitioning between prey soldier crab Mictyris brevidactylus and

184

predator fiddler crab Uca perplexa. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 390, 160–168.

- Tanner, C.J., Salal, G.D., Jackson, A.L., 2011. Feeding and non-feeding aggression can be induced in invasive shore crabs by altering food distribution. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 249–256.
- Tepolt, C.K., Somero, G.N., 2014. Master of all trades: thermal acclimation and adaptation of cardiac function in a broadly distributed marine invasive species, the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 1129–1138.
- Terborgh, J., Davenport, L., 2020. Mobile piscivores and the nature of top-down forcing in Upper Amazonian floodplain lakes. Hydrobiologia.
- Tilley, A., López-Angarita, J., Turner, J.R., 2013. Diet reconstruction and resource partitioning of a Caribbean marine mesopredator using stable isotope Bayesian modelling. PLoS One 8, 1–10.
- Todd, P.A., Briers, R.A., Ladle, R.J., Middleton, F., 2006. Phenotype-environment matching in the shore crab (*Carcinus maenas*). Mar. Biol. 148, 1357–1367.
- Trussell, G.C., Ewanchuk, P.J., Matassa, C.M., 2006a. The fear of being eaten reduces energy transfer in a simple food chain. Ecology 87, 2979–2984.
- Trussell, G.C., Ewanchuk, P.J., Matassa, C.M., 2006b. Habitat effects on the relative importance of trait- and density-mediated indirect interactions. Ecol. Lett. 9, 1245–1252.
- Turesson, H., Satta, A., Domenici, P., 2009. Preparing for escape: Anti-predator posture and fast-start performance in gobies. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 2925–2933.

- Tylianakis, J.M., Rand, T.A., Kahmen, A., Klein, A.M., Buchmann, N., Perner, J., Tscharntke, T., 2008. Resource heterogeneity moderates the biodiversity-function relationship in real world ecosystems. PLoS Biol. 6, 0947–0956.
- Ulanowicz, R.E., 2018. Biodiversity, functional redundancy and system stability: subtle connections. J. R. Soc. Interface 15.
- Ulster Wildlife Trust, 2012. Ulster Wildlife Trust Briefing : January 2012 Horse mussels and Strangford Lough. Strangford Lough Campaign 2011.
- Valls, M., Rueda, L., Quetglas, A., 2017. Feeding strategies and resource partitioning among elasmobranchs and cephalopods in Mediterranean deep-sea ecosystems. Deep. Res.
 Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 128, 28–41.
- Van der Heide, T., Tielens, E., van der Zee, E.M., Weerman, E.J., Holthuijsen, S., Eriksson,
 B.K., Piersma, T., van de Koppel, J., Olff, H., 2014. Predation and habitat modification synergistically interact to control bivalve recruitment on intertidal mudflats. Biol.
 Conserv. 172, 163–169.
- Van Son, T.C., Thiel, M., 2006. Multiple predator effects in an intertidal food web. J. Anim. Ecol. 75, 25–32.
- van Veen, F.J.F., van Holland, P.D., Godfray, H.C.J., 2005. Stable coexistence in insect communities due to density- and trait-mediated indirect effects. Ecology 86, 3182– 3189.
- Varghese, S.P., Somvanshi, V.S., Dalvi, R.S., 2014. Diet composition, feeding niche partitioning and trophic organisation of large pelagic predatory fishes in the eastern Arabian Sea. Hydrobiologia 736, 99–114.

- Vaudo, J.J., Heithaus, M.R., 2011. Dietary niche overlap in a nearshore elasmobranch mesopredator community. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 425, 247–260.
- Voellmy, I.K., Purser, J., Simpson, S.D., Radford, A.N., 2014. Increased noise levels have different impacts on the anti-predator behaviour of two sympatric fish species. PLoS One 9, 1–8.
- von Borell, E., Langbein, J., Després, G., Hansen, S., Leterrier, C., Marchant-Forde, J., Marchant-Forde, R., Minero, M., Mohr, E., Prunier, A., Valance, D., Veissier, I., 2007. Heart rate variability as a measure of autonomic regulation of cardiac activity for assessing stress and welfare in farm animals - a review. Physiol. Behav. 92, 293–316.
- Wallach, A.D., Johnson, C.N., Ritchie, E.G., O'Neill, A.J., 2010. Predator control promotes invasive dominated ecological states. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1008–1018.
- Waller, D.M., Alverson, W.S., Waller, D.M., Alverson, W.S., 1997. The white-tailed deer: a keystone herbivore. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 25, 217–226.
- Warman, C.G., Naylor, E., 1995. Evidence for multiple, cue-specific circatidal clocks in the shore crab *Carcinus maenas*. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 189, 93–101.
- Wasserman, R.J., Alexander, M.E., Dalu, T., Ellender, B.R., Kaiser, H., Weyl, O.L.F., 2016. Using functional responses to quantify interaction effects among predators. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1988–1998.
- Welti, E.A.R., Prather, R.M., Sanders, N.J., de Beurs, K.M., Kaspari, M., 2020. Bottom-up when it is not top-down: predators and plants control biomass of grassland arthropods. J. Anim. Ecol. 89, 1286–1294.

Williams, J.J., Papastamatiou, Y.P., Caselle, J.E., Bradley, D., Jacoby, D.M.P., 2018. Mobile

marine predators: an understudied source of nutrients to coral reefs in an unfished atoll. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 285.

- Wilson, E., 2008. Velvet swimming crab (*Necora puber*), Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews, [online]. Plymouth.
- Wilson, J.H., Seed, R., 1974. Reproduction in *Mytilus edulis* L. (Mollusca: Bivalvia) in Carlingford Lough, Northern Ireland. Irish Fish. Investig. 15, 31.
- Wilson, N.M., Wall, J., Naganathar, V., Brohi, K., De'Ath, H.D., 2017. Mechanisms Involved in Secondary Cardiac Dysfunction in Animal Models of Trauma and Hemorrhagic Shock. Shock 48, 401–410.
- Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., Brown, J.S., Kotler, B.P., Schmitz, O.J., 2021. The context dependence of non-consumptive predator effects. Ecol. Lett. 24, 113–129.
- Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Dill, L.M., 2008. Seascapes of fear: Evaluating sublethal predator effects experienced and generated by marine mammals. Mar. Mammal Sci. 24, 1–15.
- Wisenden, B.D., 2015. Chemical cues that indicate risk of predation. Fish Pheromones Relat. Cues 131–148.
- Wong, M.C., Barbeau, M.A., 2006. Rock crab predation of juvenile sea scallops: the functional response and its implications for bottom culture. Aquac. Int. 14, 355–376.
- Worm, B., Davis, B., Kettemer, L., Ward-Paige, C.A., Chapman, D., Heithaus, M.R., Kessel, S.T., Gruber, S.H., 2013. Global catches, exploitation rates, and rebuilding options for sharks. Mar. Policy 40, 194–204.

Worm, B., Lotze, H.K., Myers, R.A., 2003. Predator diversity hotspots in the blue ocean. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 9884–9888.

Yalden, D., 1999. The History of British Mammals. T & A D Poyser LTD, London.

- Yick, J.L., Tracey, S.R., White, R.W.G., 2011. Niche overlap and trophic resource partitioning of two sympatric batoids co-inhabiting an estuarine system in southeast Australia. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 27, 1272–1277.
- Young, A.M., Elliott, J.A., 2020. Life history and population dynamics of green crabs (*Carcinus maenas*). Fishes 5, 1–44.
- Young, H.S., McCauley, D.J., Galetti, M., Dirzo, R., 2016. Patterns, causes, and consequences of Anthropocene defaunation. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 47, 333–358.
- Zanette, L.Y., Clinchy, M., 2017. Predator–prey interactions: Integrating fear effects. APA Handb. Comp. Psychol. Basic concepts, methods, neural substrate, Behav. 1, 815–831.
- Zimmer-Faust, R.K., Finelli, C.M., Pentcheff, N.D., Wethey, D.S., 1995. Odor plumes and animal navigation in turbulent water flow: A field study. Biol. Bull. 188, 111–116.
- Zimmermann, B., Sand, H., Wabakken, P., Liberg, O., Andreassen, H.P., 2015. Predatordependent functional response in wolves: from food limitation to surplus killing. J. Anim. Ecol. 84, 102–112.
- Zogaris, S., De Maddalena, A., 2014. Sharks, blast fishing and shifting baselines: insights from Hass's 1942 Aegean expedition. Cah. Biol. Mar. 55, 305–313.
- zu Ermgassen, P.S.E., Thurstan, R.H., Corrales, J., Alleway, H., Carranza, A., Dankers, N., DeAngelis, B., Hancock, B., Kent, F., McLeod, I., Pogoda, B., Liu, Q., Sanderson, W.G.,

2020. The benefits of bivalve reef restoration: a global synthesis of underrepresented species. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 30, 2050–2065.